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THE HIGH COURT

Record No. 2015 No. ﬂ,@os

iN THE MATTER OF OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

AND

il

S

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2014

PETITION

Pl

— BEGISTRIR

ANDCTHEREGY Gy R BUE NOLICE

o:  The High Court

The Humble Petition of OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED having its registered office at
6" Floor, 2 Grand Canal Square, Dublin 2, shows as follows:

1. OCS Operations Limited (the Company) was on 16 August 2012
incorporated in the State under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 as a
private company limited by shares.

2, The registered office of the Company is situated at at 25 -~ 28 North Wall
Quay, Dublin 1.

o

3. The authorised share capital of the Company is €1,000,000 comprEh
1,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €1.00 each. The issued share capital isg-’ézm
comprising 100 Ordinary Shares of €1 .00 each. -

H
4, The Company's entire issued share capital is held by Jim Brydi&
Kingsmere Road, London SW19 6PX. :

&,
’.‘..

5. The directors of the Company are Brendan Cooney of 25 Weirview Drive, ! ';-. 4
Stilorgan, County Dublin and Jim Brydie of 10 Kingsmere Road, Landon™

SW19 6PX (together the Directors).

6. The Company is Your Petitioner.

7. The objects for which the Company was establishe
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THE HIGH COURT

Record No. 2015 No. cos

IN THE MATTER OF QCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
AND

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2014
PETITION

To:  The High Court

The Humble Petition of OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED having its registered office at
6! Floor, 2 Grand Canal Square, Dublin 2, shows as follows: '

1. OCS Operations Limited (the Company) was on 16 August 2012
incorporated in the State under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 as a
private company limited by shares.

2. The registered office of the Company is situated at at 25 ~ 28 North Wall
Quay, Dublin 1.

3. The authorised share capital of the Company is €1,000,000 com
1,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €1.00 each. The issued share capital i
comprising 100 Ordinary Shares of €1.00 each.

4, The Company's entire issued share capital is held by Jim Bry
Kingsmere Road, London SW19 6PX.

b. The directors of the Company are Brendan Cooney of 25 Weirview Drive, e
Stillorgan, County Dublin and Jim Brydie of 10 Kingsmere Road, London

SW19 6PX (together the Directors). b

6. The Company is Your Petitioner. ‘ R

7. The objects for which the Company was established are:

M-25745480-2 1




(1) To carry on the business of an investment company, and for that
purpose to acquire and hold either in the name of the company or in
that of any nominee shares, stocks, debentures, debenture stock,
bonds, notes, obligations, warrants, options and securities issued or
guaranteed by any company wherever incorporated, or issued or
guaranteed by any government, public body or authority in any part of
the world;

(2) To acquire any such shares, stock, debentures, debenture stock,
bonds, notes, obligations or securities by original subscription,
contract, tender, purchase, exchange, underwriting, participation in
syndicates or otherwise and whether or not fully paid up and fo
subscribe for the same subject to such terms and conditions (if any)
as may be thought fit;

(3) To exercise and enforce ali rights and powers conferred by or incident
fo the ownership of any such shares, stock obligations or other
securities including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing
all such powers of veto or control as may be conferred by virtue of the
holding by the company of such special proportion of the issued or
nominal amount thereof and to provide managerial and other
executive, supervisory and consultant services for or in relation to any
company in which the company is interested upon such terms as may
be thought fit;

and to carry out the other objects more particularly set out in the
Memorandum of Association of the Company.

Background

8. The Company formerly formed part of a group of companies, the OCS Group.
OCS Investment Holdings Limited (OIHL) was the sole shareholder of the
Company and OCS Properties Limited (OPL). OCS Investment Holdings
Limited was in turn wholly owned by Gordon Brothers International LLC, a UK
incorporated entity. The ultimate parent company of the OCS Group was
Gordon Brothers Group LLC, a limited Kability company incorporated under
the laws of the State of Delaware whose registered office is at Prudential
Tower, 800 Boylston Street, 27" Floor, Boston, MA 02199 USA.




10.

11.

12.

13.

In and around August 2012 the OCS Group was incorporated which a view to
acquiring the business, assets, property and undertaking known as Clery's
Department Store and Warehouse (the Clery's Business).

The Clery's Business was acquired by the OCS Group pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement dated 17 September 2012 from the Receivers
appointed to the companies which owned the Clery's Business at that time.

At that time, the property known as Clery's Department Store and Warehouse
located at O'Connell Street, Dublin 1 (the Department Store) was acquired
by OPL. The Company acquired the business and assets of the Clery's
Business which included, inter alia, its employees, IP, goodwill but excluded
the title to the Department Store.

The Company entered into a Short Term Letting Agreement with OPL dated 3
October 2012 which demised the Department Store to the Company for a
period of two years from 17 September 2012 (the Lease). The term of the
Lease was extended by Deed of Variation dated 29 January 2013 but the
term of the Lease expired on 16 March 2015,

The Company currently operates its trading business from the Department
Store. The Company's income is generated from sales of the Company's own
stock and from income received from concessionary agreements. The
Company has approximately fifty (50) concession holders who pay a
percentage of their turnover to the Company. The Company employs
approximately one hundred and thirty (130) staff and it is understood that
approximately three hundred and thirty (330) staff are employed direcily by
the concession holders,

Sale of the OCS Group

14.

In and around January 2015, Gordon Brothers Group LLC (Gordon
Brothers), the uitimate parent of the OCS Group made a decision to sell the
OCS Group and retained the services of |Bl Corporate Finance to go out into
the market to approach various parties which may be interested in acquiring
the OCS Group andlor its assets. Whilst a number of parties were
approached and certain interested parties carried out some initial due

diligence the winning bid was received from Natrium Limited (Natrium).




15. Natrium acquired the shares in OIHL on 12 June 2015. The shares in the
Company were shortly after Natrium's acquisition of OIHL transferred to Jim
Brydie, a director of the Company.

16. The current directors of the Company, Brendan Cooney and Jim Brydie were
appointed on 12 June 2015 on the sale of the OCS Group to Natrium.

17. Both Brendan Cooney and Jim Brydie are experienced in the area of
insolvency matters and as a result of that experience they were approached
by Natrium and asked to accept an appointment as directors to the board of
the Company. Whilst neither Mr Brydie nor Mr Cooney had any involvement
with regard fo the sale of the OCS Group and were not part of any of those
negotiations they were aware that Natrium intended to acquire the OCS
Group and to shortly thereafter sell on the shares in the Company to Jim
Brydie.

18. In order to remove the Company from the OCS Group, Natrium wished to
ensure that the shares in the Company were transferred to an entirely distinct
and separate entity and it was on this basis that Mr Brydie was asked to
accept the transfer of the shares in the Company for the sum of €1.

19. The previous directors of the Company, Rafael Klotz énd Malcolm
Mact.ennan Macaulay voluntarily resigned as directors and secretary of the
Company and as noted above, Brendan Cooney and Jim Brydie were
appointed directors to the Company on 12 June 2015 at 1.15 am.

Directors Investigations into the solvency of the Company

20. The Directors carried out certain due diligence on the Company and sought
information on Natrium's proposed acquisition of OIHL prior to their
appoiniment. As part of this due diligence exercise they examined the
Company's financial position based on its accounts and the Company's

entitlement under the Lease.

21. Upon appointment, the Directors met with the Company's existing
management to discuss the Company's financial situation, its employees and
its prospects of survival. The Directors also reviewed the following
documents: '




22,

23.

24.

25.

21.1. Company's Financial Statements filed with the Companies
Registration Office for the period ending 1 February 2014;

21.2. Company's Financial Statements for the period ending 31 January
2015;

21.3. Pro forma management accounts for the period ending 2 May 2015;

and

21.4, Management's future projections
(together the Company's Accounts)

It was clear from the Company's Accounts that the Company was balance
sheet insolvent. it was also clear based on the financial projections provided
and from the Directors' discussions with the Company's management team
that the Company would have a cash-flow deficiency in August of this year
and would require further additional funding in order to continue to trade.
Moreover, the Company's management team also raised an issue regarding
the upcoming payment to concession holders which is due to be made on
Monday, 15 June 2015. The Management Team confirmed that there are
unlikely to be sufficient monies in the Company to enable the Company to
effect these payments and that in the past such shorifalls would usually have
been covered by the Company's then parent, OCS Invesiment Holdings
Limited.

OIHL in a letter dated 12 June 2015 has confirmed unequivocally that if is no
longer in a position to provide any further financial support to the Company.

The Company had continued to occupy and trade from the Department Store
notwithstanding the fact that the lLease had been expired since 16 March
2015. No request had been made by OPL to the Company requesting that it

vacate the Depariment Store prior o my appointment as director.

However, the Directors upon their appointment wrote to OPL by letter dated
12 June 2015 seeking confirmation as to whether OPL would be willing to
grant a new lease of the Department Store. However, by letter dated 12 June
2015 OPL, confirmed that it was not willing fo grant a new lease of the
Department Store to the Company and said that if necessary it would serve a
Notice to Quit on the Company.




26.

27.

28.

The Company has no entittement to remain on in occupation of the
Department Store and is over-holding. In the event that a Notice to Quit is
validly served the Company will be obliged to vacate the Department Store
upon the expiry of the Notice to Quit.

The Company does not have any entittement to seek the renewal of the
Lease and it is only occupying the Department Store pursuant to a periodic
tenancy which may be terminated by the said Notice to Quit which must
provide three months' notice. In the circumstances, the Company does not
have an interest in the Department Store which is capable of transfer or
assignment to a third party and accordingly, there is no value in the
Company's continued occupation of the Department Store particularly in

circumstances where it is trading at a loss.

Whilst the current debt due by the Company to OIHL is not repayable until
September 2016, the Company is trading at a loss and is reliant upon
financial support from OIHL to enable it to continue to trade. The loan facilities
from OIHL may be demanded if there is a change in the shareholder, as has
occurred and should such a demand be made the Company would not be in a
position to discharge the amount demanded. In circumstances where the
Company is incurring ongoing, continuing losses it cannot continue to frade
without financial support. No such support is available. As a result of OIHL's
refusal to extend further funds to the Company, the Company has no
alternative in the circumstances but to seek the appointment of a liquidator.

Circumstances leading fo the Insolvency of the Company

29.

Since the Company's incorporation it has been loss making and has relied
upon support from OIHL. The Company remains heavily loss making and its
financial position continues fo worsen. A summary of the losses incurred by

the Company since its incorporation are set out in the table below:

Period Profit/(Loss) incurred
16 August 2012 — 1 February 2014 (€3,147,357)
2 February 2014 — 31 January 2015 (€1,158,530)
Total Loss (€4,305,887)




30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

As the Company is only incorporated since August 2012 the financial
information is limited to the two year and nine period of its existence.

The Company is likely to have insufficient cash to enable it to make the
payments due to concession holders on Monday, 15 June 2015 and has no
source of funding and is unable to pay its debts. The Company has since
incorporation been balance sheet insolvent. However, the Company
continued to trade in the knowledge that it had the support of its then
shareholder and in circumstances where the debt due to OIHL was not
payable until September 20186.

The Company's only assets are its stock, fixtures and fittings, |T equipment
and intellectual property. The value of these items is not significant
particularly where the Company has no assignable or transferable interest in
the Depariment Store. The Company does not have sufficient cash to
continue to trade and it has no entitlement to remain on in occupation of the
Department Store.

The Company's employees have been paid for all periods with the exception
of the current payment period and that returns and payments to the Revenue
Commissioners.

The Company is insolvent and will shortly be unable to pay its debts as they
fall due.

The Board of Directors of the Company have resolved that the Company
should be wound up and that a petition should be presented to this
Honourable Court seeking, inter alia, the appointment of an Official Liquidator
and pending the hearing of that application, the appointment of Joint
Provisional Liquidators to the Company.

It is in the best interests of the creditors of the Company and it is just and
equitable that the Company be wound up.

The petition herein

37.

The Company does not have sufficient cash to continue to trade and it has no

entittement to remain on in occupation of Clery's Department Store at

T




38.

39.

40,

41,

42,

43.

O'Connell Street, Dublin 1 and further, it is just and equitable that it be wound
up by this Honourable Court.

The Company is not an insurance undertaking, a credit institution; an
investment undertaking providing services involving the holding of funds or
securities for third parties; or a collective investment undertaking as referred
to in Article 1.2 of the Council Regufation (EC) No. 1346/2000 of 29 May 2000
(as amended} (the EC Regulation).

The EC Regulation applies to the proceedings. The Centre of Main Interests
of the Company, for the purposes of Article 3 of the EC Regulation of 29 May
2000, is situate in the State as the registered office of the Company is located
in the State and it is administered in the State and carries on its business
within the State. These proceedings will be main proceedings as defined in
Article 3 of the EC Reguiation.

To the Directors' knowledge, no insolvency proceedings have been opened in
respect of the Company in a Member State of the European Union to which
the EC Reguiation apples.

All necessary inquiries having been made by your Petitioner, the Company
has no obligations in refation to a bank asset that has been transferred to the
National Asset Management Agency (NAMA) or a NAMA group entity (each
within the meaning of the National Asset Management Agency Act, 2009).

In the circumstances, the Board of Directors of the Company have resolved
that the Company should be wound up and that a petition should be
presented to this Honourable Court seeking, inter alia, the appointment of
Joint Official Liquidators and pending the hearing of that application, the
appointment of Joint Provisional Liquidators to the Company.

For these reasons, the Directors prays this Honourable Court for the following

reliefs:

(a) That upon the presentation of this Petition, Joint Provisional
Liquidators be appointed to the Company under Section 573 of the
Companies Act 2014 to preserve the business of the Company.




(b)

That the said Provisional Liquidators be granted the following

powers:

(i) Power to take possession of the assets of the Company,;

(ii) Power to take possession of the books and records of the
Company;

(i) Power to trade and carry on the business of the Company

pending the hearing of the Petition;

(iv) Power to insure the assets of the Company and to take out
all insurances necessary in connection with the business
of the Company;

{v) Power to operate the Company's existing bank accounts
and if necessary, to open a bank account in the

Company's name;

(vi) Power to retain and pay, and / or dismiss, employees to
the extent necessary to carry on the business of the
Company and / or to ensure the orderly winding up of the
Company;

(vii) Power to retain the services of solicitors, counsel and

other professional advisors where necessary;

{viii} Power to make any payments to creditors which are
necessary in order to facilitate trade during the Provisional

Liquidation period;

(ix) Power to sell all, or part, of the business and assets of the
Company, subject of the approval of this Honourable
Court;

(x) Power to adjudicate on retention of title claims and if
appropriate, to facilitate the return of stock to retention of

fitle creditors:




(xi) Power to carry on the business of the Company in

whatever premises he deems necessary;

(xii) Power to retain a valuer, including a corporate financial

adviser, on behalf of the Company;,

(xiit) Power to retain and pay security staff as required;

(xiv) Power to surrender the Company's leasehold interests,

where necessary;

(xv) Power to investigate the affairs of the Company; and
(xvi) Power to borrow money on the security of the assets of the
Company.
(¢) That the Company be wound up by this Honourable Court under the

provisions of the Companies Act, 2014.

(d) That upon the hearing of this Petition, Official Liquidators be
appointed to the Company under Section 575 of the Companies Act
2014.

(e) That such other order may be made on this petition as shall be just

and equitable.

Dated this ]QT“ day of June 2015

Signed: A &(Z GU C*o%oo%l

A&L Goodbody

Solicitors for the Petitioner
International Financial Services Centre
North Walt Quay

Dublin 1

This Petition is duly presented in the Central Office on behalf of the Petitioner by A&L
Goodbody, Solicitors, International Financial Services Centre, North Wall Quay,
Dublin 1 this day of June 2015.
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THE HIGH COURT
Record No. 2015 No@k%@os

AND

AFFIDAVIT OF JIM BRYDIE

l, JIM BRYDIE, company director, of 10 Kingsmere Road, London SW19 6PX, aged
eighteen years and upwards, MAKE OATH AND SAY as follows:

1. I am a director and the sole member of OCS Operations Limited (the Company or
the Petitioner, as appropriate), the Petitioner herein and | maks this affidavit with
the authority of my co-director, Brendan Cooney on behalf of the Petitioner.

2. I'make this Affidavit for the purposes of verifying the petition and for the purposes
of seeking the appointment of joint official liquidators and do so from facts within
my own knowledge save whereso otherwise appears and whereso otherwise
appears, | believe same to be true.

3. | beg to refer to a copy of the Petition isstied herein, upon which marked "JB1" I
have signed my name prior to the swearing hereof.

4, Such of the statements in the said Petition as relate to the acts and deeds of the

Petitioner or of any other person or persons, | believs to be true.

Centre of Main Interasts

5. The Company is not an insurance undertaking, a credit institution; an investment
undertaking providing services involving the holding of funds or securities for third
parties; or a coflective investment undertaking as referred to in Article 1.2 of the
Council Regufation (EC) No. 1346/2000 of 29 May 2000 (as amended).

FLIRTRERTES 6 1




Council Regulation (EC) No 1346/2000 applies to the proceedings. The Centre of
Main Interesis of the Company, for the purposes of Article 3 of the Counci
Reguiation (EC) No. 1346/2000 of 29 May 2000 (as amended), is situate in the
State as the registered office of the Company is located in the State and it is
administered in the State and carries on its business within the State. These

proceedings will be main proceedings as defined in Article 3 of the Council
Regulation (EC) No. 1346/2000.

To your petitioner's knowledge, no insolvency proceedings have been opened in
respect of the Company in a Member State of the European Union to which
Council Regulation (EC) No. 1346/2000 applies.

MNational Asset Management Agency

All necessary inquiries having been made by your Petitioner, the Company has no
obligations in relation to a bank asset that has been transferred to the National
Asset Management Agency (NAMA) or a NAMA group entity {each within the
meaning of the National Asset Management Agency Act, 2009),

Background

10.

11.

12.

OCS Operations Limited (the Company) was incorporated in the State on 16
August 2012 under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 as a private company
limited by shares. | beg to refer to a printout from the Companies Registration
Office undertaken in respect of the Company dated 12 June 2015 upon which
marked with the letters and number "JB2", | have signed my name prior to the
swearing hereof.

The registered office of the Company is situated at 25 — 28 North Wall Quay,
Dublin 1.

The authorised share capital of the Company is €1,000,000 comprising 1,000,000
Ordinary Shares of €1.00 each. The issued share capital is €100 comprising 100
Ordinary Shares of €1.00 each.

| am the sole member of the Company and my address is 10 Kingsmere Road,
London SW19 6PX.
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13.  The obiects for which the Company was established are:

(1)

(3)

To carry on the business of an investment company, and for that purpose
to acquire and hold either in the name of the company or in that of any
nominee shares, stocks, debentures, debenture stock, bonds, notes,
obligations, warrants, options and securities issued or guaranteed by any
company wherever incorporated, or issued or guaranteed by any
government, public body or authority in any part of the world;

To acquire any such shares, stock, debentures, debenture stock, bonds,
notes, obligations or securities by original subscription, contract, tender,
purchase, exchange, underwriting, participation in syndicates or otherwise
and whether or not fully paid up and to subscribe for the same subject to

such terms and conditions (if any) as may be thought fit;

To exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incident to
the ownership of any such shares, stock obligations or other securities

including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing all such

. powers of veto or contro! as may be conferred by virtue of the holding by

the company of such special proportion of the issued or nominal amount
thereof and to provide managerial and other executive, supervisory and
consultant services for or in relation to any company in which the company
is interested upon such terms as may be thought fit;

and to carry out the other objects more particularly set out in the Memorandum of

Association of the Company. | beg to refer to a true copy of the Company's

Memorandum and Articles of Association, upon which, marked with "JB3" | have

signed my name prior to the swearing hereof.

The business of the Company

14, The Company formerly formed part of a group of companies, the OCS Group.
OCS Investment Holdings Limited (OIHL) was the sole shareholder of the
Company and OCS Properties Limited (OPL). OCS Investment Holdings Limited

was in turn wholly owned by Gordon Brothers International LLC, a UK

incorporated entity. The ultimate parent company of the OCS Group was Gordon
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15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Brothers Group LLC, a limited fiability company incorporated under the laws of the
State of Delaware whose registered office is at Prudential Tower, 800 Boylston
Strest, 27" Floor, Boston, MA 02199 USA.

In and around August 2012 the OCS Group was incorporated which a view to

acquiring the business, assets, property and undertaking known as Clery's
Department Store and Warehouse (the Clery’s Business).

The Clery's Business was acquired by the OCS Group pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement dated 17 September 2012 from the Receivers appointed 1o

the companies which owned the Clery's Business at that time.

At that time, the property known as Clery's Department Store and Warehouse
located at O'Connell Street, Dublin 1 (the Department Store) was acquired by
OPL. The Company acquired the business and assets of the Clery's Business
which included, inter alia, its employees, IP, goodwiil but excluded the title to the
Department Store.

The Company entered into a Short Term Letting Agreement with OPL dated 3
October 2012 which demised the Department Store to the Company for a period
of two years from 17 September 2012 (the Lease). The term of the Lease was
extended by Deed of Variation dated 29 January 2013 but the term of the Lease
expired on 16 March 2015. | beg to refer to a copy of the said Lease and Deed of
Variation which pinned together and marked with the letters "JB4" | have signed

my name prior to the swearing hereof.

The Company currenily operates its trading business from the Department Store.
The Company's income is generated from sales of the Company's own stock and
from income received from concessionary agreements. The Company has
approximately fifty (50) concession holders who pay a percentage of their turmover
to the Company. The Company employs approximately one hundred and thirty
(130) staff and it is understood that approximately three hundred and thirty (330)
staff are employed directly by the concession holders.

Sale of the OCS Group

MR TRATHA-6 4




20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

In and around January 2015, Gordon Brothers Group LLC (Gordon Brothers),
the ultimate parent of the OCS Group made a decision to sell the OCS Group and
retained the services of IB! Corporate Finance to go out into the market to
approach various parties which may be interested in acquiring the OCS Group
and/or its assets. Whilst we believe that a number of parties were approached and
certain interested parties carried out some initial due diligence the winning bid was
received from Natrium Limited (Natrium).

| say and believe that Natrium acquired the shares in OIHL on 12 June 2015. The
shares in the Company were shortly after Natrium's acquisition of OIHL transferred
to me, Jim Brydie, a director of the Company. | beg to refer to a copy of the
relevant stock transfer form upon which pinned togsther and marked with the

letters "JB5" | have signed my name prior to the swearing hereof.

| say that myself and Brendan Cooney the current directors of the Company were
appointed to same on 12 June 2015 on the sale of the OCS Group o Natrium.

~ Both Brendan Cooney and | are experienced in the area of insolvency matters and

| say and believe that it was as a result of that experience that we were
approached by Natrium and asked to accept an appointment as directors to the
board of the Company. Whilst neither | nor Mr Cooney had any involvement with
regard to the sale of the OCS Group and were not part of any of those
negotiations we were aware that Natrium intended to acquire the OCS Group and

to shortly thereafter sell on the shares in the Company to me.

| say and believe that in order to remove the Company from the OCS Group,
Natrium wished to ensure that the shares in the Company were transferred to an
entirely distinct and separate entity and it was on this basis that | was asked to
accept the transfer of the shares in the Company for the sum of €1.

The previous directors of the Company, Rafael Klotz and Malcolm MacLennan
Macaulay voluntarily resigned as directors and secretary of the Company and as
noted above, Brendan Cooney and | were appointed directors to the Company on
12 June 2015 at 1.15 am. | beg to refer to a copy of the relevant board minutes
regarding the resignation and appointment of directors upon which marked with

the letters "JB6" | have signed my name prior to the swearing hereof.
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Directors Investigations into the solvency of the Company

26.

27.

28.

29,

Once Brendan Cooney and | were approached by Natrium and asked to accept an
appointment as a director to the Company we carried out certain due diligence on
the Company and sought information on Natrium's proposed acquisition of OIHL
prior to our appointment. As part of this due diligence exercise we examined the
Company's financial position based on its accounts and the Company's
entitlement under the Lease.

Immediately upon my appointment, |, together with Brendan Cooney, met with the
Company's existing management to discuss the Company's financial situation, its
employees and its prospects of survival. Mr Cooney and | also reviewed the
following documents:

27.1. Company's Financial Statements filed with the Companies Registration
Office for the period ending 1 February 2014;

27.2. Company's Financial Statements for the period ending 31 January 2015;
27.3. Pro forma management accounts for the period ending 2 May 2015; and

27.4, Management's future projections

(together the Company's Accounts)

| beg to refer to copies of the Company's Accounts upon which marked with the
letters "JB7" [ have signed my name prior to the swearing hereof. -

It was clear from our review of the Company's Accounts that the Company was
balance sheet insolvent. 1t was also clear based on the financial projections
provided to me and from our discussions with the Company's management team
that the Company would have a cash-flow deficiency in August of this year and
would require further additional funding in order to continue to trade. Moreover, the
Company's management team in our meeting earlier today raised the issue
regarding the upcoming payment to concession holders which was due to be
made on Monday, 15 June 2015. The Management Team confirmed that there are
unlikely to be sufficient manies in the Company to enable the Company to effect
these payments and that in the past such shortfalls would usually have been

covered by the Company's parent, OCS Investment Holdings Limited.
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30.

31.

32,

33.

34.

Brendan Cooney and | discussed the Company's need for additional funding and
considered whether OIHL may be willing to advance further monies
notwithstanding the change in its ownership. However, OIHL in a letter also dated
12 June 2015 confirmed unequivocally that it was no longer in a position to
provide any further financial support to the Company. | beg to refer to a copy of
the said letter received from OIHL dated 12 June 2015 upon which marked with
the letters "JBAS" | have signed my name prior to the swearing hereof.

| together with Mr Cocney also considered the Company's entitlement fo occupy
the Department Store. The Company had continued to occupy and trade from the
Department Store notwithstanding the fact that the Lease had been expired since
16 March 2015. { say and am advised that no request had been made by OPL to

the Company requesting that it vacate the Department Store prior to my
appointment as director.

Upon our appoihtment as directors, Brendan Cooney and | wrote to OPL by letter
dated 12 June 2015 seeking confirmation as to whether OPL would be willing to
grant a new lease of the Department Store. However, by letter dated 12 June
2015 OPL, confirmed that it was not willing to grant a new Iease of the Department
Store to the Company and said that if necessary it would serve a Notice to Quit on
the Company. | beg to refer to a copy of the said letiers which pinned together and

marked with the letters "JB9" | have signed my name prior to the swearing hereof.

| am advised that the Company has no entitlement to remain on in occupation of
the Department Store and is over-holding. | am advised that in the event that a
Notice to Quit is validly served the Company will be obliged to vacate the
Department Store upon the expiry of the Notice to Quit.

| am further advised that the Company does not have any entittement to seek the
renewal of the Lease and it is only occupying the Department Store pursuant to a
periodic tenancy which may be terminated by the said Notice to Quit which must
provide three months' notice. In the circumstances, the Company does not have
an interest in the Depatiment Store which is capable of transfer or assignment to a
third party and accordingly, there is no value in the Company's continued
occupation of the Department Store particularly in circumstances where it is
frading at a loss.

BT TR5-H 7




35.

Whilst the current debt due hy the Company to OIHL is not repayable until
September 2016, the Company is trading at a loss and is reliant upon financial
support from OIHL to enable it to continue to trade. In addition | am advised that
the loan from OIHL may be demanded if there is a change in the shareholder, as
has occurred and should such a demand be made the Company would not be in a
position to discharge the amount demanded. In circumstances where the
Company is incurring ongoing, continuing losses it cannot continue to trade
without financial support. No such support is available. As a result of OlHL's
refusal to extend further funds to the Company, the Company has no alternative in

the circumstances but to seek the appointment of a liquidator.

Circumstances leading to the Insolvency of the Company

36.

37.

38.

38.

Since the Company's incorporation it has been loss making and has relied upon
support from OIHL. The Company remains heavily loss making and its financial
position continues to worsen. A summary of the losses incurred by the Company
since its incorporation are set out in the table below:

Period Profit/{Loss) incurred
16 August 2012 — 1 February 2014 (€3,147,357)}
2 February 2014 - 31 January 2015 (€1,158,530)
Total Loss {€4,305,887)

As the Company is only incorporated since August 2012 the financial information
is limited to the two year and nine period of its existence.

The Company is likely to have insufficient cash to enable it to make the payments
due to concession holders on Monday, 15 June 2015 and has no source of
funding and is unable to pay its debts. The Company has since incorporation been
balance sheet insolvent. However, the Company received significant support from
its then shareholder to enable it to continue to {frade and this support s no longer
available.

The Company's only assets are its stock, fixtures and fittings, IT equipment and
intellectual property. The vaiue of these items are not significant particularly where

the Company has no assignable or transferable interest in the Department Store.
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The Company does not have sufficient cash to continue to trade and it has no

entitiement to remain on in occupation of the Department Store.

40. | understand from the Company's management that the Company's employees
have been paid for all periods with the exception of the current payment period

and that returns and payments to the Revenue Commissioners.

41.  The Company cannot continue to trade as it will be knowingly incurring debt that it
cannot discharge. In my view, as shared by Mr Cooney, it is in the best interests of
the Company and its creditors if the Company is placed into liquidation and for
provisional liquidators to be appointed.

42.  ltis important for a number of reasons that provisional liquidators are appointed o
the Company:

42.1. The Company must immediately cease trading and close down its
operations in the Department Store will prevent any further debts being
incurred that the Company is unable to repay;

42.2. The provisiona! liquidators are best placed to preserve the value of the

business of the Company.

42.3. The provisional liquidators are also best placed to deal with the

significant number of concession holders (approximately 50) and their
staff;

42.4. The provisional fiquidators are best placed to deal with any creditors

seeking to assert retention of title over any of the Company's stock;

425, The provisional liquidators can immediately begin the process of dealing

with the employees' claims as a result of the anticipated redundancies;

4286, The provisional liquidators can assess what is the best way to maximise

recovery for the Company's creditors;

42.7. The provisional liquidators will be in a position to liaise with the

concession holders.
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Appointment of a Liquidator

43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

in the circumstances, | say and believe that the Company will shortly be unable to
pay its debts as they fall due.

Further | say that it is just and equitable that the Company should be wound up by
this Honourable Court.

Upon the recommendation from the Board of Directors of the Company, |, as the
sole member have resolved that the Company should be wound up and that a
petition should be presented to this Honourable Court seeking, inter alia, the
appointment of Joint Official Liquidators and pending the hearing of that
application, the appointment of Provisional Liquidators to the Company. | beg to
refer to a copy written resolution of the sole member of the Company passed on
12 June 2015 by which it was resolved that the Company should be wound up by
the Honourable Court, upon which marked with the letters "JB10" | have signed

my name prior to the swearing hereof.

The Petitioner requests that the Court appoint Eamonn Richardson and Kieran
Wallace of KPMG, 1 Stokes Place, St Stephens Green, Dublin 2 as joint official
liquidators to the Company. | beg to refer to a copy of their Consents to Act, upon
which, marked with "JB11" | have signed my name prior to the swearing hereof. |
further beg to refer to an Affidavit of Fitness in relation {o Eamonn Richardson and
Kieran Wallace sworn by Will Greensmyth, upon which, marked with "JB12" | have

signed my name prior to the swearing hereof.

| beg to refer to a list of powers which | am advised and believe would facilitate
Provisional Liquidators of the Company to carry out their duties upon which
marked with the letters "JB13" 1 have signed my name prior to the swearing
hereof.

Accordingly, | therefore pray this Honourable Court for the reliefs sought in the
Petition herein including, in particular, an order appointing Mr Richardson and Mr

Wallace as Provisional Liquidators.
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SWOR by the said JIM BRYDIE

This \.»" day of June 2015

at {FSC, Ytk WM le—dfy ,@wélmfl—

in the City of Dubiin befors—me_a Commjssioner for
Gaths- / Practising Solicitor, and- - krow-the-Deponent
or the Deponent has been identified

to me by A,«J’Jm @f.ﬂmﬁ__ who is
personally known to me and who certifies that the
Deponent is personally known to him/ her.

| ﬁA‘erA,‘ay\ /'gv’ﬂd'vv“—-— hereby certlfy that
the Deponent is personally known to me.

; ( 1(Lv_ Al et

(er—-ﬁoreaﬂlw ractising Sclicitor

This Petition is duly presented in the Central Office on behalf of the Petitioner by A&L

Goodbody, Solicitors, International Financial Services Centre, North Wall Quay, Dublin 1

this day of June 2015.
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THE HIGH COURT

Record No. 2015 No. CcO0s

IN THE MATTER OF OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
AND

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2014
PETITION

To:  The High Court

The Humble Petition of OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED having its registered office at

6" Floor, 2 Grand Canal Square, Dublin 2, shows as follows:

1. OCS Operations Limited (the Company) was on 16 August 2012
incorporated in the State under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 as a
private company limited by shares.

2. The registered office of the Company is situated at at 25 -~ 28 North Wall
Quay, Dublin 1.

3. The authorised share capital of the Company is €1,000,000 comp‘sj
1,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €1.00 each. The issued share capital i
comprising 100 Ordinary Shares of €1.00 each.

4, The Company's entire issued share capital is held by Jim Brydi
Kingsmere Road, London SW19 6PX.

5. The directors of the Company are Brendan Cooney of 25 Weirview Drive, \ !

Stillorgan, County Dublin and Jim Brydie of 10 Kingsmere Road, London™ |

3 N e

SW19 6PX (together the Directors). L |-
6. The Company is Your Petitioner. u 1

7. The objects for which the Company was established are:

M-25745480-2 1




(1) To carry on the business of an investment company, and for that
purpose to acquire and hold either in the name of the company or in
that of any nominee shares, stocks, debentures, debenture stock,
bonds, notes, obligations, warrants, options and securities issued or
guaranteed by any company wherever incorporated, or issued or
guaranteed by any government, public body or authority in any part of
the world;

(2) To acquire any such shares, stock, debentures, debenture stock,
bonds, notes, obliigations or securities by original subscription,
contract, tender, purchase, exchange, underwriting, participation in
syndicates or otherwise and whether or not fully paid up and fo
subscribe for the same subject to such terms and conditions (if any)
as may be thought fit;

(3) To exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incident
to the ownership of any such shares, stock obligations or other
securities including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing
all such powers of veto or control as may be conferred by virtue of the
holding by the company of such special proportion of the issued or
nominal amount thereof and to provide managerial and other
executive, supervisory and consulitant services for or in relation to any
company in which the company is interested upon such terms as may
be thought fit;

and to carry out the other objects more particutarly set out in the
Memorandum of Association of the Company.

Background

8. The Company formerly formed part of a group of companies, the OCS Group.
OCS Investment Holdings Limited (OIHL) was the sole shareholder of the
Company and OCS Properties Limited (OPL). OCS Investment Holdings
Limited was in turn wholly owned by Gordon Brothers International LLC, a UK
incorporated entity. The ultimate parent company of the OCS Group was
Gordon Brothers Group LLC, a limited liability company incorporated under
the laws of the State of Delaware whose registered office is at Prudential
Tower, 800 Boylston Street, 27" Floor, Boston, MA 02199 USA.




10.

11.

12,

13.

In and around August 2012 the OCS Group was incorporated which a view to
acquiring the business, assets, property and undertaking known as Clery's
Department Store and Warehouse (the Clery's Business).

The Clery's Business was acquired by the OCS Group pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement dated 17 September 2012 from the Receivers
appointed to the companies which owned the Clery's Business at that time.

At that time, the property known as Clery's Department Store and Warehouse
located at O'Connell Street, Dublin 1 ({the Department Store) was acquired
by OPL. The Company acquired the business and assets of the Clery's
Business which included, inter alia, its employees, IP, goodwill but excluded
the title to the Department Store.

The Company entered into a Short Term Letting Agreement with OPL dated 3
October 2012 which demised the Department Store to the Company for a
period of two years from 17 September 2012 (the Lease). The term of the
Lease was extended by Deed of Variation dated 29 January 2013 but the
term of the Lease expired on 16 March 2015.

The Company currently operates its trading business from the Department
Store. The Company's income is generated from sales of the Company's own
stock and from income received from concessionary agreements. The
Company has approximately fifty (50) concession holders who pay a
percentage of their turnover to the Company. The Company employs
approximately one hundred and thirty (130) staff and it is understood that
approximately three hundred and thirty (330) staff are employed directly by

the concession holders,

Sale of the OCS Group

14,

In and around January 2015, Gordon Brothers Group LLC (Gordon
Brothers), the ultimate parent of the OCS Group made a decision to self the
OCS Group and retained the services of IBI Corporate Finance to go out into
the market to approach various parties which may be interested in acquiring
the OCS Group andfor its assets. Whilst a number of parties were
approached and certain interested parties carried out some initial due

diligence the winning bid was received from Natrium Limited (Natrium).




15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Natrium acquired the shares in OIHL on 12 June 2015. The shares in the
Company were shortly after Natrium's acquisition of OIHL transferred to Jim
Brydie, a director of the Company.

The current directors of the Company, Brendan Cooney and Jim Brydie were
appointed on 12 June 2015 on the sale of the OCS Group to Natrium.

Both Brendan Cooney and Jim Brydie are experienced in the area’ of
insolvency matters and as a result of that experience they were approached
by Natrium and asked to accept an appointment as directors to the board of
the Company. Whilst neither Mr Brydie nor Mr Cooney had any involvement
with regard to the sale of the OCS Group and were not part of any of those
negotiations they were aware that Natrium intended to acquire the OCS
Group and to shortly thereafter sell on the shares in the Company to Jim
Brydie.

In order to remove the Company from the OCS Group, Natrium wished to
ensure that the shares in the Company were transferred to an entirely distinct
and separate entity and it was on this basis that Mr Brydie was asked to
accept the transfer of the shares in the Company for the sum of €1.

The previous directors of the Company, Rafael Kiotz énd Malcolm
Maclennan Macaulay voluntarily resigned as directors and secretary of the
Company and as noted above, Brendan Cooney and Jim Brydie were
appointed directors to the Company on 12 June 2015 at 1.15 am.

Directors Investigations into the soivency of the Company

20.

21.

The Directors carried out certain due diligence on the Company and sought
information on Natrium's proposed acquisition of OIHL prior to their
appointment. As part of this due diligence exercise they examined the
Company's financial position based on its accounts and the Company's
entitlement under the Lease.

Upon appointment, the Directors met with the Company's existing
management to discuss the Company's financial situation, its employees and
its prospects of survival. The Directors also reviewed the following

documents:




22.

23.

24,

25.

21.1. Company's Financial Statements filed with the Companies

Registration Office for the pericd ending 1 February 2014,

21.2. Company's Financial Statementis for the period ending 31 January
2015;

21.3. Pro forma management accounts for the period ending 2 May 2015;
and

21.4. Management's future prejections
(together the Company's Accounts)

It was clear from the Company's Accounts that the Company was balance
sheet insolvent. It was also clear based on the financial projections provided
and from the Directors' discussions with the Company’'s management team
that the Company would have a cash-flow deficiency in August of this year
and would require further additional funding in order to continue to frade.
Moreover, the Company's management team also raised an issue regarding
the upcoming payment to concession holders which is due to be made on
Monday, 15 June 2015. The Management Team confirmed that there are
unlikely to be sufficient monies in the Company to enable the Company to
effect these payments and that in the past such shortfails would usually have
been covered by the Company's then parent, OCS Investment Holdings
Limited.

OIHL in a letter dated 12 June 2015 has confirmed unequivocally that it is no

longer in a position to provide any further financial support to the Company.

The Company had continued to occupy and trade from the Department Store
notwithstanding the fact that the Lease had been expired since 16 March
2015. No request had been made by OPL to the Company requesting that it
vacate the Department Store prior to my appointment as director. .

However, the Directors upon their appointment wrote to OPL by lefter dated
12 June 2015 seeking confirmation as to whether OPL would be willing to
grant a new lease of the Department Store. However, by letter dated 12 June
2015 OPL, confirmed that it was not willing to grant a new lease of the
Department Store to the Company and said that if necessary it would serve a

Notice to Quit on the Company.




26.

27.

28.

The Company has no entitlement to remain on in occupation of the
Department Store and is over-holding. In the event that a Notice to Quit is
validly served the Company will be cbliged to vacate the Depariment Store
upon the expiry of the Natice to Quit.

The Company does not have any entitiement to seek the renewal of the
Lease and it is only occupying the Department Store pursuant to a periodic
tenancy which may be terminated by the said Notice to Quit which must
provide three months' notice. In the circumstances, the Company does not
have an interest in the Department Store which is capable of transfer or
assignment to a third party and accordingly, there is no value in the
Company's continued occupation of the Department Store particularly in

circumstances whers it is trading at a loss.

Whilst the current debt due by the Company to OIHL is not repayable until
September 2016, the Company is trading at a loss and is reliant upon
financial support from OIHL to enabie it to continue to trade. The loan facilities
from OIHL may be demanded if there is a change in the shareholder, as has
occurred and should such a demand be made the Company would not be in a
position to discharge the amount demanded. In circumstances where the
Company is incurring ongoing, continuing losses it cannot continue to trade
without financial support. No such support is available. As a result of OIHL's
refusal to extend further funds to the Company, the Company has no
alternative in the circumstances but to seek the appointment of a liquidator.

Circumstances leading to the Insolvency of the Company

29.

Since the Company's incorporation it has been loss making and has relied
upon stupport from OIHL. The Company remains heavily loss making and its
financial position continues to worsen. A summary of the losses incurred by

the Company since its incorporation are set out in the table below:

Period Profit/{(Loss) incurred
16 August 2012 — 1 February 2014 (€3,147,357)
2 February 2014 - 31 January 2015 (€1,158,530)
Total Loss (€4,305,887)




30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

As the Company is only incorporated since August 2012 the financial

information is limited to the two year and nine period of its existence.

The Company is likely to have insufficient cash to enable it to make the
payments due to concession holders on Monday, 15 June 2015 and has no
source of funding and is unable to pay its debts. The Company has since
incorporation been balance sheet insolvent. However, the Company
continued to trade in the knowledge that it had the support of its then
shareholder and in circumstances where the debt due to OIHL was not

payable until September 2016.

The Company's only assets are its stock, fixtures and fittings, IT equipment
and inteflectual property. The value of these items is not significant
particularly where the Company has no assignable or transferable interest in
the Department Store. The Company does not have sufficient cash fo
continue fo trade and it has no entitiement to remain on in occupation of the
Department Store.

The Company's employees have been paid for all periods with the exception
of the current payment period and that returns and payments to the Revenue

Commissioners.

The Company is insolvent and will shorily be unable to pay its debts as they
fall due.

The Board of Directors of the Company have resolved that the Company
should be wound up and that a petition should be presented fo this
Honourable Court seeking, inter alia, the appointment of an Official Liquidator
and pending the heari'ng of that application, the appointment of Jaint
Provisional Liquidators to the Company.

It is in the best interests of the creditors of the Company and it is just and
equitable that the Company be wound up. ‘

The petifion herein

37.

The Company does not have sufficient cash to continue to trade and it has no

entittement to remain on in occupation of Clery's Department Store at




38.

39.

40.

41.

42,

43.

O'Connell Street, Dublin 1 and further, if is just and equitable that it be wound
up by this Honourable Court.

The Company is not an insurance undertaking, a credit institution; an
investment undertaking providing services involving the hoiding of funds or

securities for third parties; or a collective investment undertaking as referred

“to in Article 1.2 of the Council Regulation (EC) No. 1346/2000 of 28 May 2000

(as amended) (the EC Regulation).

The EC Regulation applies to the proceedings. The Centre of Main Interests
of the Company, for the purposes of Article 3 of the EC Regulation of 29 May
2000, is situate in the State as the registered office of the Company is located
in the State and it is administered in the State and carries on its business
within the State. These proceedings will be main proceedings as defined in
Article 3 of the EC Reguiation.

To the Directors' knowledge, no insolvency proceedings have been opened in
respect of the Company in a Member State of the European Union to which

the EC Regulation apples.

All necessary inquiries having been made by your Petitioner, the Company
has no obligations in relation fo a bank asset that has been fransferred to the
National Asset Management Agency (NAMA) or a NAMA group entity (each
within the meaning of the Nationa! Asset Management Agency Act, 2009).

In the circumstances, the Board of Directors of the Company have resolved
that the Company should be wound up and that a petition should be
presented o this Honcurable Court seeking, inter alia, the appointment of
Joint Official Liquidators and pending the hearing of that application, the
appointment of Joint Provisional Liquidators to the Company.

For these reasons, the Directors prays this Honourable Court for the following
reliefs:

(a) That upon the presentation of this Petition, Joint Provisional
Liquidators be appointed to the Company under Section 573 of the
Companies Act 2014 to preserve the business of the Company.




That the said Provisional Liquidators be granted the following

powers:

(i) Power to take possession of the assets of the Company;

(i) Power to take possession of the books and records of the
Company,

(iii) Power to trade and carry on the business of the Company

pending the hearing of the Petition;

(iv) Power to insure the assets of the Company and to take out
all insurances necessary in connection with the business

of the Company;

(v) Power to operate the Company's existing bank accounts
and if necessary, fo open a bank account in the

Company's name;

{vi) Power to retain and pay, and / or dismiss, employees to
the extent necessary to carry on the business of the
Company and / or to ensure the orderly winding up of the
Company;

(vii) Power to retain the services of solicitors, counsel and

other professional advisors where necessary;

(viii) Power to make any payments to creditors which are
necessary in order to facilitate trade during the Provisional
Liquidation period;

(ix) Power to sell all, or part, of the business and assets of the
Company, subject of the approval of this Honourable
Court;

(x) Power to adjudicate on retention of title claims and if
appropriate, to facilitate the return of stock to retention of

fitle creditors;




(xi) Power to carry on the business of the Company in

whatever premises he deems necessary;

{xii) Power to retain a valuer, including a corporate financial

adviser, on behalf of the Company,

{xiii) Power to retain and pay security staff as required;

{xiv) Power to surrender the Company's leasehold interests,

where necessary,

{xv) Power to investigate the affairs of the Company; and
(xvi) Power to borrow money on the security of the assets of the
Company.
(c) That the Company be wound up by this Honourable Court under the

provisions of the Companies Act, 2014.

(d) That upon the hearing of this Petition, Official Liquidators be
appointed to the Company under Section 575 of the Companies Act
2014.

(e) That such other order may be made on this petition as shall be just

and equitable.

Dated this );2“‘ day of June 2015

Signed: A &Z Gﬂ’mﬁ&m/\&/«l

A&L Goodbody

Solicitors for the Petitioner
International Financial Services Centre
North Wall Quay

Dublin 1

This Petition is duly presented in the Central Office on behalf of the Petitioner by A&L
Goodbody, Solicitors, International Financial Services Centre, North Wall Quay,
Dublin 1 this day of June 2015.
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Ocs Operations Limited Company Report

Vitals

Sourced from Vision-net

Date: 12/06/2015
;4‘& S

| 12-JuN-201

!

Summary

Ocs Operations Limited was set up on Thu the 16th of Aug 2012 in 6th Floor, 2 Grand
Canal Square, Dublin 2. Their current status is Normal. The company's current directors
Malcolm MacLennan Macaulay and Rafael Klotz have been the director of 2 other Irish
companies between them. Ocs Operations Limited has 1 shareholder.

Company Vitals

Company Name:

Previous Names:

OCS OPERATIONS
LIMITED

There are no previous names for this company

Company Number:

Company Type:

Company Status:
Incorporated:

Principal Activity:

516503

Single Member Private
Company Limited By
Shares

Normal

16/08/2012 (2 years
ago)
74.15

Management Activities of Holding Companies

Registered Address:

People

6th Floor, 2 Grand
Canal Square,
Dublin 2

Financial Vitals

Size:

Share Cap. Currency:
Authorised Capital:

Next Annual Return
Date:

Last Annual Return
Date:

Last Accounts To
Date:

Latest Auditor:
Other Details

Telephone:
TPS:

Large Company

EURO
1,000,000
31/07/2015

31/07/2014

31/01/2014

Grant Thornton

+353 (0)1 878 6000
NO

Director Name:

Malcolm MaciLennan Macaulay

Title:

Director

Director Address:

62 Carrwood Road, Wilmslow

Cheshire

Ocs Operations Limited - Page 1




Sk8 5dn

United Kingdom

Date of Birth:

29/06/1955

Other Directorships:

2 Other Directorships

Director Name:

Rafael Klotz

Title:

Director

Director Address:

A0 Cardinal Road, Weston

Ct 06883

United States

Date of Birth:

14/02/1964

Other Directorships:

2 Other Directorships

Company Secretary

Secretary Name:

Malcolm Maciennan Macaulay

Title:

Secretary-Joint

Secretary Address: |62 Carrwood Road
Wilmslow
Cheshire, Sk9 5dn
United Kingdom
Date of Birth:

Secretary Name:

Wilton Secretarial Limited

Title:

Secretary

Secretary Address:  |6th Floor, 2 Grand Canal Square
Dublin 2
Date of Birth: 03/05/1989

People changes in the last 2 years

Resignations (1)

Title Name D.c.B Appointed Resigned
Director Fraser James 28/08/1968 16/08/2012 {2 07/03/2014 (1
‘ Pearce years ago) year ago)

Ocs Operations Limited - Page 2




Appointments (1)

Title Name D.o.B Appointed
Director Rafael Klotz 14/02/1964 07/03/2014 (1 year

ago)
Mortgages and Charges

Mortgages and Charges Special Note:

Register of Particulars of Charges Including Mortgages Pursuant to Sections 409, 411 and 413 of
the Companies Act 2014 in Respect of the Above Named Company. Computerised information
for charges may be truncated on this print-out, please refer to the company file or images for
complete particulars on Charges. it should be noted that Charge nofifications that are not realised
will be rejected and therefore can leave a gap in the sequential numbering of charges.

Charge Number:

2

Charge Type: A charge on uncalled share capital of the company. A charge created or
evidenced by an instrument which, if executed by an individual, would
require registration as a bill of sale. A charge on land, wherever situate, or
any interest therein, but not including a charge for any rent or other
periodical sum issuing out of land. A charge on book debts of the company.
A floating charge on the undertakings or property of the company. A charge
on goodwill, on a patent or licence under a patent, on a trademark or on a
copyright or a licence under copyright.

Created: 17/09/2012

Registered: 04/10/2012

Details of Pursuant to clause 2.1 of the debenture, the chargor thereby covenanted in

Amount favour of the security trustee on behalf of the finance parties that it will pay

Secured: and discharge the secured obligations when they are due. {definitions

contained in schedule 1 of m-13736609-1 attached to form c1)

Property Notes:

Xxx pursuant to clause 3 of the debenture, the chargor, as beneficial owner
to the intent that the charges contained in the debenture are a continuing
security for the payment and discharge of the secured obligations in favour of
the security trustee, thereby: (short particulars continued in schedule 2 of m-
13736609-1 aftached hereto) negative pledge: Pursuant to clause 6.1 of the
debenture... (negative pledge continued in schedule 3 of m-13736609-1
attached hereto)xxx

Person Entitled
Details:

Charge Party: The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland
Charge Party Relation: Person Entitled

Charge Status:

Not satisfied
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Charge Number:

L

Charge Type: A charge on book debts of the company.

Created: 17/09/2012

Registered: 04/10/2012

Details of Xxx the payment and disclosure of all present and future obligations and

Amount liabilities (including in respect of principal, interest, fees and expenses) of the

Secured: chargor to the chargee, actual or contingent, whether owed jointly or
severally, whether as principal or as surety or in any other capacity
whatsoever and in any currency, on any current or other account or
otherwise in any manner whatsoever and any reference to secured
obligations means any reference to any of them (the "secured obligations").
Please see the further particulars in the annex hereto for full details and
defined terms xxx.

Property Notes: |Xxx pursuant to clause 3.1 of the debenture, the chargor, as beneficial owner

to the intent that the charges contained in the debenture will be a continuing
security for the payment and discharge of the secured obligations in favour of
the chargee, thereby: (short particulars continued at note 2 in the further
particulars attached hereto) the debenture contains a negative pledge.
Please see the further particulars in the annex hereto for full details and
defined terms xxx

Person Entitled
Details:

Charge Party: Ocs Investment Holdings Limited
Charge Party Relation: Person Entitled

Charge Status:

Not satisfied

ROI Judgments

Judgments: No Judgments found.
Documents
Status Submission Effective |Received [Sub Num |Pages
or
Accounts
to Date
Registered B2 Change in Situation of Reg Office. 07/04/2015 |07/05/20156 978285411 4
Registered B10 Change in Directors/Secretary 07/04/2015  |20/04/2015  |9739039/1 4
Registered B10 Change in Directors/Secretary 10/09/2014 13/04/2015 197423381 5
Registered B1 Annual Return 31/07/2014  |28/08/2014  [9361109/1 11
Registered Account Details 31/01/2014  |28/08/2014  |9361109/2 24
Registered B10 Change in Directors/Secratary 07/03/2014 11/03/2014 910542511 3
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Registered 873 Request To Change a Companys Nard | 16/02/2014  [21/02/2014 9078953/1 1

Registered B1 Annual Refurn 16/02/2014  |21/02/2014  |9078949/1 9

Registered B1 Annual Return 46/02/2013 01/03/2013  |8540350/1 9

Registerad C1 Mortgage/Charge Created By Irish 17/09/2012 04/40/2012  |8309350/1 9
Company

Registered Cerlificate - Charge By a Co Incin the State  [17/09/2012  |04/10/2012  |8309350/3 1

Registered C1 Mortgage/Charge Created By Irish 17/09/2012  104/10/2012  |8309155NM ]
Company

Registered Certificate - Charge By a Co Inc in the State  |17/09/2012  |04/10/2012  |8309155/3 1

Registered G1 Special Resolution - Sr Alteration To 12/09/2012  |28/09/2012  |82972201 3
Constitution

Registered Amended Memorandum and Articles. 12/09/2012  |28/09/2012  |8297220/2 17

Registered B10 Change in Directors/Secretary 16/08/2012 17/08/2012 (822854911 4

Registered A1 Application To Register As a New 16/08/2012  |08/08/2012 (821681111 1
Company,

Registered Memorandum and Articles 16/08/2012  108/08/2012  |8216811/2 16

Registered Certificate - New Company with Capital Duty |16/08/2012  |08/08/2012 1821681 1/3 2

Liguidators and Receivers

Status
Liquidators None Registered
Appointed
Receivers None Registered
Appointed
Examiners None Registered
Appointed

[ Data in this report is based on CRO data last updated on: 13:48 12-JUN-2015]
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COMPANIES ACTS 1963 to 2012
SINGLE MEMBER COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES
MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION
OF

0CS OPERATIONS LIMITED

The name of the Company is OCS Operations Limited

The objects for which the Company is established are -

{a)

(b)

(c)

{@)

To carry on the business of an investment company, and for that purpose to acquire and
hold either in the name of the company or in that of any nominee shares, stocks,
debentures, debenture stock, bonds, notes, obligations, warrants, options and securities
issued or guaranteed by any company wherever incorporated, or issued or guaranteed by
any government, public body or authority in any part of the world,

To acguire any such shares, stock, debentures, debenture stock, bonds, notes,
obligations or securities by original subscription, contract, tendar, purchase, exchange,
underwriting, participation in syndicates or otherwise and whether or not fully paid up and
to subscribe for the same subject to such terms and conditions (if any) as may be thought
fit.

To exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incident to the ownership of
any such shares, stock obligations or other securities including without prejudice to the
generality of the foregeing all such powers of veto or control as may be conferred by
virtue of the holding by the company of such special proportion of the issued or nominal
amount thereof and to provide managerial and other executive, supervisory and
consultant services for or in relation to any company in which the company is interested
upon such terms as may be thought fit

To undertake and carry on in lrelend or elsewhere, any other business {whether
manufacturing or otherwise) which may seem lo lhe Company capable of being
conveniently carred on in connection with the above, or calculated directly or indirectly to

enhance the value of any of the Company's property and rights for the time being.




(e)

0

(9)

(h)

(i}

0

To purchase or ctherwise acquire and undertake all or any part of the undertaking assets,
business, property, priviteges, confracts, rights, obligations and #abilities of any company,
corporation, society partnership or person carying on any business which the Company
is authorised or empowered to carry on or possessed of property suitable for the cbjecfs
of the Company or of any company or corporation in which the Company holds shares,
bonds, debentures or other securities or obligations, and to pay for the same in cash or in
shares or securities or obligations of the Company or partly in cash and partly in shares
or securities or obligations or any other consideration, and to carry on the business of any

such company, corparation, society, partnership or person whose assets are so acquired.
To amalgamate with any other company.

To purchase, take on lease, of in exchange, or otherwise acquire and hold any lands or
buildings situate in Ireland or any part of the world, or rights or interests therein or
connected therewith and to manage, farm or let the same or any part thereof for any
period and at such rent, and on such conditions as the Company shall think fit, or fo
develop same or any part thereof as a building estate, and to construct and erect houses,
fiats, factories, warehouses and buildings of any kind thereon; to lay out roads and
pleasure gardens and recreation gardens; to pull down, alter or improve buildings,; fo
plant, drain or otherwise improve the land or any part thereof.

To apply for, purchase or atherwise acquire any patents brevets d'invention, licences,
concessions and the like, conferring any exclusive of non-exclusive or limited rights to
use or any secret or other information as to any invention which may seem capable of
being used for any of the purposes of the Company or the acquisition of which may seem
calculated directly or indirectly to benefit the Company and to use, exercise, develop or
grant licences in respect of or othierwise turn to account the property, rights or information
s0 acquired.

To enter into partnerships or into any arrangements for sharing profits, unicn of interests,
co-operation, joint venture, reciprocal concession of otherwise with any person or
company carrying on or engaged in or about to carry on or engage in any business or
transaction which this Company is authorised to carry on or engage in or any business or
transaction capable of being conducted so as directly or indirectly to benefit the
Company.

To take or atherwise acquire and to hold shares and securities in any company other than

the Company and to sell, hold, re-issue with or without guarantee or olherwise deal with
the same.



(k}

"

(m}

()

{o)

{p)

{a)

To enter into any arrangements with any Governments of authorities, supreme,
municipal, local or otherwise, that may seem conducive to the Company's objects ar any
of them and 1o obtain from any such Goverriment or authority any rights, privileges and
concessions which the Company may think it desirable to obtain and to carry out,

exercise and comply with any such arrangements, rights, privileges and concessions,

To establish and support or aid in the establishment and support of associations,
institutions, funds, trusts and conveniences calculated to benefit directors and ex-
directors, employees or ex-employees of the Company of the dependants or connections
of such persens, and to grant pensions and allowances and to do any acts or things or
make any arrangements or provisions enabling employees of the Company or other
persons aforesaid to become shareholders in the Company of otherwise to participate in
the profits of the Company upon such terms and in such manner as the Company thinks
fit, and to make payments towards insurance and to subscribe or guarantee money for
charitable or benevolent objects or for any exhibition or for any public, general or useful
object, or any other object whatsoever which the Company may think advisable.

To promote any company or companies for the purpose of acquiring all or any of the. -

property and liabilities of the Company or for any ather purpose which may seem directly
or indirectly calculated to benefit the Company.

Generally to purchase, take on lease, exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any real and
personal property and any rights or privileges which the Company may think necessary or
convenient for the purpeses of its business,

To develop and turn fo account any land acquired by the Company of in which it is
interested and in particutar by laying out and preparing the sarme far building purposes,
constructing, altering, pulling down, decorating, maintaining, fitting up and improving
buildings and conveniences and by planting, paving, draining, farming, cultivating, letting
an building leases or building agreement and by advancing money to and entering info
contracts and arrangements of all kinds with builders, tenants and others.

To construct, maintain and alter any buildings or works necessary or convenient for any
of the purposes of the Company or for the benefit of its employees.

To construct, improve, maintain, develop, work, manage, carry out or control any roads,
ways, tramways, rallways, branches or sidings, bridges, reservoirs, watercourses,
wharves, factories, warehouses, eleciric works, shops, stores and other works and
conveniences which may seem calculated directly or indirectly to advance the Company's
interests and to contribute to, subsidise or otherwise assist, or take part in the




()

{s)

{t}

(w

(v)

(w)

construction, improvement, maintenance, working, management, carrying out or control

thereof,

To invest and to deal with the moneys of the Company not immediately required in such
manner as may from time to time be determined.

To lend and advance money or give credit to or to become surety or guarantor for any
person or company, and to give all descriptions of guarantees and indemnities and either
with or without the Company receiving any consideration to guarantee or otherwise
secure {with or without @ morigage or charge on all or any part of the undertaking,
property and assets, present and fulure, and the uncalled capital of the Company) the
performance of the obligations and the repayment or payment of the capital or principal of
and dividends or interest on any stocks, shares, debentures, debenture stock, notes,
bonds or other securities or indebtedness of any person, authority (whether supreme,
local, municipal or atherwise) or company, including (without prejudice to the generality of
the foreqoing} any company which is for the time being the Company's holding company
as defined by Section 155 of the Companies Act 1963 or any statutory modification or re-
enactment thereof or other subsidiary as defined by the said section of the Company's
holding company or a subsidiary of the Company or otherwise associated with the
Company in business.

To borow or raise money either without security or secured in such manner as the
Company shall think fit and in particular by the issue of debentures or debenture stock,
perpetual or otherwise, by marlgage or other security charged upon all or any of the
Company's property both present and future, including its uncalled capital and to
purchase, redeem or pay off any such securities.

To remunerate any person or company for services rendered or to be rendered in placing
or assisting to place or guaranteeing the placing of any of the shares of the Company's
capital or any debentures, debenture stock or other securities of the Company, or in or

aboul the farmation or promotion of the Company or the conduct of its business.

To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue promissory nates, hills of
exchange, bills of lading, warants, debentures and other negoliable or transferable
instruments.

To undertake and execute any frusts the underiaking whereof may seem desirable and
either gratuitously or otherwise.




':‘:__js

L

)

{z)

(aa)

(bb)

{cc)

{dd)

(ee)

(fi)

To sell or dispose of the undertaking of the Company or any part thereof for such
consideration as the Company may think fit, and in particular for shares, debentures or
securities of any other company having cbjects altogether or in part simifar to those of the
Company.

To adopt such means of making known the products or services of ihe Company as may
seem expedient and in particular by advertising in the Press, by circulars, by purchase
and exhibition of works of art or interests, by publication of books and periodicals and by
granting prizes, rewards and donations.

To obtain any Act of the Oireachtas or Provisional Order for enabling the Company to
carry any of its objects into effect or for effecting any modification of the Company's
constitution or for any other purpose which may seem expedient and to aoppose any
proceedings or applications which may seem calculated directly or indirectly to prejudice
the Company's interests.

To procure the Company to be registered or recognised in any country or place.

To sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange, lease, mortgage, enfranchise, dispose of,
turn to account, or otherwise deal with alt or any of the property and rights of the
Company, provided always that no surplus arising upon any such sale shall be availabie
for distribution through the profit and loss account.

To promate freedom of contract, and to resist, insure against, counteract and discourage
interference therewith, to join any lawful Federation, Union or Assoeciation, or to do any
lawful act or thing with a view to preventing or resisting directly or indirectly any
interruption of or interference with the trade or business of the Company or any other
trade of business or providing or safeguarding against the same, or resisting or opposing
any strike, movement or organisation which may be thought defrimentai to the interests of
the Company or its employees and to subscribe to any assaciation or fund for any such
purpose.

To do all or any of the above things in any part of the world, and as principals, agents,
contractors, trustees or otherwise, and by or through trustees, agents or otherwise and
either alone or in conjunction with others.

To distribute any of the property of the Company in specie among the member(s).

To do all sueh other things as the Company may think incidental or conducive to the
attainment of the above objects or any of them.




Provided that:

(i) the word “company in this Clause, except where used in reference to this
Comparny, shall be deemed to include any partnership or other body of persons,
whelher incorporated or not incorporated and whether domiciled in freland or
clsewhere and the intention is that the objects specified in each paragraph of this
Clause shall except where otherwise expressed in such paragraph be in no way
limited or restricted by reference lo, or inference from, the terms of any of other
paragraph; and

(i) the provisions of this Clause shall be subject to the Company obtaining, where
necessary for the purpose of carrying any of its objects into effect, such licence,

permit or authority as may be required by iaw.

The liability of the member is limited.

The share capital of the Company is €1 ,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 shares of €1 each.

The shares forming the capital (increased or reduced) may be increased or reduced and be
divided into such classes, and issued with any special rights, privileges and conditions or with
such gualifications as regards preference, dividend, capital, voting or other gpecial incidents,
and be held upon such terms as may be attached thereto as may from time to time be provided
by the original or any substituted or amended Articles of Association and Regulations of the
Company for the time being but so that where shares are issued with any preferential or special
rights atlached thereio, such rights shall not be alterable otherwise than pursuant to the

provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company for the time being.




We, the person whose name, address and description is subscribed, wish to be formed into a

company in pursuance of this Memorandum of Asscciation and we agree to lake the number of shares

in the capital of the Company set opposite our respective name

Name, address and description of subscriber

Nurnber of shares taken by the subseriber

0OCS Investment Holdings Limited 100
First Floor, Fitzwilton House

Wilton Place

Dublin 2

Total number of shares taken: 100

Dated the day of 2012
Witness to the above signature:
Name:

Address:

Occupation:
Signature:

WF-4384851-v2




COMPANIES ACTS 1963 to 2012
SINGLE MEMBER COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
OF

OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

PRELIMINARY

{a) The Europgan Communities {Single Member Private Limited Companies) Regulations,
1984 shall apply to the Company.

(b) The Regulations confained in Pari | of Table A in the First Schedule to the Companies
Act, 1983 (as the same is amended by the Companies Acts 1963 fto 2012 and with the
exception of Regulations 8, 11, 24, 51, 55, 75, 77, 79, 84, 86, 31 o 100 inclusive and 138
thereof} and the Regulations contained in Part I} of Table A as aforesaid (as the same is
amended as aforesaid and with the exception of Regulations 1 and 9 thereof) shali apply
to the Company save in so far as they are excluded or modified hereby and such
Regulations fogether with the Aricles hersinafier conlained shall constitute the
Regulations of the Company,

SHARES

The capital of the Company is €1,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 shares of €1 each.

For the purpose of Section 20 Companies (Amendment} Act, 1983, the Directors of the
Company are generally and unconditionally authorised to allot relevant securities as defined by
Section 20 (10) of the said Act up to a maximum of the authorised but as yet unissued share
capital of the Company at the date on which the Company was incorporated. This authority
shall expire five years after the date of incorporation of the Company but may be previously
revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting and may be renewed by the Company in
general meeting for a further period not exceeding five years from the date of such renewal.
The Cornpany may make any offer or agreement before the expiry of this authority, which would
or might require relevant securities to be aiotted after this authority, has expired and the
Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of any such offer or agreement,




The pre-emption provisions of sub-sections (1) (7) and (B) of Seclion 23 Companies
(Arnendment) Act, 1983 shail not apply to any allotment by the Company of equity securilies (as
defined in such Section).

Subiject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1980, any shares may be issued on the terms
that they are, or, at the option of the Company are, liable to be redeemed on such terms and in
such manner as the Company befere the issue of the shares may by special resolution
determine.

PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES

{a)  Subject to the provisions of and to the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, 1963 -
2009 to any rights conferred on the holders of any class of shares and lo the following
paragraphs of this Article the Company may purchase any of its shares of any class and
may cancel any shares so purchased and hold them as Treasury Shares (within the
meaning of Section 209 of the Companies Act, 1980) with liberty to reissue any such
shars or shares as shares of any tlass or classes.

(p)  The Company shall not exercise any authority granted under Section 213 (off market) or
Section 215 (market) of the Companies Act, 1980 to make purchases of its own shares
untess the authority required by such Section shall have been geanted by special
resolution of the Company.

{c) The Company shall not be required to select the shares to be purchased on a pro rala
" basis or in any particular manner as between the holder of the shares of the same class
or as between the holders of shares of different classes.

LIEN

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles, the Company's first and paramount lien
on every share {not being a fully paid share) called or payable at a fixed time in respect of that
share and the extension of that lien to ali dividends payable therecn shall not apply where any
such shares have been morigaged or charged by way of security in which event such fien shall
rank behind any such security and Regulation 11 of Part 1 of Table A in the First Schedule to
the Companies Act, 1963 shall be modified accordingly.

TRANSFER GF SHARES

]



10.

An instt;ument of transfer of a share (other than a partly paid share} need not be executed on
behalf of the transferee and need not be attested and Regulation 22 of Table A Part | shall be
modified accordingly.

The Directors may at any time in their absolute and uncontrolled discretion refuse to register
any transfer of ghares provided however that they shall not decline to register any transfer of
shares, nor may they suspend registration thereof where such lransfer:

{i} is a transfer of shares to any bank, institution or person {each a Secured Person) {or
ta any nominee(s) of such Secured Person) {each a Relevant Person) to whom such

shares have been mortgaged or charged by way of security; or

(i) is delivered to the Company for registration by any Relevant Person in arder to
register the Relevant Person or any receiver appointed by them or any purchaser from
themn as legal owner of the shares; or

(i} is executed by any Relevant Person (or any receiver appointed by such Relevant
Person) to wham such shares have been mortgaged or charged by way of securlty,
pursuant to the power of sale under such security or under any statutory power of
sale,.and a certificate by any official of such Relevant Person) that the shares were so
mortgaged or charged and the transfer was so executed shall be conclusive evidence
of such fact,

And furthermore, natwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these Articles ar in any
agreement or arrangement applicable to any shares in the Company, no trapsferar or proposed
transferor of any such shares to any Relevant Person or any purchaser from a Relevant Person,
shall be required to obtain the approval of the Directors ar be subject fo, or obliged to comply
with, any rights of pre-emption contained in these Aricles or any such agreement or
arrangement nor shall any Relevant Person be otherwise required to offer the shares which are
or are lo be the subject of any transfer as aforesaid to the shareholders for the time being of the
Company or any of them, and no such shareholder shall have any right under the Articles or
otherwise howsoever to require such shares to be transferred to them whether for consideration
or not. No resolution shall be proposed or passed t.he effect of which would be to delete ar
amend this regulation unless not less than 45 days’ written natice thereof shall have been given
to any such Relevant Person by the Company and Regulation 3 of Table A, Part Ii shail be
modified accardingly.

GENERAL MEETINGS

i, and for so long as, the Company has only one member, the following provisions shall apply -




1.

12.

13.

14,

15.

{a}) one person entitied to vote upon the business to be transacted, being the sole member of
the Company or a proxy for that member or (if such member is a corporation) a duly
authorised representative of such member, shall be a qguorum and Regulation 54 of Table
A shall be modified accordingly;

{t) the sole member of the Company (or the proxy or authorised representative of the sole
member representing that memher at the appropriate general meeting) shall be the
chairman of any general meeting of the Company and Regulation 56 of Table A shall be
madified accordingly.

It shall not be necessary to give any notice of any adjoumed meeting and Regulation 58 of
Table A Part | shall be modified accordingly.

Where any meeting of the Company is held at short notice pursuant to Saction 133 (3} or
Section 141 (2) of the Act it shall be sufficient if the instrument appointing a proxy (and the
power of attorney or other autherity, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy
of such power or authority) is deposited with the Chairman of the meeting immediately upon the
commencement of such meeting and Regulation 70 of Table A Part | shalt be modified
accordingly.

The sole member may decide to dispense with the helding of annual general meetings. Such
decision will be effective for the year in which it is made and subsequent years, but
nevertheless the sole member or the Auditors may require the holding of an annual general
meeting in any such year in accordance with the pracedure laid down in the Single-Member
Company Reguiations.

Where a decision 'o dispense with the holding of annual general mestings is in force, the
accounts and the directors’ and Auditors’ reports that would otherwise be laid before an annual
general meeting shall be sent to the sole member as provided in the Single-Member Company
Regutations, and the provisions of the Acts with regard {o the annual return and the accounts
which apply by reference to the date of the annual general meeting will be canstrued as
provided in the Single-Member Company Regulations.

All matters requiring a resolution of the company in general meeting (except the removal of the
Auditors from office) may be validly dealt with by a decision of the sole member. The sole
member must provide the Company with a written record of any such decision or, if it is dealt
with by a written resolution under regulation 6 of Part I of Table A, with a copy of that

resclution, and the decisicn or resolution shall be recorded and retained by the company.




s

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Where the company enters into a contract with the sole member which is not in the ordinary
course of business and which is not in wiiting, and the sole member also represents the
company in the transaction (whather as a director or otherwise), the directors shall ensure that
the terms of the contract are forthwith set out in a written memorandum or are recorded in the
minutes of the next directors’ meeting.

1f and whenever the company ceases to be a single-member company, it shali notify the

Registrar of Companies as provided in the Single-member Company Regulations.
DIRECTORS

The number of Directors shall not be less than two nor, unless and until otherwise determined
by the Company by ordinary resolution, more than ten. A Director shall not retire by rotation and
Regulation 110 of Table A Part 1 shal be modified accordingly.

A Director shall not require a share qualification but nevertheless shall be entitled to receive
notice of and to attend and speak at any general meeting of or any separate meeting of the
holders of any class of shares in the Company and Regulation 136 of Table A Part | shalt be
modified accordingly.

(a) Any Director may by writing under his hand appaint (i) ary ather Director, or {ii) any other
person who is approved by the Board of Directors as hereinafter provided, to be his
alternate and every such alternate {subject to his giving to the Company an address
within the State or the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland at which
notices may be served on him} shall be entitied to receive notices of all meetings of the
Directors and, in the absence from the Board of the Director appointing him, to attend and
vote at meetings of Directors, and to exercise ali the powers, rights, dulies and authorities
of the Director appointing him {other than the right to appoint an altermate hereunder)
provided atways that no such appointment of a person other than a Director shall be
operative unless and until the approval of the Board of Directors by a simple majority of
the whole Board shall have been given and entered in the Directors’ Minute Book,

{(b) A Director may at any lime revoke the appointment of any alternate appairted by him and
subject to such approval as aforesaid appoint another person in his place and if a
Director shall die or cease to hold the office of Director the appointment of his alternate
shall thereupon cease and determine. An afternate Directer shafl not be counted in
reckoning the maximum number of Directors allowed by the Articles of Association for the

time being. A Director acting as alternate shall have an additiona! vote at meetings of

s




21,

22.

Directors for each Director for whom he acts as alternate but he shalf count as only one

for the purpose of determining whether a quorum be present.

(c)  Every person acting as an aliernate Director shall ke an officer of the Company and shall
alone be responsible to the Company for his own acts and defaults and he shall not be
deemed 1o be the agent of or for the Director appointing him. The remuneration of any
such alternate Director shall be payable out of the remuneration paid to the Director
appointing him and shali consist of such portion of the last mentioned remuneration as
shall be agreed between the aiternate and the Director appointing him.

(d}  Any appointment or revocation by a Director under this Article shall be effected by notice
in writing given under his hand and delivered to the Secretary or lodged at the registered
office of the Company.

A Director present at a meeting of the Directors shall in additien to his own vote be entitled to
one vote in respect of each other Director not present at the meeting who shall have authorised
him in respect of such meeting to vote for such other Director in his absence. Any such authority
may relate generally to all meetings of the Directars or to any specified meeting or meetings and
must be in writing or by telefax, by cable or telegram or telex message, which must be
presented to the Secretary for filing prior to or be produced at the first meeting at which a vote is
to be cast pursuant thereto.

The Directors may establish and maintain or procure the establishment and maintenance of any
non-contributory of contributory pension of superannuation funds for the benefit of and give or
procure the giving of donations, gratuities, pensians, allowances or emoluments to any persons
who are or were at any time in the employment or service of the Company ar of any company
which is a subsidiary of the Company or is allied to or associated with the Company or with any
such subsidiary or who are or were at any time Directors or officers of the Company or of any
such other company aforesaid and hold or have at any time held any salaried employment or
office in the Company or such other ccmpany and the wives, widows, families and dependents
of any such persons and also establish and subsidise or subscribe to any institutions,
associations, clubs or funds calculated to be for the benefit of or to advance the interests and
well-being of the Company or any such other company as aforesaid or of any such persons as
aforesaid and make payments for or towards the insurance of any such persons as aforesaid
and subscribe or guarantee money for any charitable or benevolent objects or for any exhibition
or for any public genera! or usefui object and do any of the matters aforesaid either alone or in
conjunction with any such other company as aforesaid. Any Director who holds or has held any
such employment or office shali be entitled to participate in and retain for his own benefit any
such donation, gratuity, pension, allowance or emolument to the extent and upan such terms as
may for the time being be permitted or required by faw.




23.

24,

25,

26.

The Directors shall have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person io be a
Director, either to filt a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors, but so that the
total number of Direclors shafl not at any time exceed the number fixed in accordance with
these regulations.

The office of a Director shall be vacated if the Director:-

(a) s adjudged bankrupt in the State or in any part of the World or makes any arrangement
ar composition with his creditors generally,

{b}) becomes the subject of a Restriction Order made under Section 150 of the Companies
Act, 1990,

(c) becomes the subject of a Disqualification Order made under Section 160 of the
Companies Act, 1950,

{dy in the opinion of all his co-Directors becomes incapable by reason of mental disorder of
discharging his duties as Director,

(e) resigns such office by notice in writing to the Company;

() s convicted of an indictable offence (slher than an offence under the Read Traffic Acts
for which he is not sentenced to imprisonment and actually imprisoned) unless the
Directors otherwise delermine; or

{g) is removed from office by a resolution duly passed pursuant to Section 182 of the Act or
under the provisions of the next succeeding Article hereof.

fn addition to and without prejudice to the provisions of the Act, the Company may by ordinary
resolution remove any Director before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding

anything in these regulations or in any agreement between the Company and such Director,

. Any such removal shall be without prejudice to any claim such Director may have for damages

for breach of any contract of service between him and the Company. The Company may, by
ordinary resoiution, appoint another person in place of any Director so removed from office.

Any Director who serves an any committee ur who devotes spectal attention fo the business of
the Company or who otherwise performs services which in the opinion of the Directors are
outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, may be paid such extra remuneration by
way of salary, percentage of profits or ctherwise as the Directors may determine.



27.

28.

30.

ks
Eal®

31,

3.

29.

Any such resolution in writing as is referred to in Regulation 109 of Table A Part | may consist of
saveral documents in the like form each signed by one or more of the Directors for the time
being entitled 1o receive notice of meetings of the Directors.

Any Director or alternate Director may participate in a meeting of the Directors or any committee
of the Directors by means of conference telephane or other telecommunications equipment by
means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other and such

participation in a meeting shalt constitute a presence in person at the meeting.
BORROWING POWERS

The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, and to mortgage
or charge its undertaking, property and uncalled capital or any part thereof and to issue
debentures, debenture stock and other securities, whether outright or as security for any debt,
liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party. Debentures, debenture stock and
other securities may be made assignable free from any equities between the Company and any
person to whom the same may be issued. Any debentures or debenture stock may be issued at
a discount, premium or otherwise and with any special rights as to redemption, surrender,
drawings, allotment of shares, attending and voting at general meetings of the Company,
appointment of Directors or otherwise

NOTICES

A member who has no registered address in lrefand or in the United Kingdom of Great Britain
and Northern Ireland and has not supplied to the Company an address within Ireland or the
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland for the giving of notices to him shall not
be entied to receive any notices from the Company but shall be bound by every notice ar
docurnent served by the Company on every member who has supplied such an address
Regulation 136 of Table A Part | shall be modified accordingly.

In Regulation 135 of Table A Part | the words "(if any) in the State or the United Kingdom of
Great Britain and Northern Ireland” shall be inserted after the words "at the address”.

Every person who, by operation of law, transfer, or other means shall become entitled o any
share shall be bound by every notice or other document which, previous to his name and
address being entered on the regisier in respect of such share, shall have been given lo the
person in whose name the share shall have been previously registered.




)
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34,

35.

36.

Any notice or document sent by post fo the registered address of any member in pursuance of
these presents shall, notwithstanding that such member be then deceased, and whether or not
the Company have notice of his decease, be deemed to have been duly served in respect of
any shares held by such member (whether solefy or jointly with other person or persons) until
some other person or persons be registered in his stead as the holder or joint holders thereof,
and such service shall for all purposes of these presents be deemed a sufficient service of such
notice or document on his or her executors or administrators, and ail persons (if any} jointly
interested with him ar her in any such share. In addition notice is deemed to be served by
sending the same by telefax or electronic means to such telefax number or electronic address
as may be provided by the member of the Company.

INDEMNITY
The signature to any notice to be given by the Company may be written or printed.

Subject to the Act, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilites which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

SECRECY

No member shall be entitled to require discovery of or any information respecting any detail of
the trading of the Company or any matier which is or may be in the nature of a frade secret,
mystery of trade, or secret process which may relate 1o the conduct of the business of the
Company, and which, in the opinion of the Directars, it would be inexpedient in the interests of
the members of the Company to communicate to the public.

Narme, address and description of subscriber




For and on behalf of

OCS Investment Holdings Limited
First Floor, Fitzwilton House
Wilton Place

Dublin 2

Dated this day of

Witness to the above signature:

Name:
Address:
Qccupation:
Signature:

WF4384871-v2
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THIS AGREEMENT is mads on 3 October 2012

BETWEEN.

OCS PROPERTIES LIMITED

having its regislered office at

Eirst Floor, Fitzwilton House, Wilton Place, Dublin 2
{hereinafter called the "Landiord”)

-and -

OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

having ifs registered office at

First Floor, Fitzwilton House, Wilton Place, Dublin 2
(hereinafter called the “Tenant"}

MOW THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH:

SECTION 1.0 - INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

in this Agreement save where the context otherwise requires the following words and

expressions shall have the following meanings and inlerpretations:

114

1412

1.1.3

1.1.8

"Expiry Date", 16 September 2014,
"nstalment Days”, 17 September, 17 December, 17 March and 17 June,

“Insured Risks", fire explosicn lightning impacl earthquake aircraft flood storm
tempest riots civii cammotion and malicious damage acts of terrorism bursling or
overflowing of water tanks apparatus drains sewers and pipes and other risks pefils

expenses Josses as the Landlord in its sole discretion may require;

EY
"Landlord's Fixtures and Fittiigs”, the Landlord's fixtures, fitings and contents
and all other itens installed or paid for by the Landlord in the Premises,

"Month", calendar month and words derived therefrom shall be construed

accordingly;

"Permitted Use”, the use of the Premises as a department store, together with

reslaurantfcafes, ancillary offices, staft facilities and warehousing;

"Premises”, the premises described in the Schedule hereto with the easements

rights and privileges appurtenant thereto, if any,

"Quarter’, 17 September {0 16 December, 17 December to 16 March, 17 March to . :

16 June and 17 June lo 16 September In each year of the Term,




1.1.8 "Rent”,
(a) 17 September 2012 fo 16 March 2013 ~ thirty thousand euro {€30,000}
per Quarter; and
)] 17 March 2013 to the Expiry Date - fifty thousand euro (€50,000) per

Quarter;

1.1.40  "Term”, the term created by this Agreement being a peticd of two [2) years from
the Term Commencement Dafe;

1.1.11  “Term Commencemeni Date”, 17 September 2012.
Construction

1.2, The masculine includes the ferminine and neuter and vice versa and the singular

includes the plural and vice versa.
1,22 Obligations undertaken by more than a single person are joint severat obligations.

12.3 Any caovenant by the Tenant not te do or omit an act or thing shall be construed as
if it were a covenant not to do or omit or permit or suffer such act or thing fo be
dong or omitted.

1.2.4  Rights excepted reserved or granted to the Landlord herein shall be construed as
excepted and reserved ar granted to the Landlord and all persons authorised by
the Landierd and any superior Lan

riiord and all persons authorised by any superior

Landlord and ali persons now or hereafter entitled to such rights.
SECTION 2.0 - DEMISE
Demise

in consideration of the rents and the covenants on the par of the Tenant and the condifiens
hereinafter reserved and contained the Landiord hereby demises unlo the Tenant ALL THAT
AND THOSE the Premises.

Exceptions and Reservations

Excepting and reserving untc the Landlord and all ofher persons entitled from time fo time

thereto.

221 the free right of uninterrupted passage and running of utifities from and to any
adjoining or neightouring property through any conduits which may at any time

during the Term be through, in, aver or under the Premises or otherwise together

o E@ﬁﬂ@ﬁ‘m %Eymj

e




with Full right of access at all reasonable times {on giving due notice in writing fo the

Tenant except in cases of emergency) for the purpeses of installing, adding to,
inspecting, maintaining, replacing and repairing the same, the person or persons
exercising such right causing a minimum of inconvenience to the Tenant having
reqard to the nature and cost of the work involved and making good any damage
thereby occasioned to the Premises;

222 fuil right and liberty on giving due notice in writing (except in case of smergency) at
all tmes during the Term to enter the Premises in order fo maintain, repair and
renew any part of the Premises for which the Landlord has a liability to repair or

malntain, the person of persons exercising such right, causing a minimum of

§
;%

inconvenience and making good any damage thereby occasioned fa the Premises;

223 such rights as are granted fo third pasties (if any) to use in case of emergency only
any fire doors or lo use or pass along the fire escape passages or routes forming
part of the Premises;

224 alt rights, easements and privileges now befonging to or enjoyed by any tenant of

the Landlord in any adjoining or neighbouring property.

Habendum

To hold the Premises unto the Tenant for the Tem.

Reddendum

Yielding and paying therefor the Rent, to be paid quarerly in advance on the instalment
Days.

e s

SECTION 3.0 - TENANT'S COVENANTS

311 To pay the Rent without any deductions whatsoever at the times and in the manner

8 et o Tt Pt e aiah e e

orovided for in this Agreement.

312 To pay, as a further and additional rent, to the Landlord on demand from time to
time during the Term a sum or sums equal (o the amount of the insurance premium

or premiums payable by the Landlord pursuani to Clause 4.2.

Stamp Duty and VAT

321 To pay to the Landlord the stamp duty on this Agreernent and the counterpart
thereaf.




i

Thi Lardiord notifles and =anfirms to the Tenant thal it is axercising the Landlord's
Optioh o Tax.

To pay any Value Added Tax {or anv subslituted .or similar fax) which is now or
msy become payable In faspect of any rents; fees and other sums payable by the
Tenant urdér this Agreement and to pay to the Landlerd ail Value Added. Tax
payable on the grant of (his Agreement and 10 keep the Eandlord indemnified
against the same.

324  The Tenant shall pay to the tamdlord upod -predustion of & vaild VAT Invofee an
ampunt equal to the VAT af the appropriate raté on the rent; fees and ather sums
payable by the Tenani under this Agreement and shall kesp the Lantiard filly dnd
effectively indampified against same.

Rates and Taxes

o promotly pay ali rates {including water. rates) and other taxes assessed uponi.dr payable
in respect of the Premises {save Landlord’s property tax).

Dutgoings

To be solely responsible for and to sromplly pay all chiardes for water, gas, electricity of any
other ufility. used or consumed on the Premises:

Alienation

Not 16 Fusign sublet or part with-or shate possession of the Premises or aity part thereof nor
germiit any other person or cgmpany lo occlipy the same as a ligensee or otherwiza
PROVIDER, notwithstanding the foregaing, the Temant may shadre possession with group
companies’ (being companies owned directly’ or indirectly by QGS investment Holdings
.imitedy on the strict basis that the Tepant shalf not grant letings of or assign ifs interest in
the Premises or any part thereof to any group company- and- PROVIDED FURTHER that no
reriewal rights will acarue lo any group company sharing the use of the Premises.

Repair and Maintenance

381 Ta repair mainlain keep and. preserva the Premises (ncluding ali sewers drains
pipes and cables belonging thereto which exclusively service the Preinises and the
shupfrent) in gobd and tenartable repair order and condition (damage by fair wear
and tearand Insdred Risks excepted).

36.2 At fhie expiralion or sooner determinzation of the Term quietly to yield up the
Fremises and the tights granted hereunder with fuil vacant possess=ion logether

with &l perinitted. alierations or addifions made thereof in the meantime and alf

o
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Landiord fixtures and replacement fixtures in or upon the Premises ‘o Landlord i

wear and tear) as shall be in accordance with the covenants on fhe part of the
Tenant hersin contained.

To do all such works as may be directed or required by any statutory autherity or by any

public or other authority o be dorge during the Term in respect of the Premises whether by
. the owner or pcoupler or Iand!ord:or tenant thereof and {o indemrify and keep indemnified
the Landlord against al! clalms and labitities in respect thereof

" Planning

Not knowingly to do or permit or suffer to be done on the Premises anything which would be
n breach of tha provisions of the Planpning and Development Acts 20600 to 2010, the Building
Contral Act 1980 or the Safety Health and Welfare at Work {Construction) Regulations 1995
or any zct or acts amending or replacing the same or the regulations made thereunder or
render the Landiord liable fo proceedings being instituted under such acts PROVIDED in

complying with this covenant the Tenant shall not be obfiged to rernedy any pre-existing
breach.

Landlard's entry

Upon receipt of reasonable notice in writing {save in an emergency) to permit the Landlord or
its agents or workmen at all reasonable times lo enter the Premises and examine the state of
repalr and condifion thereof and to effect any repairs or renovations in the Premises or
adjoining premises far which the Landlord may be Jiable,

Alterations

Not ta make any structural aterations in the Premises without first obltaining the consent in
writtng of the Landlord such consent not to be unreasonably withheld and which, If granted,
may be subject to such conditions as the Landlord thinks fit.

Use

3111 Not lo use or cccupy the Premises or permit the same o be used or occupied
otherwise than for the Permitted Use ar for any purpose or in any manner
incansistent with such user or ccocupation and not to do or aliow o be done any act
or thing which is Jikely o be, or to become a nuisance, danger or annoyance lo the
Landiord or to adjoining occupiers.

such good and tenantable repair and condition and clean and tidy {subject to fair

FITHRRR,

o)
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3112 pob'to use oF allo the Premises or any paii therenf to be used for residentiat
purpases.

3413 Notto hold any auction upon the Pramises.
3.114 Mot t keep any dog or other animal it or tpen the Pramiges,,
Ohstructions

Not to place or permit to be ataged any phstiuetion of any nature or kind ir.or upen the paths,
commen areas or approdches le_adi'ng to of abultifg the Prefmiges:

Refuse

Not to. place 6t ledve any refuse outside the Premises and to-make use of 3 covered bin for
remgval by the lacal sanitary authiority of any such refuse.

Insurance and Indemnity

To indemnify and keep indemnified the Landiord against all and ahy expenses tosts actions
claims demands damages and ofher liablities whatsoever in respect of ther injury or death of
ary” persofi or damage to any propery howsoever arising directly or indirectly. out of the
Tenants use-and occlipation of the Premises {save in respest of acts which result from the
sale negligents of the Landiord) and; fo effect.and keep in force during the: Tenm such. public
liamility, empldyer's liability and ofher policies of insurance (fo the extént that sich insurance
cover Is availabie) as Fﬁay be necessary to cover the. Tepant against any olairt arsing undér
thiy Clause and to extend such policies: of insurance so that the Landlord is Indemnified by
the instrers in the same manner as the Tenant (save in respect of acls which result from the
sole Aegligence of the Landlord) and whenever required to do so by the Landlord prodirce fo
the Lahdlord the said policy or policies together with safisfactory evidence that the same
isfare valid and subsisting apd that all premiums due thereon have been paid,

Notify

To notify the Landlord forthwith in writing of every notice recelved from lhe local or other
sanitary authority coneerning the Premises:and to comply therewith as quickly as possible
insofar as the Tenant is liabla.

Surrender

On the expiration or svone determination of this fenancy the Tenant wil paaceably

surrender and yield up unlo the Lsndlord possession of the Premises.
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SECTION 4.0 - LANDLORD'S COVENANTS

F 4.1 Quiet Enjoyment

That the Tenant paying the rent and perfoerming and observing the agreements on the

Tenznt's part hereinbefore contained may peaceably hold the Premises during the Temn
without any disturbance by the Landlord or any persory lawfully claiming under or in trust for
the Landlord.

4.2 Insurance

Subject 10 being duly put in funds by the Tenant in accordance with Clause 3.1.2 to insure
and keep insured {o the fullest extent that insurance is reasonably procurable the Premises
against the insured Risks and at the request of the Tenant to produce the policy or a copy
thereof and the latest premium receipt to the Tenant

SECTION 5.0 - DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE
5.1 Destruction or Damage

5.1.1 In the event of damage or desfruction by an Insured Risk so as io render the

R S A S

Premises or any part thereof unfit for beneficial cccupation or use o inaccessible

war:

or so as o render any of the rights conferred by this Agreernent incapable of
beneficial use andfor exercise so that the use or occupation of the Premises hy the
Tenant is adversely affecled, the Landlord shall notify the Tenant within six (6)
Menths of such damage occurring whether it intends to reir;state the Premises
("Landiord Confirmation"). {f the Landiord dees not serve the Landlord Confirmation
within a period of six Months from the date of such destruclion or damage the \
Tenant shall have the right at any time thereafter lo tferminate this Agreement upon
giving notice in writing to the Landlord to this effact whereupon this demise shall
determine but withou! prejudice to any rights of acticn or remedy of either party in

s g T e

RO

respect of antecedent breach of covenant.

512 if the Landlord elects not to rebuild or reinstaie the Premises, the Landlord shall be

solely entitled to zil the insurance moneys.

SECTION 6.0 - VAT INVOICE %

6.1 VAT fnvoice

The Landlord shall provide a VAT invaice to the Tenant in Tespect of any VAT payable under
Clause 3.2.

13
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SECTION 7.0 - PROVISOS AND MATTERS AGREED

Forfeiture

in the event that any material covenant on the Tepant's part herein contained shall not be.

observed or performed or the Tenant being a company shall permit or suffer ‘o be appointed
a receiver over iis assets or any part thereof then and In any of the salid cases and at any time
thereafter it shall be lawful for the Landlord or any person or persons authorised by the Landlord
te enter upon the Premises or any part thereof in the name of the whole and to repossess the
same and enjoy the same as if this Agreement had not been executed but without prejudice to
any right of action or remedy of either party in respect of any antecedent breach of any of the

covenants hy the other herein contained,
Continuance of Term

Unless this Agresment is earlier determined the Tenant shali vacate the Premises on the
Expiry Date and in any event no later than 30 September 2014 PROVIDED HOWEVER
notwithstending the foregoing the parties may, by prior written agreement (same to be
entered into befove the Expiry Date), agree to extend the Term beyond such date and in so
doing shail set out in writing the terms and conditicns on which the Tenant may remain in

possession after the Expiry Date.
No Warranty

Nothing in this Agreement shalf be deemed to constifute any warranty by the Landlord that
the Premises or any part thereof are authorised under the Planning Acts or otherwise for use

for any specific purpose.
Notices

Any notice or other communication whether required or permitted to be given hereunder shal
be given In writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered by hand against
receipt of the addressee or his duly authorised agent or if transmitted by telex or sent by
prepaid registered post addressed o the party to whom such nofice Is fo be given at the
address set out for such party herein (or such other address as such party may from time to
time designate in writing to the other party hereto in accordance with the provisions of this
Clause). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered at the tme of
delivery if transmitted by telex at the time of transmission and if sent by prepaid registered

post as aforesaid forly eight hours after the same shall have been posted.

IN WITNESS WHERECF the Landlord and the Tenant have entered into this Agreement the day and

year first harein written.
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SCHEDULE

The Premises

ALL THAT AND THOSE the premises and hereditaments known as Clerys Department Store situate

{1 R R

at Lower O'Connell Streei/North Earl SkreetMartborough Street, Dublin 1 as more particularly shown
for identification purpeses onty on the maps attached hereto and thereon edged I red {excluding the
properties known as 36 & 97 Mariborough Skreet shown cross-hatched on the said map).
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RES ENT when lhe ¢ornmon seal
OCS SROPCRTIES LIMITED
'-afﬁXed hereio:

Signature

s
f

TF
Pnnt name

.R_ESENT when the common seal
0CS OPERATIONS LIMITED-

ja affixed hereto: [,/f‘“ 7 /V a /’ Mﬁ——ﬁ.

S__ignat.ure 7

S . L

- #

[ .

-, i :
LTl tlacas
Frinl name: { ,/

J,‘_""_.u-—‘r'-,'.

Signature.

Flaspt,  age s

Print name

WF-4482090-v8
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Stamp Certificate

1260706624
1240216192-5ED1-031012-P

€ 1,800.00
€ 0.00
€ 1,800.00

cution of Instrument: 03/10/20142

0OCS PROPERTIES LIMITED

OCS OPERATIONS UMTED

Clerys Depariment Stare, Lwr O'Connell BUNth Ear St

Mon Resldential: Rent: € 180,000.00 Duty: € 1,800.00

Date Issued:

Haliée Humber

10/10f2012

A711ES2T-4T9600
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QCS PROPERTIES LIMITED

OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

PEED OF VARIATION
of

Short Term Letting Agreement in respect of Clerys Department Store, Dublin 1

William Fry
Solicitors
Fitzwilton House
Wilton Place
Dublin 2
www. williamfry.ie

© William Fry 2013

021948.0009.RMS
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THIS AGREEMENT is made an

Q.‘i :Ianuw"”(\ 20{ 3

BETWEEN:

OGS PROPERTIES LIMITED

Cempany registration number 516502

having its registered office at

First Floor, Fitzwilton House, Wilton Place, Dublin 2
(nereinafter called the "L andlord™)

-and -

OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

Company registration nurmber 516503

having its registered office at

First Floor, Fitzwilton House, Wilton Place, Dublin 2
(hereinafler called the "Tenant")

RECITALS:

A,

By Short Term Letting Agreement dated 3 October 2012 {the "Agresment"} and made between
{1) the Landlard and (2) the Tanant, the nroperty known as Clerys Department Store situate at
O'Connell StreetNorth Earl Street/Marlborough Strest, Dublin 1, as more particularly
described in the Agreement, was demised onto the Tenant for a serm of two (2) years from 17
Septernber 2012.

This deed is supplemental to the Agreement.

The Landlord and the Tenant have agreed to vary the terms of the Agreement in the mannes
hereinafter appearing.

NOW THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH AND IT 1S HEREBY MUTUALLY AGREED as follows:

Expiry Date

The definition at clause 1.1.1 of the Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the
following new clause 1.1.1;

‘111 *Expiry Date", 16 March 2015;"
Term

The definition at Clause 1.1.10 shall be deleted and replaced with the following new clause
1.4.10:

#




“Term”, the term created by this Agreement being a pearicd of thirty (30)

months from the Term Commencement Date;”

3. Continuance of Term
Clause 7.2 of the Agreement shali be deleted in its entirety.

4, General

Save as varied by this deed the lLandlord and the Tenant confirm the terms, covenants and
conditions of the Agreement in its entirety and confirm that the Agreement shall continue in

full force and effect in all other respects.

o IN WITNESS whereof the parties have entered into this deed an the date specified above.

o X
B




GIVEN under the common seal
of OCS PROPERTIES LIMITED
AND DELIVERED AS A DEED:

GIVEN under the common seal
of QCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
AND DELIVERED AS A DEED:

WE-4844871-v2

br 2

Signature

T8 reatcE

Pl‘inthm/’,/

Si@paﬁJre e
M- Mach uli

Print nama !

Signature

T3 (emecE

Print name

// g

Sigpatlire .~ ,

m: Mﬂ—cawbﬁ_j/ '

Print name
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SHARE/
STOCK {Abova this line for Registrar’s use only)
TRANSFER ] ] .
FORM Certificate lodged with the Registrar i

Consideration; €1

(for completion by the Registrar / Stock Fxchanga)

Name of Undertaking, OCS Operations Limited (Company Number 516503)

Description of Security, ORDINARY SHARES

Number or améuut of Shares, | Words Figures

Stock or other security and, in )

figures colurun only, number | One Hundred Ordinary Shares of 100 Ordinary Shares of €1 each
and denomination of units, if :
axy.

Names(s of  registered
hnlder((s)) should be gim in |OCS Investment Holdings Limited ‘
full; the address should be [25-28 North Wall Quay |
given where there is only ore [Pyiplin | ’
holder.

If the transfer is not made by
the registered holder(s) insert
also the name{s) and capacity
(e.g. Executor(s)) of the

person(s) making the transfer. .
I/We hereby transfer the above security cut of the name(s) aforesaid to the person(s) Stamp of Selling Broker(s) or, for transactions which
named helow are not stook exchange transactions of Agent(s), if
' any acting for the Transferor(s)

Delete words in italics except foi' stock exchange fransactions.

T _'.,‘; \"- & body corporate should execute this Transfer under its common seal or otherwise in | Date: {1 / 6 /;Z O/ <
’ -_accordance with applicable statutory requirements. . t

Full name(s) and fail postal -
address(es) (including Connty JAMES BRYDIE

or, if applicabls, Postal 10 Kingsmere Road
District nuwmber) of the {London

person(s) to whom the |gW196PX

security is transferred.

Please state title, if any, or
whethoer Mr., Mrs., or Miss.

Please complete in type or in
block capitals.

I/We request that such entries be made in the register as are necessary to give effect to this transfer,

Stamp of Buying Broker(s) (if any) Stamp or name and address of person lodging this form
(if other than the Buying Broker(s))

Reference to the Registrar in this form means the Registration Agent of the undertaking, NOT the Registrar of Companies,

Error! Unknown docwment property name. Ervor! Unknown doctunent property naire.




{Endorsement for use oaly in Stock Exchange Transactions)
‘The security represented by the transfer overleaf has been sold as follows:-

Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
............................ Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
............................ Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
Shares/Stock Shares/Stock
Shares/Stock Shares/Stock

Balance (if any) due to Selling Broker(s)

Amount of Certificate(s)

Brokers Transfer Forms for above amounts certified
Stamp of certifying Stock Exchange Stamp of Selling Broker{s)

FORM OF CERTIFICATE REQUIRED WIERE TRANSFER. IS NOT LIABLE TO AD VALOREM STAMP
DUTY

I'We hereby certify that the transaction in respect of which this transfer is made, and under which the fixed Duty of €12 is payable, falls
within the following description:- .

{a) Vesting the property in trustees on the appointment of a new Trustee of a pre-existing Trust, or on the retfrement of 2 Trustee,
{(*){b) A transfer, where no heneficial interest in the property passes, (i) to 2 mere nominee of the Transferor, (ii) from a mere nominee of
- +74% the Transferee, (ifi) from ofle fomines to-anothier nominee of the same beneficial owner. ~~ - o
(*) (c) A Transfer by way of security for a loan; or re-transfer to the original Transferor on repayment of a loan.

{(d) A tramsfer to a residuary legates of Shares, otc., which forms part of the residue divisible under a ‘Will,

(e) A transfer to & beneficiary under a will of a specific legacy of Shares, ete,

(D A transfer of Shares, etc. being the property of a person dying intestate, to the person or persons entitled thereto,

{g) A transfer to a beneficiary wnder a settlement on distribution of the trust funds, of Shares, ete., forming the share, or part of the
share of those funds o which the beneficiary is entitled in aceordance with the terms of the settfement.

(h) A transfer on the occasion of a marriage 1o trustees of shares, etc., to be held on the terms of a settlement made in consideration of
marriage.

(i) A tmnsfer by the liquidator of a Company of Shares, etc., forming part of the assets of the Company, to which the Transferee is
entitled in satisfaction or part satisfiction of his rights as a shareholder of the Company,

1t is hereby certified that the transaction effected by this instrument does not form part of a larger transaction or a seres of transactions

in respect of which the amount or value, or the aggregate amount or value, of the consideration which is attributable to stocks or
marketable securities exceeds €1,000

Here set out concisely the
facts, explaining the
transaction in cases falling
within (b} and (¢} or in.
any case whichdoes ot~ .o
clearly fall within any one Date.
of the clauses (a) to (g). Traosferoms Transferees
Adjndication in any case
may be required,

*NOTE- The above Certificate must b signed in the case of (b} or (c) either by (1) all the iransferors and transferees, or (2) a member of a
Stock Exchange or a Solicitor acting for one or other of the parties, or (3) an accredited representative of 8 Bank, Where the hank or its
official nominee is a party to the transfer, the above Certificate may be to the effect that “the transfer is excepted from Section 74 of the

Finance (1909-10) Act, 1910.” The above Certificate in other cases shonld be signed by a Solicitor or other person (e.g. a Bank acting ag
Trustee or Executor) having a full knowledge of the facts.

Error! Unknows docutieent property name.Error! Unknown document property name.
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
(the "Company”)

Minutes of a Meeting of the Board Of Directors

of the above named Compan .
heldat 2$-28 redth Wed/ Quuey, Pty bei 3
on /2 Vune 2015

at /, #Samfpr

PRESENT: Rafael Klotz {by telephone)
Malcolm MacAulay

IN ATTENDANCE:

1. Chairman

3.1

3.2

3.3

5.1

52

M #lac Hulettf took the chair (the “Chairman).
Quorum

It was noted that a quorum was present and that the meeting was duly convened in
accordance with the Company's articles of association.

Matters Concerning Directors

The Chairman informed the meeting that no person who is the subject of a declaration under
Section 819(1) of the Companies Act 2014 (the "Act") or section 150 of the Companies
{Amendment) Act 1990 was appointed or has acted in any way, directly or indirectly, as a
director or the secretary of the Company.

Those Directors preseni and having an interest directly or indirectly in the business to be
transacted at the meeting declared their interests in accordance with Section 231 of the Act
and the Articles of Association of the Company. These declarations of interests were noted
by the board and the company secretary was requested to note the same in the register
maintained for that purpose.

It was further noted that pursuant to section 137 of the Act, at least one of the directors of the
Company was resident in the State and that each director present did not individually hold
more than 25 directorships for the purposes of section 142 of the Act and was therefore
eligible to vote on all board reselutions brought before the meeting.

Purpose of the Meeting

The Chairman explained that the purpose of the meeting was to consider and, if thought
appropriate, approve certain matters in relation to the sale of the entire issued share capital
of the Company's sole shareholider, OCS Investrent Holdings Limited, pursuant to the terms
of a share purchase agreement between (1) Gordon Brothers International LLC and (2)
Natriumn Limited (the "Share Purchase Agreement”) (the “Transaction”)

Appointment of Directors and Secretary

IT WAS RESOLVED THAT Brendan Coaney and James Brydie (each having consented to

act) be and are hereby appointed as directors of the Company with effect from the end of the--
meeting.

IT WAS RESOLVED THAT Brendan Cooney be appéinted as secretary of the Company
with effect from the end of the meeting.




6.1

6.2

7.1

7.2

10.

Banking Arrangements

There was produced to the meeting updated bank mandates relating to the Company’s bank
account with Bank of Ireland (the “Bank™) (including the appointment of the new directors as
authorised signatories in all dealings with the Bank). IT WAS RESOLVED THAT the updated
bank mandates be approved and that any director be authorised to sign the on behalf of the
Company.

IT WAS RESOLVED THAT the resoluticn set out in the said bank mandate (a copy of which
is attached fo these minutes) be adopted as a resclution of the directors. The secretary of
the Company was instructed fo send the requisite documents to the Bank.

Resignation of Directors and Secretary

There was produced to the meeting letters of resignation of Rafael Klotz and Malcolm
MacAulay as directors of the Company and IT WAS RESOLVED THAT such resignations be
accepted with effect from the end-of the meeting.

Further, there was produced fo the meeting letters of resignation of Malcolm MacAulay and
Wilton Secretarial Limited as joint secretaries of the Company and IT WAS RESOLVED
THAT such resignations be accepted with effect from the end of the meeting.

Registerad Office

IT WAS RESOLVED THAT the registered oifice of the Company be changed to 25-28 North
Wall Quay, bBublin 1.

Filings

IT WAS RESOLVED THAT the company secretary be instructed to make all returns,
registrations and filings, and to do or to arrange for the doing of, all such other acts and
things as might be necessary or desirable in order o give effect to all of the foregoing
resolutions. _

Termination of Meeting

There being no fusther business the meeting then terminated.

WF-12861643-1
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QCS OPERATICNS LIMITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IST FEBRUARY 2014

GRANT THORNTON
Charlered Accountants & Registered Anditor
24 -26 City Quay
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PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 ¥O 18T FEBRUARY 2614
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

OFFICERS AND PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS

The board of directors Malcoim MacLennan MacAulay
Fraser James Pearce (resigned 7% March 2014)
Rafset Klotz (appointed 79 March 2014}

Company secretary Malcolm MacLennan MacAulay

Registered office 1st Flnor
Fitzwilliam House
Wilton Place
Dubiin 2

Auditor Grant Thomton
Chartered Accountanis
& Repistered Auditor
24 - 26 City Quay
Dublin 2

Bankers ' Bank of Treland
2 College Green
Dublin 2

Solicitors William Fry
Fitzwilton House
Wilton Place
Dublin 2
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
DIRECTORS' REPORT

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO 1ST FEBRUARY 2014

The direciors present their report and the financial statements of the company for the period from
16th August 2012 to 15t February 2014.

INCORPORATION

'The compary was incorporated on the 16th August 2012,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the company during the period was the operation of 2 retail depariment store, Clerys.
The business was acquired on 17th September 3012 and comprises a mix of concessionaire and own-bought
departments. The store was closed due to flooding on 25th July 2013 and, afler complete refurbishment, re-opened
far business on 21st November 2013,

The directors acknowledge the contribution of management and siaff to the significant changes which have taken
place during the peried, and wonld like to thank them for their continued hard work, loyalty and commitment to
Clerys. The company is commined to fulfilling its cotporate social responsibilities through dealing with its
customers, staff, concession partners and suppliers on a \egal, ethical, fair and sustainable basis.

The directors are satisfied with the results of the company for the period under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results for the period are set out in the company profit and loss account on page 7. The directors have not
recommended a dividend.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The directors consider that the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the company are in the following
categories:

Economic risk
The health and continued recovery of the Irish economy.

The health and resilience of the retail sector, as disposable income, consumer confidence and consumer spending
recover from the impact of austerity measures, unemployment and emigration.

['he health of the Dublin City Centre trading environmest and quality of the experience for custemers, including
the management and continued impact of major transport infrastructure works in progress.

Property dumage and business continuity risks.

These tisks are managed through strict cost controls, adequate inshrance cover, and active engagement with
Dublin City Couneil, Government departments, Retatl Irzland and Retail Excellence Ireland.

Competitor risk
"The extent of competition in Dublin City Centre, from suburhan and regional shopping centres, and from onlina
trading.

The ability o introduce and develop new brands and corcessions on commercial terms,

These risks are managed through close attention to changes in custemer demands, competition and service levels;
and through the continued development of our store, our people and our brand,
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
DIRECTORS' REPORT (contimyed)

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO IST FEBRUARY 2014

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Financial risk
The company's operaiions expose it to a variety of normal financial risks, including liguidity, foreign exchange,
credit and interest rate risk,

These risks are managed threugh a risk management prograimme, including budgetary and financial control,
detailed cash management and forecasting tools, and key performance indicators.

FINANCIAL SITUATION

The auditors have repuried on page 6 that a financial sitvation existed on 1st February 2014 which under Section
40(1) of the Companies {(Amendment} Act, 1983 would require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting
of the company. The company intends to convene this meeting on the same date as the annual general meeting 1o
adopt the financial statements for the period ended 1st February 2014,

GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis becaunse the financing facitities from its
parent compary, OCS Investment Holdings Limited, are not required to be repaid until September 2016. This
should enable the company to meet its debts as they fall due. Consequently, the directors consider it appropriate to
prepare the company's financial statements on a going concern basis,

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE PERIOD END
‘There have been no significant events affecting the company since the period end,

THE DIRECTORS AND SECRETARY AND THEIR INTERESTS IN THE SHARES OF THE PARENT
COMPANY

The directors and se¢retary who served the company during the period together with their beneficial interests in the
shares of the parent company were as fojlows:

At At

I February 2014 15 Augnst 2012
or later date

of appointment

Maleolm MacLennan
MacAulay (Appointed 16th Augusi 2012) -
Fraser James Pearce (Appointed 16th August 2012) -

e

Rafael Klotz was appointed as a director on 7th March 2014,
Fraser James Pearce resigned as a dircctor on 7th March 2014,



OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
0CS OPERATIONS LIMITED FOR THE PERICD FROM
16TH AUGUST 1012 T¢ 1ST FEBRUARY 2014

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable Irish law and Generally Accepted Actounting Practice in Ireland including the accounting standards
issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promuigated by The Institute of Chartered Accountants in reland.

[rish company Yaw requires the directors to prepare financinl stalements for each financial peried which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing these [inancial staiements, the directors are required 10!
celect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasorable and prudent; and

prepare the financial statéments ob the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 1o presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements,

The directors are responsible for keeping proper books of aceount that disclose with reasonakble accuracy al any
time the financial position of the company and enable themt to ensure that the financial statéments are prepared in
accordance with accouniing standards generally aceepted in Ireland and comply with the Companies Acts, 1963 to
2013, The directors are alse responsibie for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for laking
reasanable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

BOOKS OF ACCOUNT

The directors believe Lhat they have complied with the requirements of Section 202 of the Companies Act, 1990
with regard to books of account by employing a person with appropriate cxpertise and by providing adequate
resources to the financial function. The books of account are held at the company's premises at 18-27 Lower
O'Connell Street, Dublin 2,

AUDITOR

Grant ‘Thornton were appainted auditor during the year, and will continue in office in accordance with the
Companies Act 1963, section 160(2).

Registered office: Signed on behalf of the directors

1st Ficor
Fitzwilliam House
Wilton Place

Dublin 2
Malcolm MacLennan MocAuiay Rafael Klotz
Directar Director

Approved by the directors on L0® Scptember 2014,
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TQ THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED FOR THE PERIOD FROM
16T AUGUST 2012 TO 15T FEBRUARY 2014

We have audited the financial statements of OCS Operations Limited for the period flom 16th August 2012 to
1st February 2014 which comptise the Profit and Loss Account, Balance Sheet, Cash Flow Statement, Accouniing
Policizs and the related notes, The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish
law and accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promulgated by the Institute of
Chattered Accowtants in Ireland {Generaily Accepled Accounting Practice in lreland).

‘This Teport is made solely to (he company's shareholders, as a bady, in accordance with Section 153 of the
Companies Act, 1990. Our awdit work has besn undertaken so that we might state io the company's sharcholders
those matters we are required to state to thers in an auditor’s report and for ne other purpose. Teo the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone othar than the company and the company's
shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RESFECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on pages 4 to 5, the directors are
tesponsible for the preparation of the financial statements giving a troe and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit
and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and International Standards on
Auditing (LK and freland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical
Qtandards for Auditors.

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statemnents sufticient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are fres from material misstatement, whether caused by

fraud or error. This includes an 2ssessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s -

circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the direclors; and the overall presentation of the finatcial statements, In addition,
we read all the financial and son-finaneial infermation in the annual report to identify materiel inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements, 1f we become aware of any apparent malerial misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report,

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinion the financial statements:

= give a rue and fair view, in accordance with Generally Aceepted Accounting Practice in Ireland of the state
of the company's affairs as at 1st February 2014 and of s loss for the period then ended; and

- have been properly prepared in accordance with the reguirernents of the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2013.
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0CS OPERATIONS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED FOR THE PERIOD FROM
16TH AUGUST 2012 TO ST FEBRUARY 2014 feantinyed)

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRER TO REPORT BY THE COMPANIES ACTS,
1963 TO 2013

e we have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our
audit.

e  in our opinion, proper books ol account have been kept by the company.
@ the financial statements are in agreement with the books of account.

s in our opinion the information given in the Directors' Repott on pages 7 to 4 is consistent with the financial
statements.

“ the Balance Sheet shows an eXcess of lisbilities over assets and in our opinion, on that basis there did exist at,
1st February 2014 a financial situation which under Section 40(1} of the Companies (Amendment) Act,
1983 may require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the company.

MATTERS ON WHICKH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions of the Companies Ack, 1963 to 20

report to you if, In vur opinion, the disciosures of directors’ r munerati
made.

AIDAN CONNATG

For and on behalf of

GRANT THORNTON

24 - 26 City Quay Chartered Accountants
Dublin 2 & Registered Auditor

10" September 2014
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO 1ST FEBRUARY 2814

Period from
16 Aug 12 to

1 Feb 14

Note €

TURNOVER I 16/435,169
Cost of sales (7,018,997
GROSS PROFIT 9,416,172
Distribution costs (1,539,219)
Administrative expenses {12,821,413)
Other operating income 2 2,047,251
R OPERATING LOSS 3 (2,897,200)

Attributable to:

Operating loss before exceptional items (2,065,780)
Exceptional items l {831,429
(2,807,209}

Profit on disposat of fixed assets 5 212,025
Interest payable and similar charges 6 (5)
LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION ' (2,085,189
Tax on loss on ordinary activiries ’ 7 _
LOSS FORR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD (2,085,189)

All of the activities of the company are classed as continuing.

‘The company has no recognised gains or losses other than the results for the
period as set out ahove.

‘These financial stalements were approved by the directors on the 10" September 2014 and ave signed on their

behalf by:
Maleolm MacLennan MacAulay Rafael Klotz
Divector Director

The accouniing palicies and notes on pages 18 to 19 form part of these Mnanciul statements.

-7



OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET

LST FEBRUARY 2014

Neote
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets 3
Tangible assets 9
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks [1H]
Debtors i1
C'ash at bank and in hand
CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year 12
NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
CREDITORS: Amonnts falling due after more than one year 13
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called-up equity share capital 16
Profit and loss account
DEFICIT 17

1,738,156
2,448,508
2,436,616

6,613,280
(4,531,108)

I Feb 14
€

50,002
1,369,426

1,419,428

2,002,172
3,511,600
(5,596,689)
(2,085,089)

100
(2,085,189)

{2,085,089)

These accounts were approved by the directors and authorised for issue on 10" September 2014, and are signed on

their behalf by:
palcolm MacLennan MacAulay Rafael Klotz
Director Director

The accounting policies and notes on pages 10 to 19 form part of €

-8-

hese financial stalements.
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2042 TO IST FEBRUARY 2014

Node
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES i3
RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE 18
TAXATION 13

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCEAL INVESTMENT 18

CASH OUTFLOW BEFORE FINANCING

FINANCING 18

INCREASE IN CASH 18

Period from
16 Aug 12 to
{ Feb 14

€

€
(2,542,424}
(3)
(H
(618,343}

(3,160,773)

5,596,789

2,436,016

Yhe accounting pulicies and aotes on pages 10 to 19 form part of these¢ financial statements.

-9
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PERIOT FROM 16TH AUGUST 201270 15T FEBRUARY 2014

Rasis of accounting

The finansial statements are prepared in accordance witk generally accepted aceounting principles under the
historical cost convention and comply with financlal reponting standards of the Financial Reporting Council, as
promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland, and Irish statute comprising the Companies
Acts, 1963 to 2013,

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concemn besis because the financing facilities from its
parent company, OCS Investment Holdings Limited, are not required te be repaid uniil Sepiember 2016. This
shauld enable the company to meet its debfs as they fall due. Consequently, the directors consider it appropriate to
prepare the company's financial stafements on a going concern basis,

Furnover

Tumovet represents sales of goods to customers fess an appropriate deduction for actual returns and discounts and
includes net income eamed from congessionaries. Tumover is recognised on delivery of the related goods to the
customer. Income eamed from concessionarics is recognised in furnover as eamed. Income eamed from gift
vouchers is recognised when the vouchers are presented or exchanged for goods.

Deposits are treated as deferred income until the complete order is delivered in full 1o the customer.

Goodwill

Pogitive purchased goodwill arising o acquisitions is capitalised, classified as an asset on the Balance Sheet and
amortised over its useful economic life. Where a reliable estimate of the useful life of goodwill or intangible assets
cannot be made, the life is presumed not to exceed five years. Useful economic lives are reviewed at the end of
cach reporting period and revised if necessary, stbjeet to the constraint thai the revised life shal} not exceed 20
years from the dale of acquisition. The carrying amount at the date of revision is depreciated over the revised
estimate of remaining useful economie life.

Fixed assets

All lixed assets are initially recorded &t cost,

Deprecialion

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of an asset, Jess its estimated residual value, over the useful
econotmic life of that asset as follows!

Fixtures & Fitings - FYears
Computer Equipment - 7 Years

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Stocks

Stacks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, atter making due allowance for absolete and slow
moving items.

-10-
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES feonsinued)

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO 15T FEBRUARY 2014

Operaiing lense agreements

Rentals applicable to operaling leases where substantinlly all of the benefits and risks of ownership Temain with the
lessor are charged against profits ona straight line basis aver the period of the lease.

Peasion cosis

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for employees. The assets uf the scheme are held
separately from these of the company. The annual contributions payable are charged to the profit and loss account.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of alf timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance
sheet date where ransactions or events have ocourred at that date that wit! result in an obligation to pay more, ora
right to pay less or 1o receive more lax, with the following exceptions:

Pravision s made for tax on gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments) of fixed
assets, and gains on disposal of Fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets, only to the extent
that, at the balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement to dispose of the assels concerned. However, no
provision js made where, an the basis of all available evidence at the balance sheet date, it is more likely than
ot that the taxable pgain will be rolled over into replacement assets and charged to fax only where the
replacement assets are sold,

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider that it is more iikely than not that
there will be suitable taxable profits from which the fisture reversal of the underlying timing differences can be
deducted,

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the {ax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
timing differences reverss, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Foreign currencies

Assets and Viabilities in foreign curencies are transiated into Euro af the rates of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date, Transactions in foreign currencies are transiated into Sure at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of
\he transaction. Exchange differences are taken into account in arriving at the operating profit

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified and acconnted for, according Lo Lhe substance of the contractual arrangement,

45 either financial assets, financial Hiabilities or equity instruments. An equity instrument is any contract ihat
evidences a residual interest in the assels of the company afier deducting all of its liabilities.
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO IST FEBRUARY 2014

TURNOVER
The turnover and loss before tax are attributable t the one principal activity ol the company.

An analysis of turnover is given below:

Perind from
16 Aug 12 to
1 Feb 14

€

Rzpublic of Ireland 5,435,169

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Period fram
16 Aug (2 to
1 Feb 14

€

Cther operating income 2,047,251

Included within other operating income is insurance proceeds received amounting to €2,027 ,000 in respect
of business interruption for the flood that accurred during the period.

OPERATING LOSS

Qperating loss is stated after charging/(crediting):

Period from
16 Aug 12 fo
I Feb 14
€
Depreciation of owned fixed assets 69,961
Auditor's remuneration
- as auditor 57,000
Operating lease costs:
- Other 235,000
Met profis on foreign currency translation (7,755)
Exceptional lems 831,429

The company incurred exceptional costs in Telation to commencement and operation of trading activities.
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO 1ST FEBRUARY 2014

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES
The average number of staff employed by the company during the [inancial period amounted to:

Teriod (rom
16 Ang 12 te
| Feb 14

No

Number of administralive staff 100
Wumber of management siaff 13
133

The aggregate payroll costs of the abuve were:

Period from
i6 Aug 12 to
1 Feb t4

€

Wages and salaries 5,457,820
Social welfare costs 441.734
Other pension costs 59,732

5,999,286

PROFIT OM DISPOSAL OF FIXED ASSETS

Period from
16 Aug 12 to
t Feb 14

€

Profit on disposal of fixed assets 812,025

et

The profit on disposal arose as a resolt of insurance proceeds received in excess of the net book value of
assels destroyed.
INTEREST PAY ABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES
Period from
16 Aug 12 to
1 Feb 14
€

Bank interest 5
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOP FROM 16TH AUGUST 2612 TO IST FEBRUARY 2014

8.

TAXATION ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Factors affecting current tax charge

The tax assessed on the loss on ordinary activities for the period is higher than the standard rate of
corporation tax in Treland of 12.50%.

Period from
i6 Aug 12 to
I Febr 14
€
Loss on ordinary aclivities before taxation (2,083,189
Loss on ordinary activities by rate of tax (260,649}
Expenses not deduciible for {ax purposes 209,888
Timing differences 2068
Tax Josses camied forward for use in future years 81,956
Income not subject to tax (101,503}
Ciroup refief surrendered 70,100

Total current tax

Factors thad may affect future tax charges
A deferred tax asset of €100,223 has not been recognised as the directors adapt a conservative approach on

the basis that it is more likely than not that there will be no suitable mxable profits under which it can be
recovered for the foresecable future.

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Intellectual Property

€
COST
Additions 50,002
At 1st February 2014 50,002
NET BOCK VALUE
At 15t February 2014 50,002
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Carried
forward
Additions Disposals I Feb 14
€ € €
COST
Fixtures & Fittings 1,396,361 {26%,357) 1,127,004
Computer Equipment 193,16% - 293,169

1,689,530 (260,357 1,420,173

“14-
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO 18T FERRUARY 2014

10.

1.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (continued)

Carried
forward
Charges Disposals I Feb 14
€ € €
DEPRECIATION
Fixtures & Fittings : 59,491 {19.214) 40,277
Computer Equipment 10,470 - 10,470
69,961 (19,214) 50,747
Carried
forward
1 Feb 14
€
NET BOOK YALUE
Fixtures & Fittings 1,086,727
Computer Equipment 282,699
1,359,426
STOCKS
{ Feb t4
€
Finished poods 1,738,756
DPEBTORS
t Feb 14
€
Amounts owed by group undertakings 885,455
Corporation tax repayable 1
Other debtors 1,513,405
Prepayments and accrued income 49,647
2,448,508




OCS GPERATIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TG IST FEBRUARY 2014

12. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

| Feb 14
€ €
Trade creditors 2415,162
Other creditors including taxation and social welfare:
PAYE and social welfare 165,419
VAT 464,487
Other creditors 405,870
1,035,776
Accruals and deferred income 1,080,170
4,531,108
13. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due afler more than one year
1 Feb 14
€
Amounts owed to group undertakings 5,596,689

14, PENSIGNS

The company operates a defined contribution pensien scheme for all employees. The assets of the scheme
are held separately to the assets of the company. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the Profit and
Loss Account as they become payable. The charge for the peried is showt in note 3 of the financial
statements and at the period end the company had an accrual in sespect of this scheme amounting te €13,700

(2013: €NiI).

15, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
‘The company has foken advantage of the exemption conferred by FRS 8 ("Related party disclosures") not to
disclose transactions with members of the group headed by OCS Investment Holdings Limited on the

o grounds that 100% of the voting rights are controlled within that group.

Included within consultancy fees are invoices amonnting to €88,537 owing to Gordon Brothers International
LLC for services rendered during the period, The balance owing at the period end is €Nil.

16, SHARE CAPI¥AL

Authorised share capitak:

1 Feb 14
€

1,000,000 Ordinary shares of €1 each 1,300,000

- 16-
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2612 TO IST FEBRUARY 2014

16.

7.

18.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued}
Allotted, called wp and fully paid:

No £
Ordinary shares of €1 each 100 100

—

In the current year OCS Operations Limited issued 100 ordinary shares of €1 each at par for cash
considesation. The proceeds were used for working capital purposes,

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

1 Feb 14
€
Losz for the financial period (2,085,189)
New ordinary share capital subscribed 100
et reduction to shareholders’ funds (2,085,089)
Closing shareholders' deficit (2,085,089
NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH QUTFLOW FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
' Period from
16 Aug I2to
1 Feb 14
€
Operating loss (2,897 .209)
Depreciation 69,961
Increase in stocks (1,738,756}
Increase in debtors (2,448,507)
Increase in creditors 4,472,087
Net cash outflaw from eperating activities (2,542,424)

[

RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE

Period from

16 Aug 1210
E Feb 14
€
Interest paid {5}
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance ”[—5)
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO IST FEBRUARY 2014

18, NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT (comtinued)

TAXATION
Period from
16 Auvg 12 to
1 Feb 14
€
Taxation (1
CAPITAL EXPERDITURE
Period from
16 Ang 12 (o
1 Feb i4
€
Paymenis fc acquire intangible fixed assets (50,002}
Payments 10 acquire tmgible fixed assets (1,630,509}
Receipts from disposal of fixed assets 1,062,168
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure (618,343)
FINANCING
Period from
16 Aug 12 to
1 Feb 14
€
Issue of equity share capital 100
Net inflows of amounts owed to group undertakings 5,596,689
Net cash inflow from financing 5,596,789
T RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT
‘ 1 Feb 14
€ €
Increase in cash in the period 2,436,016
Net cash (inflow) from amousnts owed to group underfakings (5,396,689)
(1,160,673}
Change in net debt (3,160,673)
Net funds at 16 August 2012 -
Net debt at | February 2014 (3,160,673)

- 18- -
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CCS OPFRATIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO 15T FEBRUARY 2014

NDTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)

AMALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT

At At
16 Aug 2012 Cashilows 1 Feb 2084
€ € €

Net cash:
Cash in hand and at bank - 2436016 2,436,016
Debt:
Debt due after | year - (5,556,68%)  (5,596,689)
Net debt - (3,160,673  (3,160,673)

ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of OCS Investment Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in freland, with its registered office at First Floor, Fitzwilton House, Wilton Place, Dublin 2. The company’s
ultimate parent company is Gordon Brothers Group LLC, & Limited Liability Company incorporated under
the laws of the State of Delaware whose registered office is at Prudential Tower, 300 Boylston Street, 27th

Floor, Boston, MA 02199, USA.

-19-




OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO IST FEBRUARY 2014

The following pages do not form part of the statutory financial statements
which are the subject of the independent auditor's report on pages 5 to 6.
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

PERIOD FROM 16TH AUGUST 2012 TO 15T FEBRUARY 2014

TURNGVER

COST OF SALES
Purchases

Closing stock - finished goods

GROSS PROFIT

OVERHEADS
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses

OTHER OFERATING INCOME
Other operating income

OPERATING LOSS

Profit on disposal of fixed assets

RBank interest
LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Period from

16 Aupg 12 to
1 Feb 14
€ €
16,435,169
(8,757,753)
1,738,756
(7,018,597}
9,416,172
{1,539,21%)
(12,821,413)
(14,360,632}
(4,944,460)
2,047,257
(2,897,209)
812,025
(2,085,184)
(5)
(2,085,189}
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OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

PERION FROM L6TH AUGUST 2012 TO IST FEBRUARY 2614

DISTRIBUTION COSTS
Freight and carriage
Advertising

Sales expenses

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Personnel costs

Wages and sataries

Employers PRSI

Staff pension contributions

Fstablishment expenses
Rent

Rates and water

Light and heat

Insurance

Recruitment and training
Repairs and maintenance
Security costs

IT costs

Cleaning of premises

Geners} expenses

Motor expenses

Travel and subsistence
Telephone

Printing, stationery and pustage
Other staff related expenses
Sundry expenses
Refurbishment costs
Subscriptions

Legal and professional fees
Consultancy fees

Auditors remuneration
Exceptional Items

Depreciation of fixtures and fiftings

Financial costs
Bunk charges
Foreign currency gains/losses

Period from
16 Aug 12 to
i Feb 14
€ €

87,392
1,419,525
32,302

1,539,219

s LI

5,457,820
441,734
99,732

5,999,286

235,000
1,006,33}
589,327
264,052
104,794
463,374
297,484
2,639
290,917

3,253,918

32,875
238,284
41,757
58,642
1671
56,472
26,042
17,059
1,008,390
1,075.204
57,000
831,429
69,961

3,574,736

1,178
(7.758)

(6,577)
12,821 413

272-
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OCS Operations Limited

Directots' report
For the petiod ended 31 January 2015

The ditectors present theit report and the financial statements for the yeat ended 31 Januaty 2015.
Principal activities and business review

The principal activity of the company duting the year was the operation of a retail department store, Cletys.

The business comptises a mix of concessionaire and own-bought depattments. The store was closed due to
flooding on 25th July 2013 and, after complete refurbishment, re-opened for business on 21st November 2013.

The ditectors acknowledge the contribution of management and staff and would like to thank them for their
continued hatd work, loyalty and commitment to Cletys. The company is committed to fulfilling its cotporate social
responsibilities theouph dealing with its customers, staff, concession pattners and suppliers on a legal, ethical, fair

and sustainable basts.

The directots are satisfied with the results of the company for the year under teview.
Resuits and dividends

| The loss for the petiod, after taxation, amounted to €1,158,530 (2014 - loss €3,147,357).
The ditectors have not recormmended a dividend.

Incorporation

The company was incorpotated on the 16th August 2012.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Economic tisk
The health and continued recovety of the Irish economy.

The health and resiliehce of the retail sector, as disposable income, consumer confidence and consumer spending
recover from the impact of austetity measures, unemployment and emigration,

The health of the Dublin City Centre trading envitonment and quality of the experience for customers, including
the management and continued impact of major transport infrastracture works in progress.

Property damage and business continuity risks
These tisks are managed through strict cost conttols, adequate insurance cover, and active engagement with Dublin
City Council, Government depattments, Retail Ireland and Retail Hxcellence Treland.

Competitor risk
The extent of competition in Dublin City Centre, from suburban and tegional shopping centees, and from online
trading,

The ability to inttoduce and develop new brands and concessions on commercial terms.

These tisks ate managed through close attention to changes in customer demands, competition and service levels;
and through the continued development of out store, our people and our brand.
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0OCS Operations Limited

Ditectots' repott
For the petiod ended 31 January 2015

Financial tisk
The company's operations expose it to a vatiety of normal financial risks, including liquidity, foreign exchange,
credit and interest rate risk.

These tisks are managed through a risk management progtamine, including budgetary and financial control, detailed
cash management and forecasting tools, and key performance indicatots.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. The fnancing facilities from its parent
comparny, OCS Investment Holdings Litnited, are not requited to be tepaid until September 2016. The company’s
ultimate parent, Gotdon Brothers Group LLC, has undertaken a strategic teview of its investment in OCS
Tnvestrment Holdings Limited, the company’s parent, in the normal course, This review has delivered a number of
expressions of interest in the business as a going concern and it is anticipated that 100% of the shares in OCS
Investment Holdings Limited will be sold on this basis. Comnsequently, the directors considet it apptopriate to
prepate the company’s financial statements on 2 going concern basis.

Events since the end of the year

The company’s ultimate patent, Gordon Brothers Group LLC, has undertaken a strategic review of its investment
in OCS Investment Holdings Limited, the company's immediate parent, in the normal course. This review has
delivered a number of exptessions of interest in the business as a going concern and it is anticipated that 100% of
the shates in OCS Investment Holdings Limited will be sold on this basis.

Directors
The directors who served duting the petiod wete:

Malcom Maclennan MacAulay
Draser James Pearce (resigned 7 March 2014)
Rafael Klotz (appointed 7 March 2014)

The directors and secretary did not hold any shates in the company or any othet group company during the yeat.
Accounting records

The measutes taken by the directots to ensure compliance with the requitements of Sections 281 to 285 of the
Companies Act 2014, regarding adequate accounting recotds, are the implementation of necessary policies and
procedutes for recording transactions, the employment of competent accounting personnel with appropriate
expettise and the provision of adequate resources to the financial function, The books of account of the company
are maintained at 18-27 Lower O'Connell Street, Dublin 2.
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0CS Operations Limited

Directots' tepott
For the period ended 31 Janoaty 2015

Audifors

The auditoss, Grant Thotaton, continue in office in accordance with section 383 of the Companies Act 2014,

This report was approved by the boatd and signed on its behalf.

) M Rafael Kiotz
Directr/ Director

Date: 11 June 2015

6th Floor
2 Grand Canal Square
Dublin 2
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OGS Operations Limited

Directors' report
Fo the petiod ended 31 Januaty 2015

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thoraion, continue in office in accordance with section 383 of the Companies Act 2014.

This report was apptoved by the board and signed on its behalf.

YTt L) FETLIITELE simmipmaRIER [TELLITT T N LT 4 b bbbl i [EITYrLIT]

Malcom MacLeanan MacAulay
Director

Date:
6th Floor

2 Grand Canal Squate
Dublin 2
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0CS Operations Limited

Directors' tesponsibilities statement
For the petiod ended 31 January 2015

The directors ate responsible for preparing the Directors' report and the financial statements in accordance with
Irish law and tegulations.

Irish company law tequires the directots to prepare financial statements giving a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities and financial position of the company and of the profit ot loss of the company for each financial year.
Under that law the ditectors have elected to prepate the financial statements in accordance with Irish Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promulpated
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and Trish law).

Ta preparing these financial statements, the ditectors ate required to:

] select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
® make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
® ptepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inapproptiate to presume that the

company will continue in business.

‘The ditectots are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records, that disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensute that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2014. They ate also tesponsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

On behalf of the boatd 11 June 2015

------------------- WakwAidERRAT TARLTINTIANRENNA

Rafael Klotz
Ditector
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OGS Operations Limited

Directors' responsibi]itics statement
For the pediod ended 31 January 2015

The directors ate respoasible for preparing the Ditectors' report and the finandal statements it accosdance with
Tiish law and regulatdons,

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements piving a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities 2nd financial position of the company and of the profit o loss of the company for each financial year.
Under that Jaw the ditectors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with Trish Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (accounting standards issued by the Financial Repotting Coundl and promulgated i
by the Tnstitute of Chartered Accountants in Treland 2nd Trish law). :

In preparing these financial statements, the directoss ate tequired fo:

® select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
® rake judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e prepate the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inapproptiate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The dizectors ate responsible for keeping adequate accounting records, that disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensute that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2014. They are also tesponsible fot safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulatities.

On behalf of the board

Malcom MacLennan MacAulay
Ditector
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Grant Thornton

Independent auditors' teport to the memberts of OCS
Operations Limited

We have audited the financial statements of OCS Opetations Timited for the petiod ended 31 January 2015, which
comptise the Profit and loss account, the Statement of total recognised gains and losses, the Balance sheet, the Cash
fiow statement and the related notes. The financial reposting framework that has been applied in theit prepatation is
Itish Jaw and accounting standatds issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promuigated by the Institute of
Chatteted Accountants in Treland (Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Treland).

This repott is made solely to the company's shateholders, as 2 body, in accotdance with Section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014. Our audit wotk has been undertaken so that we tnight state to the company's shareholders
those matters we are requited to state to them in an Auditors’ teport and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's
shareholders as a body, for out audit work, for this repott, ot for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained mote fully in the Directots' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements giving a true and fair view. Out tesponsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the
financial staternents in accordance with Itish Jaw and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
ceasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatetnent, whether caused by fraud or
etror. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are apptoptiate to the company's
citcumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we
read all the financial and non-financial information in the Directors' repott to identify material inconsistencies with
the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is appatently materially incortect based on, or
matetially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become
awate of any apparent material misstatements ot inconsistencies we consider the implications for out report.

Basis for qualified opinion on financial statements

The audit evidence available to us was limited because the present disectots of the company are not in a position to
provide visibility as to the continued financing atrangements of the company by prospective puschasers, which is
needed fo the assessment of the appropriateness of the going concern basis of prepatation of the financial
statements. Consequently, we are unable to take adequate steps to satisfy ourselves that it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis.
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. Grant Thornton

Independent auditors' report to the membess of OCS
Operations Limited

QOpinion on financial statements

Except fot the possible effects of the matter described in the basis fot qualified opinion paragtaph, in our opinion
the financial statements: '

o give a true and fair view, in accordance with Genetally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland, of the
assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31 Januaty 2015 and of its loss for the period
then ended; and

s have been propetly prepated in accordance with the requitements of the Companies Act, 2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act, 2014

o Except solely for the limitation on out work relating to the assessment of the approptiateness of the going
concern basis of prepatation of the financial statements, described above, we have cbtained all the
information and explanations which we consider necessary fot the putposes of our audit.

® In out opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to
be readily and propetly audited.

° The financial statements ate in agreement with the accounting recotds.

e In out opinion the information given in the Ditectors' tepot is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to repott in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act, 2014 which re to repott to
you if, in out opinion, the disclosutes of directoss' temu f d transactions specj w are\not made,

for and on behalf of

Grant Thorntan

Chartered Accountants

24 - 26 City Quay Registered Aunditors
Dublin 2

11 June 2015
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0CS Operations Limited

Profit and loss account
For the period ended 31 January 2015

Tutnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Distribution costs

Administrative expenses
Exceptional administrative expenses

Total administrative expenses

Other operating income

Opetating Joss

Exceptional items
Net loss on disposat of tangible fixed assets

Loss on otdinaty activities before interest

Interest payable and similat chatges

TLoss on ordinary activities before taxation

Tax on loss on ordinaty activities

Loss for the financial period

All amounis relate to continuing operations.

Signed on behalf of the boatd

Date: 11 June 2015

WNote

17

...............................

Rafael Klotz
Director

The notes on pages 11 to 22 form patt of these financial statements.

As restated

Petiod from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 February
2015 2014

€ €
12,714,170 16,435,169
(5,772,979) (7,018,997)
6,941,191 0,416,172
(892,091) (1,539,219)
(7,332,863) (11,989,984)
(40,000) (831,429)
(7,372,863) (12,821,413)
165,233 2,047,251
(1,158,530) (2,897,200)
- {250,143)
(1,158,530) (3,147,352)
- )
(1,158,530) (3,147,357)
(1,158,530) (3,147,357}

-----------------
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0CS Qperations Limited

Profit and loss account
For the petiod ended 31 January 2015

Turover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Disidbution costs

Administrative expenses
BExceptional administrative expenses

Total administrative expenses
Other operating income

Opetating loss

Exceptional items
Netloss on disposal of tangible fixed zsscts

T.oss on ordinary activities before integest
Intetest payable and similar chatges

Loss on ordinaty activities before taxation
"Tux on Joss on ordinaty activities

Loss for the financial period

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

Signed on behalf of the board

-------------------------------------- Tl

Malcolm MacLe:man MacAuley

Directot

Date:

The notes on pages 11 to 21 form part of these financizl statements.

As restated

Period from 16

Aug 201210

31 January 1 February

2015 2014

Note € £
2 12,714,170 16,435,169
(5,772,579) (7,018,997)

6,941,191 9,416,172

{892,091) (1,539,219)
(7,332,863) (11,989,984)

{40,000) (831,429

(1,372,863) (12,821,413)

3 165,233 2,047,251
4 (1,158,530) (2,897,209
- (250,143)

(1,158,530) {3,147,352)
6 - 0
(1,158,530) (3,147,357)
7 - -

17 (1,158,530) (3,147,357)
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OCS Operations Limited

Statement of total recognised gains and losses

For the period ended 31 January 2015

Loss for the financial period

Total tecognised gains and losses relating to the period

Priot year adjustment

Total gains and losses recognised since last financial
statements

The notes on pages 11 to 22 form patt of these financial statements.

Note

18

(2,220,698)

As restated

Petiod from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 February

2015 2014

£ €

(1,158,530) (3,147,357)
(1,158,530) (3,147,35T) '1

(1,062,168)
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OCS Operations Limited

Balance sheet
As at 31 January 2015

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets

Curtent assets

Stocks

Debtots

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
yeat

Net current {liabilities) /assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Ceeditors: amounts falling due after more
than one yeat

Net Habilities
Capital and resetves

Called up share capital

Profit and loss account

Shateholders' deficit

Signed on behalf of the board:

Date: 11 June 2015

Note

10
11

12

13

16
17

19

1,726,049
455,325
1,232,227

3,413,601

(9,029,163)

31 January
2015
€

50,002

1,259,773

1,309,775

(5,615,562)

(4,305,787)

(4,305,787)

100

(4,305,887)

(4,305,787)

As restated

1 February
2014
€ €
50,002
1,369,426
1,419,428
1,738,756
1,563,053
2,436,016
5,737,825
(4,707,821)
1,030,004
2,449,432
(5,596,680}
(3,147,257)
100
(3,147,357)
(3,147,257)

------------------------------------------------

Rafael Klotz
Ditector

The notes on pages 11 to 22 form pazt of these financial statements.
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OCS Operations Limited

Balance sheet
As at 31 Jannaary 2015

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets -

Cufrent assets

Stocks

Debtots

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditots: amounts falling due within one
yeat

Net current (liabilities)/assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditots: amounts falling due after more
than one yeat

Net Habilities
Capital and resetves

Called up share capital
Profit and loss account

Shareholders' deficit

Signed on behalf of the board:

aravra AukEAAREETEEPIdCRIVEIURRONRDER LLTTYFYITs "

Malcom MacLennan MacAulay
Director

Date;

Note

10
11

12

13

16
17

19

31 January
2015
€ €
50,002
1,259,773
1,309,775
1,726,049
455,325
1,232,227
3,413,601
(9,029,163)
(5,615,562)
(4,305,787)
(4,305,787)
100
(4,305,887)
{4,305,787)

The notes oa pages 11 to 21 form patt of these financial statements.

As restated

1 February
2014
€ €

50,002
1,360,426

1,419,428

1,738,756
1,563,053
2,436,016

—t—

5,737,825

(4,707,821)

1,030,004

2,449,432

(5,596,689)

(3,147,257)

100
(3,147,357)

(3,147,257)
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0CS Operations Limited

Cash flow statement
Fot the petiod ended 31 January 2015

Net cash flow from opetating activities

Returns on investments and setvicing of finance
Taxation

Capital expendirute and financial investment

Cash inflow/ (outflow) before financing

Financing

(Dectease)/Inctease in cash in the petiod

Note

20
21

21

21

As restated

Period from 16

Auvg 2012 to

31 January 1 February
2015 2014

€ £

308,351 (1,480,256)

- (5)

38 (0
(146,446) (1,680,511)
161,943 (3,160,773)
(1,365,732) 5,596,789
(1,203,789) 2,436,016

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds /debt

For the period ended 31 January 2015

(Dectease}/ Increase in cash in the period

Cash outflow from decrease in debt and lease financing

Movement in net debt in the period
Net debt at 2 Febtuary 2014

Net debt at 31 January 2015

The notes on pages 11 to 22 form part of these financial statements.

Petiod from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 February

2015 2014

€ €

(1,203,789) 2,436,016

1,365,732 (5,596,689)

161,943 (3,160,673)
(3,160,673) -

(2,998,730) {3,160,673)
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QCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 January 2015

1. Accounting policies
11 Basis of accounting

The finandial statements ate prepated in accordance with generally accepted accounting ptinciples
under the histotic cost convention and comply with the financial reporting standards of the Financial
Repotting Council, as promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Treland, and Irish
statute comptising the Companies Act 2014,

1.2 Going Concetn

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. The financing facilities from
its parent company, OCS Investment Holdings Limited, are not requited to be tepaid until September
2016. The company’s ultimate parent, Gordon Brothers Group LLC, has undertaken a stratepic review
of its investment in OCS Investment Holdings Limited, the company’s patent, in the normal coutse.
This teview has delivered 2 number of expressions of intetest in the business as a going concern and it
is anticipated that 100% of the shates in OCS Investment Holdings Timited will be sold on this basis.
Consequently, the directots consider it appropriate to prepare the company’s financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Tor the purposes of deciding to prepare the accounts on the going concern basis, the ditcetots of the
company have assumed that after any possible putchase adequate tesoutces will be put in place fot the
company to continue in operational existence for the foteseeable future. However, they ate notin a
position to provide visibility as to the continued financing arrangements of the company by prospective
purchasers which is needed fot the assessment of the approptiateness of the going concern basis of
preparation of the financial statements.

1.3 Turnover

Tutnover represents sales of goods to customets less an approptiate deduction for actual returns and
discounts and includes net income earned from concessionaties. Turnover is recognised on delivery of
the related goods to the customer. Income earned from concessionaries is recognised in torhover as
catned. Income eatned from gift vouchers is recognised when the vouchets are presented ot exchanged
for goods,

Deposits are treated as deferred incotne until the complete otder is delivered in full to the customet.
1.4 Goodwill

Positive purchased goodwill atising on acquisitions is capitalised, classified as an asset on the Balance
Sheet and amortised over its useful economic life, Whete a reliable estimate of the usefu] life of
goodwill or intangible assets cahnot bhe made, the life is presumed not to exceed five yeats. Useful
economic lives ate reviewed at the end of each teporting period and revised if necessary, subject to the
consiraint that the revised life shall not exceed 20 yeats from the date of acquisition, The catrying
amount at the date of revision is depreciated over the revised estimate of remaining useful economic
life,

1.5 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation, Depreciation is ptovided at rates calculated to
write off the cost of fixed assets, less theit estimated tesidual value, over their expected useful lives on
the following bases:

Fixtures and fttings - Tyeats
Computer equipment - Tryears
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0OCS Operations Limited

Notes

to the financial statements

For the period ended 31 January 2015

1. Accounting pelicies (continued)

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

110

111

Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after making due allowance for cbsclete
and slow-moving stocks. Cost includes all ditect costs and an approptiate proportion of fixed and
variable ovetheads.

Opetating leases

Rentals under opetating leases are charged to the ptofit and loss account on a straight line basis over
the lease ferm.

Pensions

'The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme and the assets of the scheme atre held
sepatately from those of the company in ah independently administered find. The pension cost chatge
tepresents contributions payable by the company to the fund, and amounted to

€81,955 (2014 - €99,732).

Deferred taxation

Full provision is made for defetted tax assets and liabilities arising from all timing differences between
the recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and recognition in the tax computation.

A net defetred tax asset is recognised only if it can be regatded as more likely than not that there will be
suitable taxable profits from which the futute seversat of the undeslying timing differences can be
deducted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates expected to be effective at the time the
tining differences ate expected to feverse.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
Foreign cutrencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in forelgn currencies ate translated into euros at tates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Transactions in foreign currencies ate translated into euros at the rate ruling on. the date of the
transaction,

Bxchange gains and losses are tecognised in the profit and loss account.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified and accounted fot, according to the substance of the contractual
aprangement, as either financial assets, financial libilities ot equity instruments, An equity instrament is

any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the company after deducting all ofits
liabilities,
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0CS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
Fot the period ended 31 January 2015

2. Turncver

The whole of the turover is zttributable to the one principle activity of the company.

All turnovet atose it Ireland,

3. Gther operating income

Other opetating income

31 Januaty

2015
€

165,233

Period from 16
Aug 2012 to

1 Febtuary
2014

€

2,047,251

Tncluded within other operating income in the ptior year is insurance proceeds teceived amouating to
€2,027,000 in respect of business interruption for the flood that occutred duting the 2014 financial period.

4. Operating loss

The opetating loss is stated after charging:

Depreciation of tangible fixed asseis:
- owned by the company
Anditors' remuneration
Operating lease rentals:
- other operating leases
Fotelgn currency gains/losses
Exeeptional items
Net loss arising on disposal of assets destroyed by flood

Daring the period, ho ditector received any emoluments (2014 - €NTIL).

31 January
2015
€

209,367
48,000

200,000

40,000

As restated
Period from 16
Ang 2012 to

1 Februaty
2014

€

69,961
57,000

235,000

(7,755)
831,429
250,143

Tn the priot petiod, the company incurred exceptional costs in relation to commencement and operation of

trading activities,
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0OCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 January 2015

5. Staff costs

Staff costs wete as follows:

Petiod from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 Pebruary

2015 2014

€ €

Wages and salaties 3,365,794 5,457,820
Social welfare costs 314,206 441,734
Other pension costs 81,955 99,732
3,761,955 5,999,286

The average monthly mumbet of employees, including the directots, during the period was a8 foltows:

Petiod from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 Pebruary

2015 2014

No. No.

Administrative staff 99 100
Management staff 31 33
130 133
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0CS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
Fot the period ended 31 January 2015

interest payable

Banlk interest

Taxation

Factors affecting tax charge for the pesiod

31 January
2015
€

Period from 16
Aug 2012 to

1 February
2014

£

5

The tax assessed for the petiod is the same as (2014 - the same as) the standard rate of cotporation tax in

Treland of 12.5% (2014 - 12.5%) as set out below:

Loss on ordinary activities before tax

Toss on ordinaty activities multiplied by standard rate of
cotpotation tax in Treland of 12.5% (2014 - 12.5%)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax putposes
Utilisation of tax losses

Timing differences

Inicome not subject to tax

Tax losses catried forwatd for use in future yeats
Group telief sutrendered

Curtent tax chatge for the period

Factots that may affect future tax charges

As restated

Petiod from 16

Ang 2012 to

31 January 1 February

2015 2014

€ €

(1,158,530) (3,147,357)

(144,816) (393,420)

11,018 241,156
5,729 -

2,947 208
(2,864) -

- 49,783

127,986 102,273

A defesred tax asset of €53,632 (2014: €78,315) has not been recognised as the directors adopt 2 cofiservative
approach on the basis that it is more likely than not that there will be no suitable taxable profits under which

it can be recovered for the foreseeable future.
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OCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
Fot the petiod ended 31 Januaty 2015

8, Intangible fixed assets

Cost
At 2 Febtuaty 2014 and 31 January 2015
Net book value

At 31 January 2015

At 1 February 2014

9. Tangible fixed assets

Cost

At 2 Pebruary 2014
Additions

At 31 January 2015

Depteciation

At 2 Febnuary 2014
Chatge for the period

At 31 Januaty 2015

Net book value
At 31 Jahuaty 2015

At 1 Februaty 2014

410. Stocks

Finished goods and goods for resale

Goodwill

€

50,002

50,002

50,002

Fixtures and Office

fittings  equipment Total
€ €
1,127,004 293,169 1,420,173
71,414 28,300 99,714
1,198,418 321,469 1,519,887
40,277 10,470 50,747
165,053 44,314 209,367
205,330 54,784 260,114
993,088 266,685 1,269,773
1,086,727 282,699 1,369,426
31 January 1 February
2015 2014
£ £

1,726,049 1,738,756

There ate no material differences between the replacement cost of stock and the balance sheet amounts.
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0OCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
Fot the petiod ended 31 January 2015

141. Debtors

Cotporation tax tepayable
Other debtors
Prepayments and acctued income

12, Creditors:
Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amonnts owed to group undertakings
Cotporation tax

Other taxes (see below)

Other creditors

Acerials and deferred income

Other taxes

PAYE/PRSI
VAT control

As restated
31 January 1 Bebruary
2015 2014
€ €
- 1
340,118 1,513,405
115,267 49,647
455,325 1,563,053
As restated
31 January 1 Febtuary
2015 2014
€ €
2,090,303 2,415,162
5,728,125 176,713
37 -
298,796 629,906
366,073 405,870
545,829 1,080,170
9,029,163 4,707,821
31 January 1 Febtuary
2015 2014
€ 3
71,559 165,419
221,237 464,487
298,796 629,906

Although an intragroup loan amouting to €4,230,957 is not due to be repaid until September 2016, in the
event of a change in shareholders, this could be demanded, and op that basis, is being shown as heing due

within one year,
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0CS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the petiod ended 31 January 2015

13.

4.

Creditors:
Amounts falling due afier more than one year

31 January 1 Febtuary

2015 2014

€ €

Amounts owed to geoup undertakings - 5,596,689

Pension commitments

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all employecs. The assets of the scheme
are held separately to the assets of the company. Contributions to the scheme are chatged to the Profit and
Loss Account as they become payable. The charge for the period is shown in note 3 of the financial
statements and at the petiod end the company had an acctual in respect of this scheme amounting to €16,221
(2014: €13,700).

Page 18



OCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 January 2015

15.

16.

17,

18.

Related parly fransactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemption conferred by FRS 8 ("Related party disclosures") not to
disclose transactions with members of the gtoup headed by OCS Investment Holdings Limited on the
grounds that 100% of the voting rights are controlled within that gtoup.

Tncluded within consultancy fees are invoices amounting to €Nil (2014: €88,557) owing to Gordon Brothets
Interational LLC for services rendered during the period. The balance owing at the petiod end is €Nl

Share capital

31 January 1 Februoary
2015 2014
€ €
Authorised
1,000,000 Ordinary Shares shares of €1 each 1,000,000 1,000,000
Allotted, called up and fully paid

100 Ordinary Shares shares of €1 each 100 100

In the prior period, OCS Operations Limited issued 100 otdinaty shares of €1 each at pat for cash
consideration.

Reserves
Profit and
loss aceount
€
At 2 Febtuary 2014 (as previously stated) (2,085,189)
Prior yeat adjustment (note 18) (1,062,168)
At 2 February 2014 (as restated) (3,147,357)
Loss for the financial petiod (1,158,530)
At 31 January 2015 (4,305,887)

Prior year adjustment

A prior yeat adjustment has been posted to cortect a fundamental etror regarding the appottionment of
insutance proceeds received in respect of tangible fixed assets, The bulk of the tangible fixed assets were held
by OCS Propetties Limited and the basis of the apportionment of the insurance proceeds to OCS
Opetations Limited was incorrect. All of the insurance proceeds received in respect of tangible fixed assets
have been teflected in OCS Propetties Limited which gives sise to a loss of €250,153 in the company, rather
than a profit of €812,025 otiginally recorded.,
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QCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements

For the period ended 31 January 2015

19.

20.

21.

Reconciliation of movement in shareholders' deficit

Opening shareholders' deficit
Prior year adjustments (note 18)

Opening shareholders' deficit (as restated)
Loss for the financial petiod
Shares issued duting the petiod

Closing shareholders' deficit

Net cash flow from operating activities

Operating loss

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Decrease/ (increase) in stocks
Decrease/ (increase) in debtots
Tncrease in creditoss

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities

Anazlysis of cash flows for headings netied in cash flow statement

Retutns on investments and servicing of finance

Intetest paid

As trestated

531 January 1 Febuary
2015 2014
€ €
(2,085,089) -
(1,062,168)
(3,147,257)
(1,158,530) (3,147,357}
- 100
{4,305,787) (3,147,257}
As restated
Period from 16
Aug 2012 to
31 January 1 February
2015 2014
€ £
(1,158,530) (2,897,209
209,367 69,961
12,707 (1,738,756)
1,107,727 (1,563,052)
137,080 4,648,800
308,351 (1,480,256)
Period from 16
Aug 2012 to
31 January 1 Febtuary
2015 2014
€ €
- &)
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QCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the petiod ended 31 January 2015

21.

22.

Anzlysis of cash flows for headings netted in cash flow statement (continued)

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Putchase of intangible fixed assets
Putchase of tangible fixed assets

Net cash outflow from capital expendituie

Financing

Tssue of ordinaty shares
New loans from gtoup companies
Loans from group companies repaid

Net cash (outtlow)/inflow from financing

Analysis of changes in net debt

Cash at bank and in hand
Debt:

Debts due within one year
Debts falling due after mote than
one year

Net debt

As restated
Period from 16
Aug 2012 to
31 January 1 February
2015 2014
£ €
- (50,002)
(146,446) (1,630,509)
(146,446) (1,680,511)
Period from 16
Aug 2012 to
31 January 1 Febtuary
2015 2014
€ €
- 100
‘ - 5,596,689
(1,365,732) -
(1,365,732) 5,596,789
Other
non-cash
2 Febtuary Cash flow changes 31 January
2014 2015
€ € € €
2,436,016 (1,203,789) - 1,232,227
- (4,230,957) - {4,230,957)
(5,596,689) 5,596,689 - -
(3,160,673) 161,943 - (2,998,730)
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QCS Operations Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the petiod ended 31 January 2015

23. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The company is 2 wholly owned subsidiary of OCS Investment Holdings Limited, a company incosporated in
Treland, with its registered office at 6th Floot, 2 Grand Canal Square, Dublin 2. The company's ultitmate
parent company is Gotdon Brothers Group LLC, a Limited Liability Company incorpotated under the laws
of the State of Delaware whose registered office is at Prudential Tower, 800 Boylston Street, 27th Floot,
Boston, MA 02199, USA.

24. HApproval of financial statements

The boatd of directots apptoved these financial statements for issue on 11 June 2015,
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0CS Operations Limited

Management information
For the period ended 31 January 2015




0CS Operations Limited

Detailed trading and profit and loss account

Fot the petiod ended 31 January 2015

Tutnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other operating incotne

Less: Overheads

Selling and distribution expenses
Administration expenses

Operating loss

Intetest payable
Net loss arising on disposal of assets destroyed by flood

Loss fot the period

Page

25
25

25

25
26

26
27

As restated

Period from 16

Aug 2012 to
31 January 1 Febtuary
2015 2014
£ €
12,714,170 16,435,169
(5,772,979) (7,018,997)
6,941,191 9,416,172
165,233 2,047,251
7,106,424 11,463,423
(892,091) (1,539,219
(7,372,863) (12,821,413)
(1,158,530} (2,897,209)
- ®)
- (250,143)
(1,158,530) (3,147,357)
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0CS Operations Limited

Schedule to the detailed accounts
For the period ended 31 January 2015

Turnover
Sales

Cost of sales

Opening stocks - finished goods
Closing stocks - finished goods
Putchases - finished goods

Other operating incoine

Othet operating income

Selling and distribution expenses

Freight and carriage
Advertising
Sales expenses

Period from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 Febrary
2015 2014

€ €
12,714,170 16,435,169
Petiod from 16

_ Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 Febtuaty
2015 2014

€ €

1,738,756 -

(1,726,049) (1,738,756)
5,760,272 8,757,153
5,772,979 7,018,997
Period from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 February
2015 2014

£ €

165,233 2,047 251
Period from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 February
2015 2014

€ €

1,389 87,392
858,257 1,419,525
32,445 32,302
892,091 1,559,219
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OCS Operations Limited

Schedule to the detailed accounts
For the period ended 31 Januaty 2015

Administration expenses

Wage and salaries

Employers PRSI

Staff pension contributions
Rectuitment and training
Motor expenses

Travel and subsistence
Printing, stationery and postage
Telephonie

Subsctiptions

Legal and professional
Auditors' remunetation

Bank charges

Foreipn cutrency gains/losses
Rent

Rates and water

Light and heat

Cleaninhg of premises
Insurances

Repaits and maintenance
Sundry expenses
Depreciation - fixtures and fittings
Security

IT costs

Other staff related expenses
Refurbishment costs
Consultancy fees

HExceptional items

interest payable
Bank interest

Petied from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 February
2015 2014

£ €
3,365,794 5,457,820
314,206 441,734
81,955 99,732
28,123 104,794
16,202 32,875
218,128 238,284
31,999 58,642
18,719 41,757
12,114 17,059
237,761 1,008,390
48,000 57,000
7,514 1,178
- (7,755)
200,000 235,000
806,183 1,006,331
325,177 589,327
231,070 290,917
207,931 264,052
214,262 463,374
25,845 56,472
209,367 69,961
208,528 297 484
852 2,639

- 1,671

5,280 86,042
517,853 1,075,204
44,000 831,429
7,372,863 12,821,413
Period from 16

Aug 2012 to

31 January 1 February
2015 2014

€ €

- 5
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0CS Operations Limited

Schedule to the detailed accounts
For the period ended 31 Januaty 2015

As restated ;

Petiod from 16 ;
Aug 2012 to
31 January 1 Februaty
2015 2014
€ €
Exceptional items
Net loss atising on disposal of assets destroyed by flood - (250,143) .
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OCS Operations Ltd

Management Accounts Summary

Yariance on Budget
Period Dates: 22 March 2015 to 2 May 2015

Year to Date: 1 February 2015 to 2 May 2015

Gross Store Turnover
Parlods Selected Varfance Yazr to Date Varianca
This Yeut Budget Value % This Year Budget Valus %
Own Baught Gross Turnover| 986,729 928,083 SB,546 5 2,237,362 2,251,161 13 739 -1
Concesston Gross Turnoverd 1,825,766 1,880,552 3778 -3 4,438,452 4,699,534 0l B
Total Gross Turnover| 2,812,495 2,008,635 3,850 1] 6,675,814 ___ 6,950,755 FILELL -4
Own Bought Sales & Margin
Perinds Selerted Varianca. Year to Date Varlance
This Yaar Budgst * Value % This Year pudget Value % .
Net Own Bought Sales Tatal 808,506 760,387 43,119 3 1,836,231 1,842,265 o
Recogrlsed Net Own Bought Sales [net of deposits!] 809,506 760,387 § 14835231 1B42.265 a
Cast of Sales Total 541,054 283,975 5, 12 1,237,620 1,189,571 qa09 F] _
Gross Prafit 268,452 276,012 7860 -3 598,611 £52,694 5,053 -8 :
Gross Profit {Adjusted) % 33.2% 36.4% 12.6% 35.4% H
Gtoss Proft [par Futura system)} %) 34,25 37.3% 12.9% 36.4% i
Concession Sales & Income
' Perinds Selected Varlance Year ta Date Varianes
This Year Budget Value ¥ This Year Budget Vahie %
Groes Concessign Turnover Toial| 3,825,768 1880,552 ES¥E 3 2,438,452 4,693,504 12 &
Payments to Concessians Totalk 1,513,162 1,554,432 41,250 3 1,678,792 3,838,058 108,266 5
et Coneassion income Tata) 312,584 376,120 11,536 -4 758,561 £11,536 5LATH 7
Income
Periods Salected Varizncs Year ta Dats Vartiance
This Yeat Budget Value % This Year Budget Valun %
Gross Profi] 268,452 276,412 7068 3 598,611 652,694 SAURY
Concession lncome| 312,584 326,120 13,596 4 758,661 811536 . 7
Gther Trading Incemel 7,212 4,212 sl 1] 19,750 18,750 ] o
Total Trading Incems 588,247 509,744 -11,497 ] 1,376,022 1,482,980 AGF, 158 Il
Other Income, 5,253 5,866 13 10 12,933 15,250 2317 15
Tota Income 593,500 515,610 31110 E] 1385,555 1,498,730 109,275 ]
Costs )
Pariods Selected Vorlance Year to Date Variance
This Year Budget Valum % This fear Budgét Yallie %
Overhezds Total 313,975 304,237 -10,74% -4 E42,355 931,501 RLRET] -1
Payroll Gosts Total 345,568 354,743 4,075 ] 1,005,855 1,046,298 40,443 4
Total Oparating Cost 661,643 556,980 3,668 [ 1848216 1,877,795 29,588 ]
Exceptlonal items Totall o a [ ] ] 0 i
Depreciation and Amortisation Total 18,094 18,000 a1 -1 54,282 54,000 b3 4
Finance Cast on IfC Loans Talal o ] a o o a
Total Costs 673,737 576,360 LEIST [ 1307492 1,931,798 29,307 1
Profit & Loss
Perlads Selected Veriance Year ta Dabe Varlance
This Year Budget Valua % This Year Budgat Value %
EBITDA 88,143 43570 XN "1, 158 375,569 R 21
Adjusted EBITDA {aftar Exceptional ltems) -7 21,772 57 59,255 379,568 -19,685 1
EBT 1370 24,867 a1 S13,536 133,568 18
£aT] §6.257 51,370 23,867 41 513,536 -193,548 18
Net Turnover ; : Net Profit
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0OCS Operations Ltd

Management Accounts Summary

Variance on Prior Year
Period Dates: 29 March 2015 to 2 May 2015

Gross Store Turnover

Perluds Selacted . Varlanes Yearto Data Variance
This Year Priar Yaar Value i3 This Year Prlor Yaar Valug *
Twn Bought Grass Turnovel 986,729 938,916 47,813 5 2,231,362 2,265,102 5
Concesslan Gross Turnaver] 1,825,768 1,701,579 124,187 7 4,43E452 4,153,755 7
Total Gross Turnover] 2,812,435 2,640,495 172,000 7 6,675,814 4,518,857 156,357 2
Own Bought Sales & Margin
Perfads Salected Variance Yaar to Date Varianca
This Yaar Prior Year Value % This Year Prior Year Value
Net Own Bought Sales Total 309,506 769,124 40,381 5 1,836,231 1,837216 S SRS 5
Recognlsed Mat Own Beught Sales (net of deposlts]) B09,506 769,124 40,381 5 1,836,231 1,937,218 LIRS -5
Cost of Sales Totall 541,054 435,739 P -11 1,237,620 1,208,920 18,700 -2
Gross Profit 268,452 283,386 -5 598,611 728,136 -128,684 18
Gross Profit {Adjusted) % 33.2% 16.8% 31.6% 37.6%
Gross Profit {per Futurs system} % 14.2% 35,08 22.9% 34.0%
Concession Sales & Income
Perfuds Selected Varlanea Year to Date Varlance
This Year Prige Year Value L] This Year Frinr Year Value k3
Gross Loncessian Fumover Tota! 1,825,766 1,701.57% 124,187 T 4,438,452 4,153,755 254,697 7
Payments ta Concessions Tota 1,513,182 1,407,571 BLFYEE E 1,679,792 2,441,531 PILERE -7
Net Goneessian Income Tats) 112,504 254,008 10,576 [ 758,661 712,225 46,436 7
Income
Perlads Selected Varianca Yearto Date Variance
This Year Prior Year Walue ® This Year Prior Year Value %
Gross Profl 168,452 283,386 T11,9%5 -5 598,611 72B,296 Py T8
Concession Income) 312,584 294,008 18,576 [ 756,661 712,225 46,436 7
Qther Trading Income| 7212 11,500 ~1088 -37 16,750 24,000 5260 =22
Total Trading Income| 588,257 548,854 £48 a 1,376,022 1,464,520 -3%,038 &
Other Income 5,253 3,856 1,393 kL 12,933 7,398 5,534 75
Total incorae 593,560 582,749 751 [H 1,388,955 1,471,939 42964 B
Costs
Petinds Selactad Vatlanca Yearto Date Variance
This Yezr Prior Year Valua * This Year Prioz Yeat Value %
Overheads Total 314,975 299,529 15 4% -5 842,355 802,459 i) -5
Payral| Costs Total 146,668 410,212 63,544 15 1,005,855 1,069,148 63,293 5
Total O ing Lust 661,643 708,737 48,093 7 1,848,210 1,671,647 73,437 1
Exceptional ltems Total o o a 1] o a
Depreciation and Amertisation Total 18,034 17,881 213 -1 54,282 50,405 SEATT B
Finance Cost on I/C Laans Total 1] 13,9014 13,503 100 [} 39,537 39,537 ico
Totai Costs 679,737 741,518 61,781 1,502,492 1,561,588 59,087 3
Profit & Loss
Periods Salected Variance Year to Date Variance
This Year Prior Year Valus % This Year Prior Year Valug %
EBITDA #H.143 416,387 48,844 -4z 150,255 399,728 15
Adjusted FAITDA (aftar Exceptional jkems| 5%, 143 -116.987 48,844 42 154,255 -399.728 15
EBITI Ae.257 134,368 48,632 -36 §13,536 -450,133 -3, a0 14
EAT] -f5.237 - 148,769 62,532 -42 -£13,53F 189,759 -23.867 5
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0CS Operations Ltd

Profit & Loss Summary

Variance on Budget
Period Dates: 29 March 2015 to 2 May 2015

. Year to Date; 1 February 2015 to 2 May 2015

Code Description Period Selected Variance Year o Date Varlance
This Year Budzet Value % This Year Budget. Value %
Sales
Sales Total E09,506 760,387 49,119 & 1,836,231 1,842,265 -6,034 o
Cost of Sales
Cost of Sales Total 541,053 483,975 57,07% -12 1,237,620 1,189,573 48,043 -4
Gross Frofit 268,452 276,412 -7.960 -3 598,611 652,694 54,083 -8
Concession Turnaver
Concession Turnaver Total 1,825,766 1,880,552 54,786 -3 4,438,452 4,699,594 -203,042 -6
Payments to Covcessians
Payments to Concessfons Total 1,513,182 1,554,432 41,250 3 3,679,792 3,818,058 208,266 5
Concassion Income| 312,584 326,120 13,536 -4 758,661 811,536 32,375 7
[ 391530 Other Trading Incame 1 7,212 7,212 50 18,750 18,750 0
[ Total Trading Income] 588,247 509,744 LR -4 1,376,022 1,482,980 106958 -7
Other Income
301560 Sundry income 2,115 3,654 -1,378 42 5,737 9,500 3763 -40
391570 Discounts received 3,138 4,212 926 47 7,196 5,750 1,446 25
Rental lncome o 0 0 o o i}
1/C Rentat Income ) a ] b] 8 n
391580 Business interuption - Income o 1] a a o 1]
Other Income Total 5,253 5,866 -613 -10 12,933 15,250 3317 -15
L Tatal Income]| 593,500 515,610 2010 -4 1,388,955 1,458,230 S19,27% T
Overheads
Marketing Overheads
302020 Advertising - General 1] o o 0 ] ]
392021  Advertising - Strategic 0 a o o 0 o
392022 Advertising - Tactical 42,548 17043 -70 79,998 65,000 B 223
392023 Advertising - Direct Mall a 1] a a 0
392024 Public Relations 5,821 AN -7t 19,587 18,000 1E3F -9
392050  Display Expenses 1,407 6593 82 8,210 17,750 9540 54
392051 Deslgn 4,046 121 3 16,368 12,501 -3 P87 -30
392052 Merchandising 0 o [} 0 ]
392053 Marketing contractars 19,543 5457 22 651,203 65,000 3,797 &
392055 marketing concession recharge 1aa3 ey ld 1] 1] 000 4,90 1 1]
tarkating Overheads Total 72,441 64,244 AL -13 180,266 173,252 -#0114 -4
selling Overheads
392025 Wedding Gift Register 0 a a Q a a
392026  Customer Services Expenses 0 0 o a 0 0
392030 Charftable Donztlons (1] o 0 ] o a
392035 Flood Damage ICOW o a Q 13
392040 Credit Card Fees 12,101 13,030 929 7 34,474 32,248 Ak -7
392041 Finanee Ca Charge ] il L1} i} o a
392060 Exclse Duty 0 o [t} a o 1}
392070 Freight - General 233 288 55 19 441 750 309 41
392080  Advertising Costs - Homewara a 0 0 o 1] 4}
392085 Bad Debt Provision o o 1]
392090 Wragping & Bags 5,693 4,884 46 16,727 EE)
392095 Wrapping & Bags corcession recharge g ER a9 ERE 48
192095 Credit Card fees concession recharge B 1 iyl 3
selling Gverheads Total| 104 S1ASE a
Property & Services Overheads
392130 Electricity 22,200 25,583 3,383 13 68,765 76,749 10
3592135 Flood Damage ICOW o 1] o o O
392140 Fuel Ol 5,619 5,000 £14 -12 18,562 15,000 24
392150 Insurance 21,929 21,442 Iné -2 57,014 95,750 -2
392160 Laundry & Cleaning 20,132 19,167 el -5 56,935 57,501 1
332161 Repackaging Waste 1l 132 :58 42 427 500 15
392170 E Comimerce 217 167 il -30 247 501 51
392171 17 Expenses a 0 0 1] b
82172 Hardware/Soffware Malntenance 2,838 3313 485 15 8,957 9,599 0
392173 Hardware/5Software Updates 250 250 a 1] 500 750 EE]
392174 IT Repairs a L] Q o i} a
392175 IT Training o a a 1] o
192177 POS fees 4,741 ST -14 12,773 12,501 <7 -2
392178 POS concession recharge B S5 -1 BET ty il 285 2
392183 Rates 71,415 kM -1 192,953 199,999 7,045 4
392185 Rent 19,231 19,231 v o 50,000 90,001 1
392188 Fiood Refurblshment 0 ] o a o 0
3gz190 Repairs 5,702 5,769 67 1 14,695 14,999 05 2
392181 Refurhishment o @ Q o 0 4}
1921592 Maintenance Contrarts 13,958 14,000 42 1] 41,874 42,000 136 o
392193 Manpower Contracts 0 o o 4} 0 0
392200 Security 18211 16,667 1544 -9 51,349 50,001 (S -3
302201 Seeurity Equipment 46 577 531 92 48], 1,501 1021 b8
192202 Security Repairs 150 192 42 22 458 500 50 W
392203 Security Maintenance Q a a 0 Q 0
30
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OCS Operations Ltd

Profit & Loss Summary

Variance on Budget
Pericd Dates: 29 March 2015 to 2 May 2015

Year ta Date: 1 February 2015 to 2 May 2015

Page 6of 27

Code Description Perlod Sefected Varlanca Year to Date Varianca
This Year Eudget Yalug " This Yedr Budget RELT] %
392204 Cash in Transit a o o o 0 2
Loss on Asset Purchase Q o 0 a a
3192199 Property overheads roncession recharge L7 . 168 il e d I ] a
Property & Services Overheads Total 05,034 204,872 12 a 554,321 565,502 11,181 H
Personnel Qverheads
392211 Persennel Unlforms 260 192 - 3% 568 s00 o -14
3923220 Entertainment Expanses 1} ] o 1] a il
392230  Medical Expenses D] o Q o 0 o
392235 Fload Damage 1COW ] o G 1] a g
392240 Motor Expenses 845 1,333 488 37 4,230 3,999 EREDS i
392260 Personnet Training 3,051 2,917 -Li4 -5 17,577 8751 1,174 13
192262 Personnel Advertising 0 Q a aQ 3 o
392265 Recruitment n ] a o o 0
332275 Staff Gaodwill o a a a o
392280 Staff Canteen 250 12 74 1,303 2,500 1,197 48
392290 Subscriptions 3,623 ~2i5h  -210 5,058 3,501 15357 44
392300  Tea Voucher Expense 1,168 178 13 3,147 3,500 353 10
392305 Personnel overheads coneession rechargg a S8 1m0 3 g B 100
Personnel Overheads Total 3,197 1472 19 21,882 22,251 369 2
Financial & Admin. Overheads
212420 Professional fees e o g 0 i] ]
212460  Trade Expenses o 0 o Q a 0
392320 Accounting Services 12 RUAL 2,232 -22 PRIV ty,d0 1,462 6
392330 Audit Fees 7,308 5,769 QRS E] 27 15,000 14,995 -1 o
392333 Flood Damage ICOW ] a 13 Q o o
392340 Bank Fees 5513 2,692 -,4x1 -105 7,582 7,000 S22 -8
Management Fees 1] o i} o a 1]
392350 Bank Interest 6 a 0 a 0 a
352370 Exchange Difference 2,019 0 PROR] 11,278 ] e
192380  Ground Rates 0 ¢} 0 o o
302380  Lepal fees 3,846 & 0 4,870 1
392410 Postage 1,058 38 -2 3,084 -12
392420  Professianal Fees 2,308 1,539 57 4,363 27
flood Damage Prafessional Fees o 0 i}
392430 Statlonary 2,885 -1hd -§ 8
352450  Telephone & Fax 3,167 90 3 2
397460 Trada Expenses 1,923 160 2
392470 Travel Expenses 4,808 2,434 51 41
392471 GB Consultants Travel 5,615 TES -&
392472 GB Consultants Hotels 4,208 47 9
392345 Bank Fees concession recharge FRHEE] -4a¥ 26
392455 Telephona & Fax concession recharge 417 i} 3 BORLY
Flnanctal & Admin, Overheads Total 36,955 29,943 -L,012 -3 83,382 78,749 14,633 -19
Overheads Total| 314,875 304,237 10,738 -4 842,355 031,501 19,854 -1
Payrall Costs
Salas Payroll
393020 Basic Pay Sales 5taff 48,470 52,172 3,702 7 138,838 152515 13,677 9
393025 Baslc Pay Sales Department Managers 27,446 3ILEI3 4,367 14 82,075 95,433 13,364 14
393030 Commission Sales Staff 71726 7,321 Les] -6 15,785 20,917 1,132 5
393040 Overtime Sales Staff 7,776 7,012 S -i1 18,587 10,907 7 R0 -0
Sales Payroll Tetal 51,418 98,316 6,900 7 259,254 279,718 20,494 7
Third Pasty Sales Payrall
103020 Basic Pay Saies staff Lingerfe 562 600 3B & 2,206 1,300 i)
163020 Basic Pay Sales Staff Accessorfes 1] 0 1] a a 0
313020  Basic Pay Sales Staif Waterford ] 4 0 [\ 0 0
343020 Basfc Pay Sales Staff Cosmetles 26,734 24,908 716 -7 73,530 73,569 29
Third Party Sales Payroll 27,295 25,508 1,787 -7 75,736 75,369 167 0
sales Support Payroll
fLENRL Cleaners Wages a o 1] o 0 a
393120 Display/Marketing Wages 1,252 7,655 403 5 21,785 22,965 1,180 5
3583125 Services / Maintenance Paycost 708 769 60 8 1929 2,307 Exd:] 16
393130 Stora Management Wages 10,503 10,500 -3 Q 31,510 31,500 Hel Q
393335 Custamer Service Paycost Total 8571 8,000 a7l 7 24,899 24,000 i -4
393140 Cash Office Paycost Total 7467 7,583 116 2 22,113 22,749 6836 3
333160 Forters Basic Pay 12,512 12,500 H Q 7424 37,500 76 L}
393170 Porters Overtime @ 0 0 a 0 o
393180 Retall Preparation Paycost Total 18,282 18,5695 413 2 54,845 56,085 1,240 2
353185 Porterage concesston racharge e AP 43 -3 nG2 L3 593 .11
Sales Support Payroll 63,415 53,869 454 1 1ng,a13 151,607 3,194 2
Security
393130 Security Basic B,10% 8,167 B3 1 24,314 24,501 188 1
393191 Security - Day / Management 9,801 13,000 3,199 25 29,911 39,000 9,n8S 3
353200 Security Overtime o 09 308 100 4] 924 924 100
security Payroll Total 17,905 71,475 © 3570 17 54,224 54,425 10,201 16
Buying
393050 Buyers and Assistants 16,375 16,500 125 1 49,037 48,500 463 1
383051  Buyers Brarich Costs 1] ] 0 0 0 ]
393060  Buyers Bonus 0 0 Q I} 0 a
Buylng Payroli Tota! 16,375 16,500 125 1 49,037 49,500 463 L
Administration
393240 Clarical Wages 20,342 20,833 491 2 61,025 62,499 LA7 2
333250 B Consultants 52,682 44,657 LY -18 137,785 134,001 B} -3
353270 Senior Management 27,188 37,750 562 2 81,565 83,250 1,685 2
393280  Directors 0 @ 0 1) 0 b}
Administration Payroll Totat 100,212 93,250 [ Lk -7 280,375 279,750 [ [
31




OCS Operations Ltd

Profit & Loss Summary

Variance an Budget
period Dates: 29 March 2015 to 2 May 2015

Year to Date: 1 Fehruary 2015 to 2 May 2015
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Cude Description Period Sejerted Varlance Yaar to Date Varlanca
Thls Year Budget Valug % This Year Budpet Vajue %
Non Sales Payrall
393235 Flood Damage 1COW 1] [} o [1] 1] [}
393290 Pensianers -31 0 81 171 a 171
393295 Haliday / Sick Pay o [ 0 Q 1] o
Non $ales Payroll Totak -BL o 81 171 0 ~17L
PRSI & Pension
393300 Employers PRSI 24,641 27,000 2,358 9 72,446 79,400 6,954 g
393305 PRSA 124 115 ] -8 i72 345 -7 -8
393310 Pension 5,024 8,333 3,309 40 24,779 24,999 220 1
393315 Pension and Insurance 339 375 36 10 1,017 1,125 108 pu3
PRSI & Penston Total 30,128 35,823 5,695 ie 98,614 105,869 7,255 ?
Payroli Costs Total] 346,668 354,743 8,075 z 1,005,855 1,046,298 40,443 &
L Total Operating Expenses| 661,643 658,980 15530 1,848,210 1,877,799 20588 2|
I EBITDA] 65,143 43,370 713 57 459 755 -379,569 a6 21 |
393390 Pre-trading Expenses o [i) 1] 0 4] o
Property Title Recilfication Q i} 13 0 0 0
392270 Redundancies a 0 0 a o o
392480 Galn on disposal of fixed assets o ] o 1] 0 i
Lepacy stock / creditors settlement 0 o [} o a 0
felease of stock purchase provisten ) 0 o Q o ]
Exceptional tems Tota! [ a a [ a 0
Ad]usted £8iTDA] -68,143 -43,570 28,773 -A53,255 379,568 -79,686 |
352120 Pepreciatian Charged 18,094 18,000 05 -1 54,282 54,000 e =l -1
393391 Amortisation of concession goedwill Q a 0 [} a a
393392 Amortisation of gift card goodwil D o i} s} i} 0
Depreciation and Amortisation 18,084 18,008 an -1 54,282 54,000 282 -1
f EBIT| 36,237 -51,370 2apa7 A1 | +513,536 -433,565 178,867 18|
351511 Finance cost - Interest 0 0 [ 1] 0 0
Finance cost - bank interest o 0 a o 0 o
391520 Interestincame o 0 Q ] a o
Finance Cost| 0 ] 0 ] 0 0
I EBT|, -36,237 81,370 24,867 41 | -513 536 33,569 79,9657 18 |
Note; See Consolideted PEL Summary ta reconcile to the Consolidated Budget Income Statement
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OCS Operations Lid

Profit & Loss Surnmary

Variance an Prior Year

Pericd Dates: 29 March 2015 to 2 May 2015

Fage 8 of 27

Code Pescriptlon Periad Selected Variance Year to Date Varlanca
This Year Prior Year Vahie % This Year Prior Year Value ki3
Sales
Sales Total 809,506 769,174 50,281 5 1,836,231 1,937,216 100,985 -5
Cost of Sales
Cost of Sales Totall 541,054 485,739 55,315 -11 1,237,620 1,208,920 28700 -2
Grass Profit 268,452 283,386 14,334 -5 598,611 728,256 179,684 -18
Concession Turnover
Concesslon Turmover Total 1,825,768 1,701,575 124,187 7 4,438,452 4,153,755 184,657 7
Payments ko Concesslons
Payments to Concessiens Total 1,513,182 1,407,571 ~J05,615 -8 3,679,791 3,441,531 238761 -7
Concesslon Incomef 312,584 294,008 18,576 & 758,665 712,225 46,416 7
[ 391550 Other Yrading Income 1 7212 11,500 g aea 37 18,750 24,000 S, 200 ]
Total Trading Inmmal 588,247 S&8,894 214 ] 1,376,022 1,464,520 48, 490 -6
Other Income
391560 sundry income 2,115 2,133 12 -1 5,737 3,533 1,804 46
381570 Discounts recelved 3,138 1,723 1,415 B2 7,196 3,466 3,730 08
Aental income s} 1] a 0 a 0
1/C Rental Income b} 1] 0 o 1] ]
3915E0 Ausiness Interuptlon - Income 0 1] o 0 [+] [
Gther income Tatal 5,253 3,856 1,338 38 12,933 7,339 5,534 75
[ Total Income} 593,500 592,749 751 @ 1,386,955 1,471,919 51964 -6
Overheads
Marketing Overheads
333020 Advertising - General o o o 0 o a
392021 Advertising - Strategic a a [ 4] a ]
352022 Advertising - Tactical 43,548 15,274 PN IFE B v 79,938 62,169 1780 28
392023 Advertising - Direct Mail o ] i a 0 i}
392024 Public Relations 6,821 5,553 el 23 18,587 18,476 Ll -6
392050 Display Expenses 1,407 1675 268 16 8,210 2,846 J5,L3 -188
393051 Design 4,046 5,044 939 20 16,268 12,814 3,135 =27
392052 terchandising o 576 576 100 [+ 578 576 100
332053 Markeling contractors 159,543 27,857 B3N 30 £1,203 63,652 8,448 12
192055 Marketing concassion recharge 1023 1] 1,923 . (i} 4] 5,000
Markeling Overhaads Totall Tz.441 55,978 15,467 -29 180,266 166,532 43,744 -8
Seling COverheads
392025 Wedding Gift Reglster a o o 9 0 n
382026 Customer Services Expenses o [+] ] 0 ] g
392030 Charitable Denations 0 0 Q a o 1}
392035 Flood Damage ICOW 0 a [} a [ o
392040 LCradht Card Fees 12,101 6,662 s -B2 34,474 16,139 13,38 -114
392041 Financa Ca Charge o ] 0 Q ] [1]
392060 Exdse Buty a a ¢ o 0 o
392070 Freight - General 233 150 B 56 441 475 EL] 7
392080 Advertising Costs - Homeware 1] 13 o o Q 0
352085 Bad Debt Provislon Q Q 1] o
392090 Wrapping & Bags 5,693 5,956 263 4 13,987 -20
392085 Wrapping & Bags concession recharge n5E [} [3:9 n
392098 Credlt Card fees concassion recharge LR 0 19,592 AR o
Selling Overheads Total 2,651 12,767 15,418 121 7.407 20,601 124
Praperty & Services Overheads
392130 Flectricity 22,200 23,363 1,164 5 68,763 74,816 B
392135 Flood Damage ICOW q ¢ o o [s]
392140 Fuel Oil 5,619 5,818 199 3 18,561 18,804 1
392150 Insurance 21,929 20,508 1 -7 57,014 531322 -7
392160 Laundry & Cleaning 20,332 22,898 3,766 12 56,935 58,747 3
392161 flapackaping Wasle 111 o BEN a7 4]
192170 E Commerce 217 o e 34 247 T
392171 IT Expensas a 3 o 0 0
3sz172 Hardware/Software Maintehance 2,838 5604 2,766 43 9,957 5,164 93
392173 Hardware/Software Updatas 250 108 42 131 500 o
392174 IT Repalrs [} a 0 o 63 100
392175 IT Training ? 0 Q [ 4] a
392177 POS fees 4,741 3,855 a6 .23 12,773 18,716 5,942 32
392178 P08 eoncession recharga [ARat] 5 3K} 1,245 -4 e 154075 3560 23
332183 Rates 17,415 74,716 A & 152,953 203,211 10,258 5
392185 Rent 15,231 4] 1% 23 50,000 o ORI
392183 Fload Refurbishment 1] a ] 1} 0 L)
392190 Repairs 5,702 5,020 #5414 14,693 9,386 A 57
392191 Refurbishment a ¢ o a 1] o
392192 Malntenance Contracts 13,958 12296 Lind -14 ! 41,874 38,163 RAEE -0
3321893 Manpowar Contracls 0 o a a o 1]
392200 Security 18,211 19,228 1,017 5 51,349 51,631 283 1
392201 Securlty Equipment 46 00 154 n 481 co SEL 60
392202 Sacurity Repairs 150 ] YAy 450 1] a1
192203 . Security Mainlenance o [ ¢ Q ] o
392204 Cash in Transit o Q o o n L]
Loss an Asset Purchase a Q a 0 0 ]
392189 Propecty overheads concession recharge R a 1,370 PR Q 1,624
Property B Services Overheads Tota 205,039 128,514 TS0 -9 554,321 516,830 ERIRE 1 -7
Personnal Ovarheads
392211 Persannel Uniforms 260 105 RS C Y 568 431 > 32
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OCS Operations Ltd

Profit 8 Loss Summary
Variance on Prior Year

Period Dates: 29 March 2015 to 2 May 2015

Page Sof 27

Code Description Periad Selected Varianca Yeat to Date Variance
This Year Prior Year Valua % This Year Prior Year Valug b
392220 Enterisinment Expenses a 0 0 a Q o
392230 Medical Expenses o 7] a a 0 o
392235 Fload Damage ICOW [ ? a 0 1] 4]
392240 Motor Expensas 845 Z320 1,475 64 4,230 4,355 125 3
332260 Personnel Tralning 3,051 5,324 2,273 43 1,577 9421 1,844 0
392262 Personnef Advertising e} a Q ] 0 o
392265 Recruitment o o a Q o ¢
392275 Staff Gaodwill a 0 0 a i3 o
392280 Staff Canteen 250 1,956 1,708 87 1,303 2,924 1,680 56
382290  Subscriptiens 3,623 1,272 <2357 -185 5,058 3,442 ABtE A7
392300 Tea Voucher Expense 1,168 995 vz 17 3,147 2,744 4y -15
392305 Personnel overheads concession rechargd 13 a a 4] 1] Q
Personne! Overheads Tota! 8,187 11,972 2,776 23 21,882 23,317 1,495 ]
Flrancial & Admin. Overheads
212420 Professional fees a ) o 1] 1] )
212460 Trade Expenses a Q a i} o '}
392320 Accounting Services QAL -0 -37 e TR -11
392330 Audlt Fees 7,308 4,515 -58 15,000 11,507 -26
392335 Fioed Damage ICOW L} Q 0 o
392340 Bank Fees 5,513 1,008 -447 7.582 1,564 -286
Management Fees (] 1] a Q
332350 Bank Interest a Q Q o
392370 Exchange Difference 209 152 S1%A7 <1232 11,278 245 -4502
392380  Ground Rates 1} ) 88 100 a 262 100
392390 legal Fees 3,850 3,000 RGO -28 9,870 B,288 -19
392410 Fostage 1,154 1,620 466 2% 3,084 3585 14
392420 Professianal Fees 69 1,500 731 49 4,363 3,000 45
Flood Damaga Professional Fees a 1] 0 a ]
392430 Statlonery 2,992 3,364 365 11 6,920 6,115 shs -13
352450  Telephone & Fax 3,077 2,792 -4 10 8,238 7,685 “ald =21
392460 Trade Expenses 1,763 3,088 1,308 43 4,889 8512 4,624 49
392470 Travel Expenses 2,374 18,078 15,704 a7 16,377 37,594 21,217 56
382471 GB Consultants Travel 10,391 1} ©13,39% 1] <2705
332472 GE Consultants Hotels 4321 0 -3 38l a L2371
392345 Bank Fees concession recharge <1428 [¢] 1,428 o 4,503
392455  Telephone & Fax concession recharge W 0 B89 2 2,643
Financhal & Admin. Overheads Tetal| 30,955 30,292 A6 -1 53,382 65,158 L2024 -43
Overheads Total 314,575 289,524 15 451 -5 542,355 802,459 - 3% 456 -5
Payroll Costs
Sales Payroll
393020 Baslc Pay Salas Staff 48,470 91,139 42,669 47 128,838 260,182 47
393025 Basic Pay Sales Department Managers 27448 o SAT A 42,095 1]
393030 Commsslon Sales Staff 1,726 7,563 53 -2 18,785 21,933 10
393040 Overtime Sales Staff 1,776 10,299 2,523 24 18,587 23,633 7
Sales Payroll Total] 91,418 102,001 17,583 16 159,284 11,749 17
I Third Party Sales Payroii
lo3oza Baslc Pay Sales Staff Lingerie 562 524 iy -7 2,206 2,180 -1
163020 Basic Pay Seles Staff Acressories 0 1] o [+ o
313020 Raslc Pay Sales Staff Waterford o 1] Q o a
343020 Baslc Pay Sales Staff Cosmelics 26,794 49,934 23,260 41 73,530 5,024 -13
Third Party Sales Payzol| 22,195 50,518 23,221 46 75,738 67,205 -13
Sales Support Payroll
393110  Cleaners Wages 1] 0 o 0 o
393120  Display/Marketing Wages 1,252 7,992 9 21,785 23,593 1,808 3
3193135 Services / Maintenance Paycost 08 726 i 1,929 2,135 1w
353130 Stare Management Wages 10,503 18,635 14 31,510 55,593 a3
383135 Custorner Sarvice Faycost Total 8571 [+ 24,39 1]
353140 Cash Offfee Paycost Tatal 7467 Q 22113 a
393160 Porters Basle Pay 12512 10,187 -3 37,424 30,933 LR =21
393170 Porters Ovartime a a 0 381 3F1 100
353180 Retail Preparation Paycost Total 18,282 a 54,845 o £9,54%
393185 Porterage concession recharge Leg ] 1,881 [BLYR) ] 6,092
Sales Support Payroll 63,415 37,541 J5.474 69 128,413 112,815 % 793 -87
Security .
392190 Security Basic B,105 21,058 12,553 62 24,314 63,660 35,346 62
393191 Security - Day / Management 9,401 o ERIU 29,911 L} gt
393200 Sacurlty Overtime o 563 563 100 o 81z 912 100
securdty Payroll Total 17,905 21,620 3715 17 58,224 64,572 10,347 16
Buylng
393050 Buyers and Assistants 16,375 17,125 750 4 49,037 51,485 2,449 s
353053 Buyers Branch Costs o [i] a 0 a o
393060 Buyers Bonus o 0 [} 1] 4] Q
Buying Payrall Tatal 16,375 17,125 750 4 49,037 51,485 2,443 5
Administretion
393240 Clerfeal Wages 20,342 49,925 29581 53 61,025 158,630 62
393256 8 Consultants 52,682 72,966 20,284 28 137,785 154,275 11
333270 Senlor danagement 27,188 15,980 =10 81,565 47,248 -0
393280 Directors a [} o o
Adminlstration Payroll Total| 100,252 138,871 18,653 28 280,375 360,845 22
Other Payroll Costs
193235 Flood Damage ICOW [ o 9 Q Q Q
393290 Pensioners Rl 180 261 145 171 360 188 52
393285 Holiday / Sick Pay o n o il 0 o
Non Sales Payrol Tatal B 180 161 145 171 380 138 b4
PAS! & Pension
393300 Employers PRSH 24,641 25,854 1,213 5 72446 77,187 4721 3
393305 PRSA i24 124 ) o in 37z o a
333310 Pansion 5,024 8377 4,353 46 24,779 22,779 3y -9
393315 Pension and Insurance 339 0 o 1,017 Q e
PRSI & Pansian Tatal; 30,138 35,355 5,227 15 48,614 io0,318 1,704 2
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OCS Operations Ltd

Profit & Loss Summary

Variance on Prior Year ;
Period Dates: 29 March 2015 to 2 May 2015 '

Code Descripkion Pericd Selected Varlence Year to Date Vatiance
This Year Friar Year Value % This Year Prior Year Value
Payroll Costs Total 346,668 410,212 63,544 15 1,005,855 1,069,148 53,293 [
| Tatal Operating Expenses)| 661,643 704,737 48,053 7 1,848,210 1,871,547 23,437 1|
i EBFTDA] -58,143 -118,947 48814 -4z | 154,255 -399,718 50527 15 |
393350 Pre-trading Expenses a a a 1} o ]
Property Title Rertification a a 0 a 0 o
352270 Redundancies ] 3] o 4} q 0
3592480 Gain on disposal of fixed assets o 1] o a a o
Legacy stock f creditars settiement o a [} a 0 o
Release of stock purchase pravision o o a 0 o o
Exceptional items Totai ] 0 Q 1] Q 0
| Adjusted EBITDA] 63,143 -116,987 48,844 | 459,255 399,728 59,527 1
302120 Depreciation Charged 18,089 7,881 <ials o -130 54,282 20,405 23,871 -166
3933831 Amortisation of concession goodwill 0 0 [’} [1] ] [
393392 Amortlsation of gift card goodwil 0 10,000 10,000 100 0 30,000 30,000 100
Depreclation and Amactisati 18,094 17,881 -3 -1 54,282 50,405 5477 -8
{ EBIT] -86,237 -134,868 48,632 -36 513,536 450,133 51,404 18 |
991511 Finance cost - interest 0 16,408 16,408 100 o 49,302 49,302 100
Finance cost - bank interest a a 0 0 o 0
391520 interast income a 3207 -¢5E7 100 [i] SATHS -0 75 100
FInanta Cost| 1] 13,901 13,501 100 1] 39,537 39,537 100
| EBT| 5,237 148,763 62,532 42 | 513,536 485,669 23867 -5 |
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0cs

Censolidated Profit & Loss Summary
Variance an Budget

¥eariao Date; 1 Febriary 2015 to 2 May 2015

Code  Cascipion Thiy Yaar Actusl Budget Variance on Budgel
oos oS ocs =1 oo oS o
[ =] Cansotidsth tonsalidail
Operstions  Praperde « Invesimant M{'T:m Group Operions | g I A;';:“ :{‘ Group Cpermioms Fropertdss  Investment M'fl‘:s'tm: Groug
4 ind Holdings Lid Holdtngs b L ud Holdings
Sales
sles Yotal 136231 0 u 0 Lmezt| | isaes a [ 0 iedz26s wa a o ata
cast of Sates
Costof Saled Total 1,237,620 a o o 1,237,620 1,289,514 a a o 1,188,571 o o o
Grgss Profit sarall ] o 598,611 £57,h04 [:] a Q 552,694 o o 1] hERS
Concessfon furnaver
Concesstor Turnever Total 4,438,452 a o o 4,435,452/ 4,655,598 o Q a 4,539,594 BTINEH a a
Fayments to Cancessions
Payments b Cancerslans Fota) 3,676,792 [ a a 3,679,791 3,M80,058 a a L] 3,888,055 08,266 9 o a 206,366
Contesslon ncome} 758,661 [ ) ] 758561 11,536 k) ] a Hl.ﬂ_ﬁj [ [ o LR
[ Other Trading Inceme T o [ 18,750] | 18,750 [l 0 18,750] [ [ [l [ o]
i Total Trading intame] ] © [ 1.375&1:! 1,482,980 0 0 o naszaan] | a a a
her Income:
Oiher Income Tatal 12,933 4,682 o 00 27,616 15,230 50,001 L] 15,250 FRIYS 14 681 o 1 11,365
Totsl Incomef 1,388,955 B4,6H1 [] 1,5 l.WI,E!II 1,456,130 50,001 o 1,498,230 r 14 683 ] 1
Crerhesds
Marketing Overhradid 180265 L o o 180,265 17,1252 a 1] bl 173,252 o o o
Sefling Cuerheads| T 7 a o AET KI5 o o o B2YY o L] u
Properdy & Services Dverhesds| 554,321 1,128 o hatil 505,447 565,502 4,958 o AL 520,500 3,873 a i
Persopnel Guarheads 802 o C o 21,882 22,251 o o o 12,351 a o o
Finentlil & Admin, Overhezds 93,382 13,288 1,745 o 133,515 5142 [:Bouil 1,501 o 86,250 ¢ 116 BET) e
Overhesds Total £42,355 35,514 1,745 AE 313,614 33504 10,993 1,501 S8 R 224,000 1R854 B3 ol 3
Payrall Cans
Salms Fayroli) 1] L o e o o a 179,778 10,484 o ¢ o 26,434
Thiret Perty Sajes Payroll 4] o o 15363 o o q 75369 7 g o o Bt
Sales Support Pmyroll a o a 13607 a o 151,607 3,184 a o o 3134
Sorurity Peyrol] b a 63,415 L] a o 64,425 10,200 a o 10391
Buying Paymoil Total| o C L] 43,502 (3 [ 1] 40,500 441 a o o 453
Admintstration Payrsl| Takal| a 0 L 173,150 L o 179,750 L a a o nre
Dther Payrs|l Costs Tolal [] o o o ] Q [] 7 ] o L] 17
PRSI & Pention Total [] o ] 98,614 105,859 ] [ 1 105,859 7258 a 2 a 7,155
T ayroll Costs Total) ) o L] 1,005,855 1,046,298 a L) ] 1,045,298 40,84 g L] o 40,443
r Tolal Dpemiing Elpzm:ll 1,848 210 19,514 1,745 i 19, 4558 1ATT 799 D939 1,501 )l 1210298 I 19,583 DA K] 4 L 10,829
[ EBMOA] 350,255 45,169 -L/4% o apen]{imter 39000 Ssm o <az0ed] [ 79,606 -4 [ i3]
393390 PG TG Expenies 0 9 [} o © v 3 ) ] a T
#ropery Ffe Rectiliction o i} [ a o o 0 ] o ) n
381270 Aedundanties L} (] u Ll o [ ] 0 3 a o
292480 Gain on dhpasal of fixed aisets o Q o] a o o Q v L] o a
Lagay steck f creditors tettfement [ a o o L] a 0 0 L o 1
Release of stock porchase prindsion L] & a [} a a .3 13 a a [}
Ez(egllum“hml ]‘nuit a o o a ) a a o o ] a o 9 a n
{ Adjusted EBHDA] 458,255 45,169 1,745 o -ns3a] s 39,002 L5 sl [ s 6,167 -234 [}
191120 Dapreciation Chaiged 54,782 205,641 o 133922 54,000 746,000 a 300,004 a 53 a "
183331 Amortlsallon of contessran grudedl n o L] L] o o ) o o a n
181381 Amioitkation of gift tard goodwil o ] ° a n o 4 o L} o o a
Depreda amd 54,282 ] 0 198,822 54,000 246,000 0 o 300,000 358 1] o T3
BT -4, 7 0 st ) [A3156s  sobumm - sEel o .ezong] {567 6,526 i o -]
131511 Tinante cost- interest o a EETH 12,941 o o 305,000 405000 o ¢ 1,053 4083
Finance cost- hank mieres) L o o v a o a o v o 1) a
191520 Injetestintamg o a Q o a o o o ) Q W
Finance Coy a o 102,547 o 202,547 o n 305,800 ] 305,000 1 ° 1,053 o 1053
{ EBT] 513516 udA72  ASH 0 1als, mi] [ azaEe 306,501 o swiper | [ ez 6,526 1,810 [
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0cs

Consolidated Profit & Loss Summary
Variance on Prior Year

Year to Date: 1 February 2015 to 2 May 2015

Coda Tesaiption This Yaar Actual Prlor Year Vatlancs on Priar Year
acs
up:ﬁam Propurties snvf::\.m Comolidatlon, o Dp:::um ow qm:’::‘-;-r Comolidadon up:ﬁm acs Inv:fnent Conolidutlon
d a Lid o ¥ ;
e ™ Moldings 1SRt d Praparties Nelgings  Mdlustment | Propertastid T Adjustment i
Sales . !
Sales Total] 1,835,231 [ o 2 18373 1,997,216 [} ¢ o 9anze|] -uomses o 2 [ 100,264 |
|
Costof Sates |
Costof Sales fotsf 1,237,620 o @ 0 ;s 1,208,930 o ] o nueswbf 700 ] [} ] RERD !
|
!
Groti Prafit 598,611 [ [ [ 530,611 728,206 [} ] [ 728,235 123831 4 [ IR LE !
|
Cancession Turaower |
Coneasslan Turnaver Total 4,430,452 ) e o 4438452 4,153,755 a o 0 4153755 284,597 [} a ] 84,697 |
Payments to Conceslens
Paymianis to Concaszlons Totall 3,573,792 [] a 8 AT 1,43,591 0 o 0 3441531 [ 0 u 2118751
Concession Incomel. 759,661 [ [ a 758,861 12,225 [ [ ] M1,25 45,436 ] a a
Gther Trading fncoma ) 18,750 0 o 18,7507 [ 24,000 [ [ u.nm!] [ =430 ] o o
T Total Trading Incame] 3,276,022 [ [ [ 1,375‘uu| § Trasd 50 d D o Laedsa0] 3,1 o o
Gther Income
Othar incoms Toka 12,933 69,682 ] L5200 27,616 7,383 26,729 o o 34,138 5,534 a7,am 3
C Yol Income] 1,348,855 64,682 o SEE 1a03e38] { 1475819 FIRET) a [ L9858 [ areme 37,943 [] Ll dun 2ae02t]
Ouerheads
Marketing Ouerheady 180,266 ] ] [ 180,788 166,532 o L] o 166,532 L] [ [} 13,75
-, Selfing Ovaiheads PR o -} [ 797 20,601 L} o [ 30,601 o D o 38,098
Froperty & Services Overheads 554,321 1,126 o -50.440 505,447 516,430 2137 ° o 513,568 1612 u 50,000 14,120
Personnal Overhoads 1,862 o o o 108 Pk a o aan L] 0 o 1,495
Flnanefal & Adml. Overheads 53,382 15,388 1,745 ] 113,515 65,158 418 1365 [ 55,917 39,588 BN -39 [ ke
varheads Tolal 542,355 19,514 1745 -0,800 B13,614 517,439 2332 i35 o BES, 995 - 19.ERE S12.28% 410 500,000 21,413
Fayrall Costs
Sales Payral 299,284 o ¢ o 259,204 411,748 [ L] a 31748 52,464 a [ [ 52,454
Third Farty Sabes Payrof 75716 [ L] [] 576 67,205 o ] [} 61,208 4,531 3 o [} “5,88
Sales Suppart Payral) 188,413 o [ [ 188413 112,615 0 L] [ 112615 “F3798 ] [ ° REREE :
Secirty Payrol 54,224 0 [ [ 54,224 64,572 0 ] e 4,572 10,347 L] [ v 10,347 ;
Buylng Fayssll Tata 44,037 o q o 43,037 51435 2 o o 51,485 2,44% 0 o o 2,449
Adinistratian Payrelt Tota 180,375 o s o 200375 360,845 a a [ 160,045 40,463 ] ] o 30,459
Other Pagrall Corts Tor m e a [ 71 60 ] ] [ 360 188 [ 0 9 108
PRSI & Fension Total 96,614 o a a 28,614 jo0,318 a o L} 100,318 1704 o a a 1,74
Fayrcli Costy Tofal 1,005 B5S 1] [ 1,005,855 1,063,148 L '] 2 1,069,144 59,793 ] L] o 53,293
{ Tolal Oparaling Expensed 1,849,210 19,514 1745 Thme  imioAes] [ 1a7ied 1,731 PREEXTE | T 17 28 50,000 55,675 :
[ £BITDAf 450,255 45168 1,748 6 Aisen ][ sz 24,507 1,265 o -ayeqss] [ G527 20,661 20 [ 34, 36|
333390 Pretrading Expenses o u o o [l [ ] 0 ¢ q 0 0
Property Title Rectiflcatian 0 [ 0 0 o 10,424 o 140,424 0 190,424 ] 0424
102770 Redundancles L] 0 ] o [ ] 0 0 ¢ ] o
302480 Galn on disposal of fiead assets ] ] ° [ ] ] [ [ 0 ] 0 o
Legaty stock / cruditoss setilement o o [ o ) 0 1] o o o o o
Aelezse o stock purchase provision g 0 0 [ 0 o 0 ] a o [ n
Exceptional tiems Tota L] ¢ ¢ L] [} 190,424 L] [} 190,424 L] 190424 a o 190,424
[ Adjusted EBITOA  4STA58 45169 I n -aigeni] [ 3072 17 1,265 211,086 a5 o 151,079]
331120 Depiecation Charged 52,382 ZA5.64% ] ¥55,912] 0,405 182,752 [ 218157 TEY =D 7 w1
193381 Amartisation of tuncession gendwil ] 0 0 n ] 9 L] [} o 0 o v
193392 Amoitlation of gitt card gandwli ] 0 ] [ 10,000 ] 0 10,000 3,000 ] 0
Dupreciation and Amortisation 54,282 24584} [ 9 298,972 59,405 183,752 [ a 240,257 A ETY aaxd [} ]
BB 411,536 290,472 4,398 0 735.754) [ 450,133  wnsEes LS o 40700 [ 63304 155,196 A3 0 91,313
I511 Tinante rost- biterest ] o 302,347 EFET 45,302 162,711 501 955,514 49,308 2,711 A0 5SS TSLEE
inance cost bankinterest [} o n L] o u ] L] [ 0 o a
391520 lotesest Income u [ o 0 4 a ERFE g, a .
Finance Cos] a ] IT7 ] 02,047 39,537 152711 141,254 o 43,502 39,537 SBZIL 151,852 ] 40,555
[ £B7] 200,672 GWbbusi ] [ -igagsa otesER  idi3iE [N EE] I 317,807 o 131.868]

37

Paga 12of 27



T o) ebed

8
(X1l 0] 00 00 00 o0 1] o0 00 00 ) 00 0°C NRL
oo o0 () oo oo o0 oo 0a 00 00 0a 00 oG Pl PRIy
lez88'T) @ I5°9%1) & O'RIL & {2622l 3 g zve) @ (zzee) @ ig'108l 3 (6'LR1l 3 l0'672) 3 Igeeel 3 lp-ovel 3 l£rzee) & e 89t @ fE:icd
0 aTe T [FAS 0'to 06 FFAR! 06 0+ [ 0'F6 [R5 oLl [ 0'to fawoou(} / 1800) ISAIN]
(gzwe'tl 3 {6"62}1 & 9 TIL B [g'os1) & lerevtl @ (2852 @ 5" LoT} 3 (s'0l) @ lo'se1l @ e 6e8) 3 6z B {Lgezl 2 e vLz) 3 LIgE
0H0F L 00l 000t ooeT 0001 000l 0001 0001 0’001 0’00t 00t 00Nt o'ont HonEZRIOTY PUT UOHRINITLA])
g gst) 3 TPL @ 9°TIE B ls'ssl @ leg%) & i2ze1) 3 (8"L0711 @ 1'62 3 (ocel o Gk [°62) @ [L8e1) @ (e bL1) 3 v LIgE peysulpy
uorstaoad aseiamd saIs |0 AR
00 a0 00 00 [19] 00 o o0 0 0 00 o0 a0 resadsip 1388 U0 UTRD
o oo o0 00 o0 00 ao 0o 00 oo 0o oo 0o adtasar Ayuwispt (231 108
0’0 00 oo oo 00 00 o0 00 o0 1] 00 00 00 msen [eda - ueneandaL AN Auadoid
IRECE TrL 3 EEiER ~e~eals [EER I Traexla BT 6.9 [o'ssl . IR E] 67 3 (L esti 3 EEE vaimg
20 R 14,1750 EYA 2T 98 21706 20 TTT a5t 901 T LL o9 R 24T 66 o456 tR 9801 BT 9T SajUG N 10
DGIEL +AE9 0189 ®aTL +°989 2°06% o°185 OHEY 7968 S019 oY +'909 €068 sasmodie Funeiedo
T +TRE 9'€9¢ s 1°60¢ £ete +6+E 6'£9E +15€ sy L'FSE TOtE £°CtE juoadeg
OEET'E 0'89T B LET 208 £'16T b'SbT T°ZET 1092 BPPT T']YT 2°68T T 65T 1334 SpEafIaAC [EI10L
0'SHE 2°TE L'9% L9 8TE L9T £'9T A L'9% 9T BTE L79% 79T SPRAUIIAD MIIPY /IIURTIY
0’68 LL €L €L LL L €L LL L L Ll L £L SPRIUIAAG [ALL0SIA]
o991 911 6°901 &+01 9011 6'00T 6001 990t 6001 6001 901l 601 6°+01 spRayIaA0 santuag puw baadolg
ooog 59L 513 519 69L 19 g 19 6'9Z 519 519 5OL 19 €19 §317
008L FAC S 9t8 o7Ll Leg 178 6°LE LoF 118 1°L8 e 2] 119 6Lt speatprane Fuparey
ot wa) 0 fooql ozl (1¢d Fard] g+ la-e} Ig-cl legl St lee) spmagiaae JUG
EPEIYIFAD
019 6'S L¥ FAd &9 Ly L'y 655 Lv Ly 4 L'y A S POV IFTRG TEIOL
o) oo 0o 00 [0 00 00 00 00 00 00 o0 o0 amzaduy [Py
0T [ BT BT TE a1 BT €T g1 a1 T g1 g1 1IMOISIP TUAHANIAE
0'Bt Le 6% 6T Le [ 6T e 5T 6T e 6T 57 0ol ATpUng
00 oo o0 0'0 00 oo 00 0 00 00 00 o0 o0 yopd nIat] SEANSOH
L°866'9 L'STL &'8S6 =3 A |33=rA} F A T°69% [ e 995s 99y £°609 TZoF 204 £7 smozny Furper], €300
S OTH'EE 0LTL'S 9'9bL'Y 3268'T vLOST ' T10C x4 tad sEsT'E 6'CPL'T f AL A o9°808°T LILT'T +0LE'Y IBACTIN], SI01E $S0ID
0'sL L i3] 31 z°L 'S 2'e L g 89 L -3 ?G amoouy AwpeL] 130
o LYE'E E'85P JALT ] £'8EE +'SEE 8'96T £'L9T 1°LLE +YEE YT 1°9Z¢ +'EST 0'ZET STICOTE WOISFIDTO])
SR TT B'OHE'T 9TH0'e 6'GLR'T +9T6'T £09€'T 6'ETST £+97'e SEE6'T +OTH'T 008’1 JA FEEE'T 53[PG FSOI0 UOISSaIlND)
o TEE 25k 5T %5767 268 +E %8 8E %S RE fpE'SE %G CE 247 TE *%172€ 2%t '9t “%E'SE 2T +E wFreR 0y
TELE'T 108T 500 o'S8Z L'T8T 0T 0961 6°T9T +91T 6'%1Z 0'9LT 6'T0T 9 ELT NJoid SEOID
£606'S aTs +LR6 19t5 T okt £'LTE Lnee Tors £'ost 6°66€ et T 1LE SHEE =a[Eg o 1807
S TGS £'0LE FEBE'L 9'1E8 FBIL 1'7ES L'9bS 1'608 LTLS 8519 7684 E'¥LS 0809 saeg 19N
TEES'0T Z'oRT'T 6 COLT LTOEO°T 0168 &'059 499 T°686 ¥ oz8 GESL 1°8T6 0'T0L 1129 sofeg FEOTD
——
. BT0Z/I0/0E 9i0z/10/08 STOT/TY/9T STOL/TT/BT ST0G/0T/1E 10T/ 69/9T StOz/80/6T STOZ/80/T0 ST0Z/90/LT a10z/ S0/ 0E S10T/S0/T0 ST0Z/E0/BT ET10%/20/8C
7 popy _ SIDT/TT/LT S10z/T1/6T STOZ/TT/TO STOL/60/LT S10T/80/08 9T0Z/80/20 STI0Z/90/8C ST0Z/50/TE STOT/S0/E0 cT0e/e0/ 6T 910Z/80/T0 a102/T0/T0
i Seopad ET | TT porad 1T PoHsd OT porod & porad # posag £ porrad 9 poHad g ponad & PO £ ponad Z pousd ¥ powad

IMIOYLO SSATIN EPURSTOY] U 5

pPUIOY 35




| Lz bl efisd
GE

{e-zgg'vl @ {esv1ia 9°BIT @ [s'6LT @ ferzvel @ (z'Tee) 3 {e'Toel @ [67281] @ o6z 3 [seeet @ otz 3 lz-zegl 3 le"gae) & e 1a3ye (ssoq} / Jgorg




OCS Operations Lid

Balance Sheet

As at 2nd May 2015

Qcs Operatlons

Ltd
Coda Description
Fiked Assets
Tangible Fixed Asseis
Fixtures and Fittings 1,198,418

An Post Voucher Control

Gift Card Redempticn Control
Bunus Bends Control

Golf Vouchar Contral
Concession Vouchers Cantrol
Concessions - other deductions
Recelver control account

Depreciatlon Fixtures and Fittings SR
IT Equipment 321,459
Depreciztion IT Equlpment 50,2
Tang/ble Flxed Assets Tatal 1,205,491
Intangible Flxed Assets
Goodwill 1
Recards 1
Intellactual Property 50,000
Concesslan Goodwlll -0
Gift Card Goodwill o
ntangible Fixed Assets Total 50,002
Fixed Assets Total 1,255,493
Bank
Bank Current Accounts
Bank of irelang Current Account 692,734
Bank of lreland Sterling Acrount 7727
Bank Current Accounts Tota| 700461
Cash Floats & Balances
Petty Cash 370
Till Floats 80,751
Cash Floals Tatal B1A21
Bank Total 781,581
Dehtors
Till Takings Contral
Debtors Contral
Credlt Sales Control
Lredit { Bebit Card Contro}
Debtors receipts control
Cash advance to concession
Intereompany Debtor - Prop Co
Debtars Total
stocks
Stock 1,940,049
Stachs Total 1,940,049
Current tiabilitles
Trade Creditars
Trade Creditars Totall 1,683,821
Taxation
VAT Control Account 238,480
Corporatlon Tax 37
Taxztlon Totall 238,517
'Wages Deductions Accounts
Net Wages Control 1
PAYE 30,753
PRSI 32,646
PRSA. 280
Union Contributions pAISS)
VHI PR i)
AVC f E'2 pension contribution 140
TSB Savings Scheme [i]
HSF 12
Wages Deductlans Accounts Total 57,955
Sundry Creditors
Gift Card 5ales Cantrol

insurance Clalm Reserve ]
Carphone Warehouse Creditor 16,293
Concessions wages account [}
Customer Depaosits 138,193
Accruals and Prepayments 886,279
RD Cheques =27
Sundry Creditors Tatal 1,213,609

Intercompany Loan - Hold Co 4,595,957
intercompany Loan - Prap Co o
Intercompany Crediters Total 4,585,957

Currant Liabilities Total 7,789,853

929,210

1N Net Assats 1,157,138 ]
Sharehaiders Funds
Share Capltal
Profit and loss brought forward
Profit and loss year to date
shareholdets' Funds
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OCS INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
25-28 North Wall Quay
Dublin 1
Ireland

Private and Confidential 12 June 2015

By Hand

To: The Board of Directors of OCS Cperations Limited

Dear Sirs,

As you are aware, Natrium Limited has acquired all of the shares of OCS Investment Holdings
Limited. OCS Investment Holdings Limited have also transferred the shares of OCS Operations
Limited to Jim Brydie.

We have provided monies to OCS Operatibns Limited for a number of years by virtue of loan

advances. ‘The balance of these loans which we had advanced to you at 2 May was €4,595,957.

Please note that we shall not be providing any further monies to OCS Operations Limited.

Yours faithfully .

ZEN

Registered Office: 25-28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1
Company Number: 516491
Directors: Ronan Daly, John Skelly and Deirdre Foley






THE HIGH COURT

Record No. 2015 No. Ccos

IN THE MATTER OF OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
AND

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2014

N

Exhibit "JB3" referred to in the Affidavit of Jim Brydie dated )2 June 2015

&%ﬁc&\

DEPO
\

(J: (‘(\v%--&,} ([: RS

COMMISSIONER-FOR-OATHS /
PRACTISING SOLICITOR

M-25756765-6 21




OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
25 ~ 28 Naorth Wall Quay, Dublin 1

By Hand
Private & Confidential

To: The Board of Directors of
OCS Properties Limited
25 — 28 North Wall Quay
Publin 2

12 June 2015

Dear Sirs,

We are the current directors of OCS Operations Limited {the Company) and we were appointed to the said
board at a meeting of the board of directors held teday at 1:15 pm. Malcolm MacLennan Macaulay and Rafael
Klotz resigned as directors of the Company at the same board meeting.

We note that Natrium Limited has acquired the shares in OCS Investment Holdings Limited (OIHL), the holding
company of OCS Properties Limited (OPL). As you are aware, OPL. granted the Company a lease of the
property known as Clery's Department Store and Warehouse and located at O'Conneli Street, Dublin 1 (the
Property) by way of Short Term Lefting Agreement dated 3 October 2012 (the Lease). The Lease was
subsequently varied by Deed of Variation dated 29 January 2013 wherein the term of the Lease was extended
so that it was due to expire on 16 March 2015,

The Lease has now explred and the Company has remained on in occupation of the Property with the
knowledge and consent of OPL. It is clearly in both the Company's and OPL's interest that the Company's
occupation of the Property is reflected in a formal lease governing its terms. Accordingly, please confirm by
return if OPL is willing to grant a further formal lease to the Company of the Property and for what terms.

It is imperative that we, as directors, ascertain quickly the rights and entitlement of the Company to occupy the
Property and to regularise same as a matter of urgency. Accordingly please confirm OPL's position with regard
to a proposed new lease as a matter of urgency.

We await hearing from you as a matter of urgency.

Yours faithfully

o~

e Jith Brydié\)

Brendan Cooney

QCS Operations Limited is a private company limited by shares. Registered in ireland No. 516503.
Registered office: 25 — 28 North Walt Quay, Dublin 1.
The directors of the company: Jim Brydie (British) and Brendan Cooney

M-25817631-23 1




OCS PROPERTIES LIMITED
25-28 North Wall Quay
Dublin 1
ireland

By Hand 12 June 2015

Private & Confidential

The Board and Directors of OCS Operations Limited

Dear Sirs,

We have received your letter of today's date requesting confirmation by return as to whether we are
willing to grant you a further lease of the property known as Clery's Department Store and Warehouse
{the Property) currently occupied by you under an expired letting agreement. We are writing to inform
you that we are not prepared to grant you any further lease or letling agreement of the Propei‘ry and
await hearing from you regarding your plans to Vacate A formal Notlce to Quit will be served in due
course, if necessary. :

Yours faithfully

or and on behalf of
0OCS Properties Limited

Registared Office: 25-28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1
Company Number: 516502
Directors: Ronan Daly, Jahn Skelly and Deirdre Foley
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WRITTEN RESOLUTION OF THE SOLE MEMBER
of
OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED

{the Company)

, the undersigned, being the sole member of the Company for the time being entitled to attend and vote at
General Meetings of the Company, having noted the unanimous recommendation of the directors of the Company
that in view of its insolvency the Company should be wound up by the court and that an application for the
appointment of a provisional liquidator should be made and having considered the said recommendation and the
financial position of the Company

HEREBY RESOLVE in accordance with Section 193 of the Companies Act, 2014:

1. That in view of its insolvency that the Company should be wound up by the Honourable Court; and

2, That the directors of the Company be authorised to take all steps necessary in that regard including the
making of an application for the appaintment of joint provisional liquidators.

Dated: Lf)TH June 2015

M-26798241-1 1






THE HIGH COURT

Record No. 2015 No. cos

IN THE MATTER OF OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
AND

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2014

Exhibit "JB11" referred to in the Affidavit of Jim Brydie dated /2 ‘ June 2015

A3

(_}r’tl\u_,&____ (LL (s
COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS.{
PRACTISING SOLICITOR

M-257E6765-6 23



The High Court
Four Courls
inns Quay
Dublin 7

12 fupe 2015

Dear Sirs

QS Cperations Limited

‘We, Eamonn Richardson and Kieran Wallace, Chartered Accousdants of iKPMU, Stokes Place, Si. Stephen’s
Green, Dublin 2 hereby consent lo act as Joint Provisional Liquidators and/ or Joinmt Official Liguidators of

OCS Cperations Limited, if so appointed by the High Court.

T trust the above is in order.

Yours faithfully

Eamonn Richardson Kieran Wallace
Partner Partner
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THE HIGH COURT

Record No. 2015 No. cos

IN THE MATTER OF OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED
AND

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2014

AFFIDAVIT OF SUITABILITY

I, WILLIAM GREENSMYTH of Walkers Ireland, The Anchorage, 17-19 Sir John
Regersons Quay, Dublin 2, solicitor aged eighteen years and upwards MAKE OATH
and SAY as follows:-

1. | am an associate solicitor in the firm of Walkers lreland, Solicitors.

2. | have for some years past known and am well acquainted with Eamonn -

Richardson and Kieran Wallace both of KPMG, Siokes Place, St Stephens
Green, Dublin 2 the persons proposed to be appointed as Provisional
Liquidators and Official Liquidators of OCS Operations Limited (the

Company) in the event of this Honourable Court granting its application.

3. The said Eamonn Richardson and Kieran Wallace are both partners in the
firm of KPMG, Stokes Place, St Stephens Green, Dublin 2 and | say and

believe that within the said firm they both specialise in insolvency matters.

4. | have had dealings with Eamonn Richardson and Kieran Wallace over a
period of fime and from observation of their integrity and experience in the
field of insolvency, | am of the opinion that they are both eminently suitable
people for appointment by this Honourable Court as Provisional Liquidators
and Official Liquidators of the Company in the event of the petitioner's

application being granted.

4, I make this affidavit from facts within my own knowledge save where

otherwise appears and where so appearing | believe the same to be true.

M-25844603-1 1



SWORN by WILLIAM GREENSMYTH
this |A™day of June 2015
at S8 Jodw (06ELSONS BUAY
DWBLIN L
in the City of Dublin before me a
smmissioneEr——for——0aths/Practising
Solicitor, and | know the Deponent

el ol

Practising Solicitor

This Affidavit is filed on behalf of the Petitioner by A&L Goodbody Solicitors

Filed the

M-25844603-1

day of June 2015
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A&L Goodbody
Solicitors
International Financial Services Centre
North Wall Quay
Dublin 1

WM-25844603-1
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

OCS OPERATIONS LIMITED (the Company)

Proposed powers of a Provisional Liquidator

Power to take possession and control of all assets of the Company.

Power to adjudicate on retention of title claims and if appropriate, to facilitate the return of stock to
retention of title creditors.

Power o trade and carry on the business of the Company in whatever premises he deems necessary
and to the extent necessary to ensure an orderfy wind up.

Power to dispose of the assets, including leasehold interests.
Power to retain a valuer, on behalf of the Company.
Power to operate the Company's existing bank accounts.

Power to open a bank account in the name of the provisional liquidator andfor in the Company's own
name.

Power fo retain and pay employees of the Company to the extent necessary for any business being
carried on and / or to ensure the orderly winding up of the Company.

Power to dismiss employees.
Power to retain and pay security staff as required.

Power to insure the assets of the Company and to take out all insurances necessary in connection with
the business of the Company.

Power to retain the services of solicitors, counsel and other professional advisors on behalf of the
Company where necessary.

Power to take up and inspect the baoks and records of the Company.
Power to surrender the Company's leasehold interests, where necessary.
Power to investigate the affairs of the Company.

Power to make any payments to creditors which are necessary in order fo facilitate trade during the
Provisional Liquidation period.

Liberty to apply.

M-25757613-3 1



